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This action is instituted to appoint Sharon P. Clark, Commissioner of Insurance for the
Commonwealth of Kentucky, as Rehabilitator of Kentucky School Boards Insurance— Trust
Workers’ Compensation Fund; to obtain appropriate relief to protect policyholders, dependent
injured workers, and the public; to approve an Assessment Plan; and, to approve the transfer of
certain assets and liabilities of Kentucl.cy School Boards Tnsurance Trust Workers’ Compensation _

Fund to Kentucky Employers Mutual Insurance.




JURISDICTION, PARTIES, AND STATUTORY AUTHORITY

1. This Court has exclusive jurisdiction over this matter pursuant o KRS 304.33-
040(3) and KRS 304.33-030(13).

2. The Commissioner states that she is the duly appointed and qualified
Commissioner of Insurance of the Ca’mmonwealth of Kentucky.

3. Kentucky Schodl Boards Insurance Trust (“KSBIT”) was c?eated in 1978 to
provide coverage through nonprofit self-insurance funds authorized under Kentucky law. These
self-insurance funds allowed school districts to combine their resources while sharing the risk.
There are two separate self-insurance funds within KSBIT, both of V\.rhich are in a deficit
position. The two self-insurance funds ate the Workers’ Compensation Fund and the Property
and Liability Pool. This action relates to the KSBIT Workers® Compensation Fund.

4, | KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund is a workers’ compensation self~insurcd
group authouzed by KRS 342.350 and KRS 304.50-010 and defined in KRS 304.50-015.

5, _ Pulsuant to KRS 342.803, Kentucky Employers’ Mutual Insurance Authonty
(“KEMI”) is a nonprofit, independent, self-supporting de jure municipal corporation and
political subdivision of the Commonwealth, KEMI was created plu‘sﬁ;ant to KRS 342.803 to
insure employers in the Commonwealth for workers’ compensation. KEMI operates as a mutyal
insurance company owned by its policyholders andl is the largest provider of workers’
compensation insurance in’ Kentt;cl;y. KEMI has demonsirated sufficient financial capacity to
accept the transfer of certain assets and liabilities of KSBIT W01kels Compensation Fund as

described heleln

6. Pursuant to KRS 342.813(4), KEMI may reinsure any risk or part of any risk.




7. Pursuant to KRS 304.50-i35_(6), the Commissioner has the authority to approve
bulk reinsurance or any other transfer of business if she determines it to be in the best interests of

 the KSBIT Workers® Compensation Fund’s members and their employees, |

8. KEMI is an indispensable party to this agtion because, as set forth herein,
complete relief cannot be granted without it.

9. Kentucky T.eague of Cities Insurance Services Association (“KLC”) is an
unincorporated association crea‘fed- by Interlocal Agreement dated 1987. KILC is an
indispensabie party to this action because there is an actual and Justiciable controversy between it
and the Petitioner and, as set forth herein, complete relief cannot be granted without it.

| 10, Pursuant to KRS 304.50-010, et seq., thé Commissioner and the Kentucky
Department of Insurance have regulatbry authority over workers’ compensation self-insured
groups such as KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund.

11, Pursuant to KRS 304.33-140 and KRS 304.50-135, the Commissioner may apply
by verified petition to the Coul"t for an order directing the Commissioner to rehabilitate a
domestic insurer domiciléd in the Commonwealth when the Commissioner has reasonable cause
to believe that the insurer is insolven‘p or that assefs are endangered in an amount threateniné the
solvency of the insurer, and where the insurer is in such condition that tfle further transaction of
business would be hazardous, financially or otherWise, to its policyholders, its creditors, or the

_ pubiic. KSBIT Workers’ Compensation. Fund is deemed an “insurer” pursuant to KRS 304.33-
030(4) and KRS 304.33-020(11). -

12. For the reasons set forth herein, the Commissioner respectfully submits that the
entry of an Order of Rehabilitation against KSBIT Workers® Combcnsation Fund is both justified

and necessary.




BACKGROUND

“13. | KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund has been operating for several yéaré in a
deficit position,

4. Restating KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s audited financial statements
using a “hindsight approach” demonstrates that KSBIT Workers’ Con-lpensation Fu.nd entered
into a deficit position, from which it never emerged, as of July 1, 1997,

I5;  The Kentucky League of Cities, Inc. (“KLC, Inc.”) began administering the
KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund on Januvary 1, 2010, which resulted in the transfer of
responsibility for claims handling and loss control adminiétration to KL.C.

16.  Pursuant to KRS 304.24-300, KLC loaned $5,500,000 in the form of a “Kentucky
Surplus Note’; to address the estimated deficit of KSBIT Workers’ Compensatibn Fund, -The
Kentucky Surplus Note did not eliminate the deficit. The Kentucky Surplus Note simply
addressed the deficit from a regulatory perspective,

17.  Despite KLC, Inc.’§ assistance, KSBIT Workers® Compensation Fund’s financial
condition did not improve.

18.  According to the Independent Audit Report for years ended June 30, 2013 and
2012, prepared by Dean Dorton Allen Ford, PLLC, KSBIT Workers’ Compeﬁsation Fund had a
total net deficit of $37,089,129. KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s Statement of Net
Deficit for those years as prepared by its independent auditor is attached as Exhibit A.

19. KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund has taken a number of steps to address the
fund’s deficit. In addition to KL.C, Inc.’s assistance, the fund cut operating costs, attempted to
rebuild market share, shifted to a managed care model to reduce medical costs, and increased
premium rates. However, the fund’s deficits coﬁtinued to grow, KSBIT Workers’

Compensation Fund ceased accepting new or renewal business as of June 30, 2013.




-

20.  In sum, despite years of work to eliminate KSBIT Workers’ Compensation

Fund’s deficit, the deficit has significantly increased.

ORDER OF REHABILITATION

21. Based upon all information available, the Commissioner has concluded that
KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s deficit is a severe threat to the solvency of the fund; that
KSBIT Workers’ Cbmpensation Fund is in such condition that the further transactioﬁ of business
would be hazardous, financially or otherwise, to its policyholders, dependent i.njured workers,
and to the public; and, that the fund is in a hazardous financial condition,

22.  Accordingly, and pursuant to KRS 304.33-150, the Commissioner requests that
she and her successors be appointed as the Rehabilitator of KSBIT Workers® Compensation
Fund. |

23, The Commissioner furtheL requests that she be bestowed with all authonty and
powers of a Rehabilitator as provided by KRS 304. 33, including, but not limited to, confirmation

.that the Rehabilitator:
(@)  has all the powers of the directors, officers, and managers of KSBIT.
Workers’ Compensation Fund, whose authority shall be suspended, except as they are re-

delegated by the Rehabilitator;

(b)  may direct, manage, hire and discharge employees subject to any contract

rights they may have;

(¢)  may deal with the property and business of the insurer;




(d)  has the exclusive authority to prosecute any action that exists on behalf of
members or bolicyholders of KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund against any director or

officer of KSBIT Workers” Compensation Fund or any other person or entity;

()  shall take possession of the assets of KSBIT Workers’ Compensation

Fund as soon as possible and to administer them under the general supervision of this Court;

() - may prepare a plan for the reorganization, consolidation, conversion,

reinsurance, merger, or other transformation of KSBIT Workers” Compensation Fund;

(g)  is avthorized to employ and fix the compensation of any special deputy

rehabilitators, counsel, clerks, and assistants, all of whom shall serve at the pleasure of the

Rehabilitator;

(k) may pay all expenses of taking possession of KSBIT Workers’

. Compensation Fund and other costs and expenses of the administration of this proceeding; and,

(i) may pay such compensation and other costs and expenses of

administration out of the funds Jor assets of KSBIT Workers” Compensation Fund. -

24, . Pursuant tc; her powers as Rechabilitator, the Commissioner requests and -
nominates as Special Deputy Rehabilitator, Joseph N, Pope, Jr.

25.  Pursuant to KRS 304.33-160, the Rehabilitator is authorized and directed to take

such action respecting pending litigationras she considers necessary in the interests of justice and

“for the %protection of policyholders and the public, and to consider all litigation pending outside

Kentucky and to petition the courts having jurisdiction over that litigation for stays whenever

necessary to protect KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund.




26.  Pursuant to KRS 304.33-170, all cowmts in Kentucky before which any action or
proceeding in which KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund is a party or is obligated to defend a
party is pendihg shall immediately stay that action for such tiime as is necessary for the
Rehabilitator to obtain proper representation and prepare for further proceedings.

LOSS PORTFOLIO TRANSFIR

27.  The Commissioner has determined it to be in the best interests of KSBIT’s
policyholders, dependent injured worker claimants, .and the public to identify a financially sound
and capable insurer to whom certain of KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s assets and
liabilities could be transferred. KRS 304.50-135(6). |

28.  KEMI is- the largest provider of workers’ compensaltion insurance in Kentucky,
and is an insurer to many former members of KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund for their
workers’ compensation coverage.

29, KEMI has agreed to enter into a loss portfolio transaction with the Rehabilitator,
subject to certain terms and conditions. A Loss Portfolio Transfer Agreement (“LPT
Agreement”) is attached as Exhibit B.

30, A Iﬁss portfolio transfer is a transaction pursuant to which loss oingationsl are
ceded to a reinsurer in return for a payment from and/or a transfer of assets of the ceding entity.

31, The LPT Agreement with KEMI was prepared in accordance with KRS 304.33-
160(5), which authorizes plans for rcorganization, conversion, consolidation, reinsurance,
merger, or other transformation of an insurer. -

32. QHaving conducted independent dﬁe diligence of the financial strengtfl of KEMI,
the Department of Insurance and the Commissioner have determined that the LPT Agreement
with KEMI is .the Best option for the protection of KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s

policyholders and dependent injured worker.




33, The Commissioner represents that KEMI heis demonstrated through négotiations
with the Department of Insurance its ability to address the difficult financial condition of KSBIT
Workers’ Compensation Fund.

34. The LPT Agreement with KEMI allows for a comprehensive and integrated plan
of rehabilitation for KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund. Add1tionally, the LPT Agreement
provides full coverage of claims for KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s pohcyholdels

35. Under the LPT Agreement, the Commissioner, as Rehabilitator, will transfer to

| KEMI, inter alia:
(&) all binders, contracts, cértiﬁcates, and other obligations of workers’
compensation coverage issued by KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund to its members prior to
June 30, 2.013, together with the liability to pay all losses covered by the contracts of coverage to

all KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund members;

(b)  all rights, tifle; and interests of KSBIT and KSBIT Workers’
Compensation Fund in all excess insurance policies and policies of reinsurance related to the

KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund; and, -

(c) all accounting, actuarial and financial records, contract records, litigation
files, claim files, correspondence, books, documents and information of KSBIT and KSBIT
Workers® Compensation Fund related to confracts of coverage, transferred claims, and excess

insurance policies.

36.  In consideration for KEMI’s acceptance of the contracts of coverage and the-
attendant liabilities, and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the LPT Agreement, the

Rehabilitator will pay or transfer to KEMI the amount of $35,000,000 (the “T'ransfer Payment”).




37. Pursuant to KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s Self-Insurance Agreement
with ifs members, and pursuant to KRS 304.50-055, the Rehai)ilitator will assess KSBIT
Workers” Compensation Fund members, in a manner that is fair and equitable and as approved
by the Court, an aggregate amount necessaty to pay the Transfer Payment t6 KEMI and such
other liabilities and obligations of KSBIT Workers® Compensation Fund as the Rehabilitator
deems appropriate.

38.  To secure the payment of the Transfer Payment, the R.ehabilitator, Kentucky
Department of Education, and Kentucky Finance and Administration Cabinet would agi'ee toa
mmﬁorandum of understaﬁding r_especting the inter;:ept of state funds io‘pay the assessments
owed by any individual school board, all as discussed below, and the Rehabilitator would grant
KEMI a first and prior security interest in lien in its assessments receivable, certain installment
payment agreements to be entered by individual school boards not paying their assessment in full .
and the accounts into which the collécted assessments are deposited

39.  KEMI understands the financial pressures placed upon KSBIT Workers”
Compensation Fund | members and is working diligently with the Cqmmissioner and the
Department of Iqsurance to assist those members and the Commonwealth. Therefore, the
amount to be paid or transferred to KEMI for ifs accgptance of KSBIT Workers” Compensation
Fund’s liabilitics and. obligations is to cover the believed value of those liabilities and
obligations. | In othe;r words, the proposed assessment does not include a staied or intended profit

to KEMI.
ASSESSMENT PLAN

40.  The Rehabilitator must assess KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund members to
remedy the fund’s deficit and to fund the LPT Agreement with KEMI. A copy of the assessment

plan is attached hereto as Exhibit C.




41.  The Rehabilitator intends to assess KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund

members as follows:
(@)  Pursuant to KRS 304.50-015(11) and (12), a self-insured grbup deficit is

defined to exist when “assets are insufficient fo enable the group to discharge its legal liabilities.”

(b) ‘ Restating KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s audited financial
statements using a “hindsight approach” demonstrates that KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund

entered into a deficit position, from which it never emerged, as of July 1, 1997,

(¢)  Accordingly, only those members of KSBIT Workers’ Compensation

Fund from January 1, 1997 to June 30, 2013 are subject to the assessment.

42. | Pursuant to the Rehabilitator’s assessment plan, each assessed member may elect

to pay ifs individual assessment in one of the following manners: [
(a) A member may clect to pay its individual assessment in full within thirty
(30) days of levying the individual assessment. Pursuant to KRS 304.50-055(9), a member may

finance the payment of the assessment by issuing bonds, notes, or other obligations. Or,

(b) A member may elect to pay its individual assessment by payment of 25%
of the amount of such assessment by a date certain and the balance in equal annual installments
due on July 30 of each year over a period of two to six years, as the Member may elect, and a
member’s unpaid balance of its individual assessment may be prepaid at any time‘in full, without

penalty,

43, Pursuant to the ferms of the LPT Agreement, the Rehabilitator will diligently

pursue the collection of all assessment payments. Accordingly, if any assessed member is more




than three (3) days past due on any ‘insia}lment payment, the Rehabilitator will commence
collection of such past due installment payment pursuant to KRS 304.50-055 and KRS
16{}.160(5) by the intercept of any payment due to such member from the Commonwealth of
Kentucky (the ;‘Intercept”).
44.  Upon receipt of funds from such Intercept, the Rehabilitator will deposit the funds
. into the a deposit account established pursuant to the LPT Agreement, and thereafier remit such
funds to KEMI with future payments of the Transfer Payment,

45.  To secure the Premium and ensure the Intercept, the Rehabilitator and KEMI
intend to enter with the Kentucky Depaﬂmént of Education and Kentucky Finance and
Administration Cabinet a Memorandum of Understanding in the form atiached to the IPT
Agreement, and the Rehabilitator would grant KEMI a first and priof security interest in lien i;n
its assessments receivable, certain installment payment agreements to be entered by individual
school boards not paying their assessment in full and the accounts into which the coliected
assessments are deposited.

46.  Pursuant to KRS 304.50-055(4), the assessment plan is fair and equitable and
does not discriminate between members. The assessment plan funds the LPT Agreement with
KEMI; ensures that KSBIT W01'i(ers’ Compensation Fund’s members’ claims will be paid; and,
~al]eviates 1isk to the public of having injured workers® claims transferred to the Commonwealth
or to other carriers through additional assessments.

47, The assessment plan is a less expensive alternative to prior “novation” assessmént

options KSBIT Workers” Compensation Fund provided to its members.




48.  The Commissioner thus respectfully submits that the LPT Agreement with KEMI,
and the assessment necessary to fund that LPT Agreement, is in the best interests of KSBIT
Workers” Compensation Fund, its members, dependent injured worker claimants, and the public.

SURPLUS NOTE WITH KL.C
DECL.ARATION OF RIGHTS

COUNT I
49. On January 6, 2010, and pursuant to KRS 304.24-300, KSBIT Workers’

Compensation Fund and KLC entered into a $5;500,000 Kentucky Surplus Note pursuant to
which KSBIT promised to repay KLC “solely out of the surplus of the Trust [KSBIT] in excess
of $2,000,000 (the amount of which is referred to as the ‘Minimum Surplus.’j.” A copy of the
Surplus Note is attached hereto as Exhibit D. |
50, Terms of the Surplus Note include the provision that, “The principal amount of
this note shall not form a part of the Trust’s [KSBIT’s] statutory legal liabilities, except to the
extent of its surplus in excess of the Minimum Surplus, of be the basis of any set-off.”
51, Since the execution of the Surplus Note, KSBIT has ‘not, and as a result ‘of its
discontinuation of writing new business as of July 1, 2013, never will hav.e a surplus in excess of

the Minimum Surplus.
52.  Pursuant to the terms of the Surplus Note, tile_ Co@issionel"s Assessment Plan |
d;)es not include an amount to cover repayment of the Surplus Note.
53.  KLC contends that the Surplus Note is evidence of a legal obligation presently
payable by KSBIT and for which an assessment should be made.
COUNT N
54, At or aboui the time of the execution of the Surplus Note, KL.C required that

KSBIT enter into a Master Agreement (Exhibit E) whereby KL.C required that it be allowed 9 of




19 seats on the KSBIT Board and also required that any matters involving the Surplus Notes be
decided by a “Special Majority Vote” o.f at least 10 Trustees, 5 of whom must be KLC Trustees,
effectively giving KT.C control of the Board.

55, Despite the fact that no payment of interest was due on the Surplus Notes, the
KSBI’I.‘ABoard, acting contrary to the interests of its membership, unlawfully caused interest to be
paid 6n the note to KL.C in the total sum of $888,853.

56.  There is an actual and justiciable cﬁntroversy between the Commissioner and
KLC as té whether there is any obligation on the part of Com_missioiner to make an assessment

| and cqus'e repéyment of the Surplus Note, and there is a justiciable controversy as to the liability
of KLC for repayment of the interest on the Surplus Notes, and these controversies form the
basis of jurisdiction in this court for a declaratory judgment pursuant to Section 112(5) of the
Kentucky Constitution, KRS 23A.010, and KRS 418.040.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

1. The Commissioner requests that the Court immediately enter an order in the form
attachea hereto as Exhibit F which appoints the Commissioner and her successors in office as the
Rehabilitator of KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund, ircluding bestowing upon the
Commissioner all authority and powers of a Rehabilitator as provided by KRS 304.33, including,

but not limited to, confirmation that the Rehabilitator:

(@  has all the powers of the directors, officers, and managers of KSBIT
Workers” Compensation Fund, whose authority shall be suspended, except as they are re-

delegated by the Rehabilitator;

(b)  may direct, manage, hire and discharge employees subject to any contract

rights they may have;




(¢)  may deal with the property and business of the insurer;

(d)  has the exclusive authority to prosecute any action that exists on behalf of
members or policyholders of Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers’ Compensation
Fund against any director or officers of Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers® .

Compensation Fund or any other person or entity;
(e)  and, which

@ directs the Rehabilitator to take possession of the assets of KSBIT
Waorkers’ Compensation Fund as soon as possible and to administer them under the general

supervision of this Court;

(i)  directs the Rehabilitator to provide accountings to this Court at

intervals as the Coutt may specify;

(iii) éuthorizes the Rehabiﬁtator to employ and fix the cdmpensation of
any special deputy rehabilitators, counsel, clerks, and assistants, all of whom shall serve at the
pleasure of the Rehabilitator; to pay all expenses of taking possession of vKSBIT Workers”
Compensation Fund and other costs and expenses of the administration of this proceeding; and,
to pay such compensation and other costs and expenses of administration out of the funds or

assets of KSBIT Workers’ Combensation Fund;

(iv)  authorizes the Rehabilitator to employ J oseph N. Pope as a Special

Depufy Rehabilitator;




(v)  authorizes -and directs the Rehabilitator to take such action
respecting pendiﬁg litigation as she considers necessary in the interests of justice and for the
protection of policyholders and the public, and to consider all litigation pending outside
Kentucky and to petition the courts ﬁaving jurisdiction over that litigation for stays whenever

necessary to protect KSBIT Workers® Compensation Fund;

(vi)  directs that any cowrt or tribunal in Kentuck3} before which any
action or proceeding in which KSBIT is a party or is obligated to defend a party is pending shall
stay that action or proceeding for such time as is necessary for the Rehabilitator to obtain proper

representation and prepare for further proceedings; and,

(H) provides that this Court retain jurisdiction for such other and related relief

as is appropriate.

2. The Commissioner requests that the Court, following a properly noticed hearing,
enter an order in the form attached hereto as G that:

(@)  approves the LPT Agreement between the Rehabilitator and KEMI and the
transactions contemplated thereby, including the Intercept and grant of the security interests and

liens herein and in the LPT Agreement;
(b)  approves the Assessment Plan as described herein,

3. For judgment declaring that the KSBIT Worker’s Compensation Fund has no
obligation to cause the payment of either principal or interest on the Suiplus Note, and for money
damages in the sum of $888,853, together with prejudgment interest thereon, for improper

collection of interest on the Surplus Note: and




Any and all other appropriate relief to which Petitioner may be entitled.

Respectfully and jointly submiited,

Signature on file with original document

Peter F, Hrvin

La Tasha Buckner

PUBLIC PROTECTION CABINET
OFFICE OF LEGAL SERVICES
Capitol Tower Plaza

500 Mero Street, 5™ Floor
Frankfort, Kentucky 40601
Telephone:  (502) 564-7760

and

Shaun T. Orme

General Counsel

KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF -
INSURANCE '

P.O. Box 517

Frankfort, Kentucky 40602-0517
Telephone:  (502) 564-3630

Counsel for Sharon P. Clark, in Her
Capacity as Commissioner of Kentucky
Department of Insurance




VERIFICATION

I, Sharon P, Clark, Commissioner of the Kentucky Department of Insurance, affirm that
the foregoing representations in the Verified Petition for Rehabilitation are true:
Signature on file with original document

Sharon P. Clark
Commissioner ,
Kentucky Department of Insurance

COMMONWEALTH OF f& whee f?—?)(- )

COUNTY OF _cdho~cled e )

On this the "1 day of (\OW""— , 2013, before me Ddxﬂa}\ 0. a"&?“‘f‘)‘,{the

undersigned, Sharon P. Clark, did personally appear and acknowledged herself to be the

Commissioner of the Kentucky Department of Insutance, and having been duly sworn executed

and acknowledged this Verification.

In witness whereof I hereunto set my hand.

My Commission Expires: QOUW IY D013

Signature on file with original document

Notary Public




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Verifiéd Petitipn for Rehabilitation was
sent by first class mail to on this the _7¢¥ay of 4/ W@;&L—QOIS to the Kentucky
School Boards Insurance Trust Property and Liability Fund members that are subject to the

assessment,

I hereby further certify that a copy of the foregoing Verified Petition for Rehabilitation
was sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, on this the 7% day of

AdpesticLoan 201310

Frank Papalia, Esq., Process Agent

New York Marine and General Insurance Company
412 Mt. Kemble Avenue, Ste 300C

Morristown, NJ 07960

CSC-Lawyers Incorporating Service Co., Process Agent
Liberty Mutual Insurance

421 West Main Street

Frankfort, KY 40601

CSC-Lawyers Incorporating Service Co., Process Agent
Selective Insurance Company of America

421 West Main Street

Frankfort, KY 40601

CT Corporation, Process Agent
Safety National Casualty Corporation
306 West Main Street, Ste. 512
Frankfort, KY 40601

Thomas E. Lentz, Esq., Process Agent
Midwest Employers Casualty Company
14755 North Outer Fourty Drive, Ste. 300
Chesterfield, MO 63017

President or Secretary, Process Agent
Westport Insurance Company

5200 Metcalf :

Overland Park, KS 66202

CSC-Lawyers Incorborating Service Co., Process Agent
National Union Fire Insutance




421 West Main Street
Frankfort, KY 40601

CT Corporation, Process Agent

Aetna Insurance Company of Connecticut
306 West Main Street, Ste. 512
Frankfort, KY 40601

CT Corporation System, Process Agent
TIG Insurance Company

306 West Main Street, Ste. 512
Frankfort, KY 40601

Jonathan D. Kantor, Esq., Process Agent
Continental Casualty

333 S. Wabash, 43S Avenue

Chicago, IL 60604

Roya L. Willis, Esqg., Process Agent
MidStates Reinsurance Corporation
3495 Newmark Drive, Building 1
Miamisburg, OH 45342

Signature on file with original document

Counsel for Petitioner
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 DORTON

DEAN DORTON ALLEN FORD, PLLC

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Trustees , _
Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund

Frankfort, Kentucky

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers'
. Compensation Fund (the Fund) which comprise the statements of net position as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, and
the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the years then ended,

and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management {s responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this inclucles the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from rhaterial misstatermnent, whether due to fraud or etror, -

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits, We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assutrance about whether the financial statements are [ree of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures In the
financial statements, The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of materfal misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers infernal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control, Accordingly, we express no
such opinion, An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements, :

We belleve that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficlent and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion. '

104 W. Vine Sueat, Suite 600 Lexington, KY 40507 - 859.255.234t phone  859.255-0125 fax
S5COW, Jeffarson Steet, Suta 1400 Lowsille, XY 10202 S02-387-60%) phone  S02.5831-5016 fax derton,com




Board of Trustees
Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund

Report of Indepencdient Auditors, continued

Opinion

In our opinion, the financlial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers’ Compensation Fund'as of June 30, 2013 and 2012,
and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the years then ended in accmdance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

Emphasis of Matters

Going Corncern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Fund will. continue as a going
concern. As discussed in Note 9 to the financial statements, the Commonwealth of Kentucky imposes certain asset
requirements on insurance entities, including the Fund. As of June 30, 2013, the Fund's net deficit is at the
Commonwealth's action level, As a result of this review, KSBIT took the following actions as patt of a correctwe

action plan required by law:

*  The KSBIT Pools ceased to accept new or renewal Business after June 30, 2013 and entered Into a runoff
and wind up of business phase.

*  KSBIT filed an assessment and wind up plan, ta be approved by the Kentucky Department of nsurance,
of current and past participating members to fund the deficit and the transfer of liability to a qualified
insurer/relnsurer, Factors in the assessment methodology consisted of premiums paid, the projected cost
claims in each pool by district, andl the number of years of participation by each district in years generating a

deficit.

* In early October 2013, the Department of Insurancé indicated it was exploring other options for
remedying the deficit and that in light of the other options, it would not approve the novation plan submitted
by KSBIT. Accordingly, KSBIT withdrew its plan to transfer the obligations to a qualified reinsurer at the
request of the Department, KSBIT is currently working with the Department on the other options.

Failure to meet the capital requirements and interim capital targets included in the Fund's plan would expose the
Fund to regulatory sanctions that may include restrictions on operations, mandatory assessments, and placing the
Fund under regulatory control. These matters raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue going as
a concern. Management's plans in regard to these miatters are described in Note 9, The financial statements do not
include any adjustments tat might result From the outcome of this uncertainty. Qur opinion is not modified with
respect to this matter. :

© Rustatemertt

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the 2012 financial statements have been restated, Qur OPJREOﬂ
is not modified with respect to this matter.




Board of Trustees .
Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund
Report of Independent Auditors, continued

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requive that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages 5-7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
inforatation, although not a vequired part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our
. inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial
statements, We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance,

Other Information

The supplementary information on page 25 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required
part of the financial statements but is supplementary information required by the Department of Insurance of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky, Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to preparve the financial statements. The
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements.
Accordingly, it is inappropriate to and we do not express an opinion on the supplementary information referred
to above.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 28, 2013 on our -
consideration of the the Fund'’s internal control over financial reperting and our tests of its compliance with
cettain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters, The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That veport is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance ‘with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the Fund's internal control over financial reporting and compliance,

Decn Deotlorn Q0Lsn T PUC
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Qctober 28, 2013
Lexington, Kentucky




Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unnudited)

Our discussion and analysis of the Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund
(the Pund) provides an overview of the Fund's financial activity for the fiscal year ended }une 30, 2013, It
should be read in conjunction with the financial statements, which begin on page 7.

Using this Annual Report

This report conmsts of a sexies of financial statements, notes to the financial statements, and supplemental
information,

Statements of Net Assels

The Kentucky League of Cities, Ine. (KLC) began administering the Kentucky School Board Insurance Trust
(KSBIT) program on January 1, 2010, the middle of the July 2009 through June 2010 policy period, This
resulted in the immediate transfer of responsibility for claims handling and loss control administration to
KLC. The first underwriting and marketing responsibility for KLC relating to the KSBIT program begins with
the July 2010 through June 2011 policy year. Effective January 1, 2010, The Trust, the Kentucky League of
Cities Insurance Service Assoctation (KLCIS), and the Department of Insurance agreed on a plan under which
KLCIS would help KSBIT meet statutory surplus requirements for its Workers' Compensation Fund and
Property and Liability Fund and KLCIS would administer the funds. On January 6, 2010, and pursuant to
direction from the Department of Insurance, KSBIT and KLCIS entered into a Kentucky Surplus Note whereby
KLCIS agreed to loan $5,500,000 to KSBIT's Workers' Compensation Fund and $2,500,000 to KSBIT's Property
and Liability Fund, which promised to repay KLCIS out of stirplus funds (see Note 8). Pursuant to direction
by the Department of Insurance, the amount of each of the surplus notes was classified as net assets by the
Trust under insurance law for purposes of calculating net worth and debt under GAAP accounting. In this
agreement, KSBA agreed to endorse exclusively the KSBIT Workers' Compensatiori Fund and the Property
and Liability Fund and to provide certain services to the Funds for a fee,

Table 1 shows all the assets and liabilities of the Fund and s presented on the accrual basis, The total net
deficit increased $6,811,612 for the current fiscal year due to the following changes,

* The independent actuary’s findings vevealed $1,839,489 and $1,331,925 of prior year restatements of
estimates of ultimate losses and loss adjustment expenses, respectively, due to some adverse trends and loss

development.

*  For the 2013 fiscal year, a reserve of $3,416,323 for unpaid loss adjustment expenses was recorded based
on quotes received for third party administrative claims services in a runoff phase. ‘The recording of this
reserve in 2013 added $2,666,350 to the deficit, of which $1,331,925 relates to prior years,

*  Also, the just expired 2013 policy year experienced losses that were greater than anticipated. The 2013
financial statements reflect an underwriting loss of $2,305,773 relating to adverse loss experience and legal and
other professional fees associated with the proposed assessment, claims audits and expert actuarial reviews,




Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unandited), continued

Tablet

Net Position
2013 2012

Cash and investments $ 12412,066 $ 13,582,137
Capital aid other assets 1,161,482 1,507,630

Total assets . 13,673 548 15,089,767
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 42,272,642 37,352,564
Other liabilities 8,390,035 8.014,720

Total liabilities T 50,662,677 45,367,284

Net position ' $__ (37,089,129) $_ (30.277517)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Table 2 shows the revenutes and expenses of the Fund and is also presented on the accrual basis.

Table2
Change in Net Position

Year encled June 30, 2013 2012

Net premiums earned ' $§ 7365823 $ 6,850,581

Investment and other gains (losses) 825 {156,686)
Total revenues ‘ : 7,366,648 6,693,895

Losses and loss adjustment expenses 11,737,778 23,411,318

General administrative expenses 2445482 1,961,574
Total expenses | - 14,178,260 25,372,892,
Change in net position $__ (6811612) $__(18678.997)




Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited), continued

Description of Current and Expected Conditions

Despite years of work to eliminate deficits in the KSBIT pools, the latest financial statements indicated a
significant increase in the deficits of both pools, which under the law requires corrective action. While KSBIT
has taken a number of steps to address the pools’ deficits including management and a loan by KLCIS in
January 2010, cutting operating costs, attempting to rebuild market share, shifting to a managed care model to
reduce medical costs, and increasing premium rates sharply, the deficits have grown as claims costs have
escalated and a substantial number of districts have continued to leave the pools due to competitive pressures.

The Board of Trustees of KSBIT had claims and reserve reviews undertaken by independent outside firms to
further confirm the Pools’ deficits as a precedent to levying an assessment, As a result of these reviews and
after consultation with the Kentucky Departent of Insurance (Department), KSBIT took the following actions

as part of a corrective action plan required by law:

*  The KSBIT Pools ceased to accept new or renewal business after June 30, 2013 and entered into a runoff
and wind up of business phase.

*  KSBIT filed an assessment and wind up plan, to be approved by the Kentucky Department of Insurance,
of current and past participating members to fund the deficit and the transfer of liability to a qualified
insurer/reinsurer, Factors in the assessment methodology consisted of premiums paid, the projected cost
claims in each pool by distrlct, and the number of years of participation by each district in years generating a

" deficit.

* In early October 2013, the Department of Insurance indicated it was exploring: other options for
remedying the deficit and that in light of the other options, it would not approve the novation plan submitted
by KSBIT. Accordingly, KSBIT withdrew its plan to transfer the obligations to a qualified reinsurer at the .
request of the Department, KSBIT is currently working with the Department on the other options.

*«  Even under the options being pursued by the Department of Insurance, it is KSBIT's understanding that a
financing option negotiated by KSBA will give particlpating districts the cholce of paying their portion of the
assessment over a twenty-year period to help minimize the impact.

Contlacting the Fund's Financial Management

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust
Workers' Compensation Fund's finances and to show the Fund's accountability to its members, If you have any
questions about this report or need additional information, contact the Kentucky League of Cities office at 100
East Vine Street, Sulite 800, Lexington, KY 40507,




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2013 and 2012
2013 201
Assels
Investment securites, at fair, value ' . $ 10457458 § 9,063,482
Cash and cash equivalents : 1,954,608 4,518,655
Premium receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $15,709 :
and $4,136 in 2013 and 2012, respectively) 141,385 160,777
Excess insurance recefvable 7 920,100 1,124,036
Receivable from related entity o 283H4 110,863
Accrued investment income 67,717 - 69916,
Property and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation of $8,381
and $5,911 for 2013 and 2012, respectively) 3,966 6,436
Prepaid expenses - 35,602
Total assets ' 13,573,548 15,089,767
Liabilities
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses:
Reported claims : ‘ ) 22,367,313 23,131,510
Incurred but not reported claims ' 19,905,329 14,221,054
Total unpaid losses and loss adjustmelit expenses 42,272,642 37,352,564
Accounts payable . _ © 71,006 - 297,759
Surplus note payable (Note 3) 5,500,000 5,500,000
Payable to related entities {Note 3) 2,179,029 2,179,030
Advance premiums : - 37.931
Total Habilities 50,662,677 45367084
Net Position

Net position (Note 3) . $_137.089,129) 5_(30,277.517)

See nccompanying notes,




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

Operating revenue:
Net prémiums earned

Operating expenses:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Commission expense
Claims administration expense
- Professional fees
Program administrative fees
Other expenses )

Total operating expenses
Operating loss

Nonoperating revenue (loss):
Interest and investment gains (losses), net

Change in net position

Net position at beginning of year, as previously reported
Restatement (Note 3) _

Net position at beginning of year, as restated

Net deficit, end of year

See accompanying 1okes.

2013 2012
7365823 $ 6850581
11,737,778 23,411,318
550,405 516,159
716,127 729,302
574,160 170,876
510,868 492,281
88,922 52,956
14,178,260 25,379,892
(6,812,437)  (18522,311)
825 (156,686)
(6,811,612) . (18,678,997)
{3,919,490)

7.679,030)

(30,277,517) {11,598,520)
$_(37,089,129) $__ (30,277,517)




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Premiums collected
Losses and loss adjustment expenses paict
Underwriting expenses paid
Miscellaneous payments

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing actlvities:
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sale and matutities of investments
Interest and dividends received

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from capital and financing activities:
Change in receivable from related entity
Interest paid on surplus note

Net cash (used in) provided by capital and financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cashand cash equivalents, end of year

201 2012
$ 7335712 § 6,943,192
(6,817,701}  (6,988,392)
(479,658) (220,322)
(1,431,496) (687,035)
(1,393,143) (952,557)
(4,713,275) - (4,504,585)
3,180,783 7,176,106
416,540 329,399
(1,115,952) 3,000,920
82,548 1,607,477
(137,500 (275,000)
(54,952) 1,332,477
(2,564,047) 3,380,840
4,518,655 1,137,815
$_ 1950,608 $__ 4,518,655




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Statements of Cash Flows, continued

Years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Operating loss
Adjustments:
Depreciation
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Premiwm receivable
Excess insurance recetvable
Prepaid expenses
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
Accounts payable
Advance premiums

Net ¢ash used In operating activities

See accompanying notes.

10

2013 2012

$ (6812437} § (18,522,311)

2,470 2,469
11,573 5,864
7,820 93,409
203,936 1,018,678
35,602 (32,705)
4,920,078 16,422,926
275,746 © 65775
(37.931) | (6.662)

$_ (1393143 $ {952,557)




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

1, Nature of Organization and Operations

The Kentucky Schoal Boards Insurance Trust (KSBIT, or the Trust) was organized by the Kentucky School
Boards Association (KSBA, or the Association) effective July 7, 1978. The Trust established a Workers'
Compensation Fund to provide group self-insurance coverage for Association members and their related
agencles, All school districts, non-profit institutions of higher education, and other tax supported agencies of

Kentucky who are members of the Association are eligible to participate.

Participating members make contributions to the Fund based upon premium rates determined by the Fund,
Members may be subject to contribution assessments in the event of deficiencies in the Fund's net assets, The
Fund's management considers anticipated investment income, among other things, in determining if a
premium deficlency exists. Distributions of excess net assets to participants in the form of dividends may be
declared by the Board of Trustees. However, under Kentucky Department of Insurance regulations, dividends
may not be paid until thirty-six months after the expiration of the self-insurance term. Participation in the
Fund included 80 and 89 members as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Trust has also sponsored and organized a Property and Liability Insurance Fund and an Unemployment
~Compensation Fund,

Effective January 1, 2010, The Trust, the Kentucky League of Citles Insurance Service Association (KLCIS), and
the Department of Insurance agreed on a plan under which KLCIS would help KSBIT meet statutory surplus
requirements for its Workers' Compensation Fund and Property and Liability Fund and KLCIS would
administer the funds, On January 6, 2010, and pursuant to direction from the Department of Insurance, KSBIT
and KLCIS entered into a Kenfuicky Surplus Note whereby KLCIS agreed to loan $5,500,000 to KSBIT's
Workers' Compensation Fund and $2,500,000 to KSBIT's Property and Liability Fund, which promised to
repay KLCIS out of surplus funds (see Note 8). Pursuant to direction by the Department of Insurance, the
amount of each of the surplus notes was classified as net assets by the Trust under insurance law for purposes
of calculating net worth and debt under GAAP accounting, In this agreement, KSBA agreed to endorse
exclusively the KSBIT Workers' Compensation Fund and the Property and Liability Fund and to provide
certain services to the Funds at a fee equal to one and one-quarter percent (1.25%) of annual gross billed
premiums of the Funds, but not to exceed $500,000 in any fiscal year,

lollowing is a description of the most significant risks facing workers' compensation insurers and how the
Fund mitigates those risks: : ‘

Legal/Regulatory Risk

Legalfregulatory risk is the risk that changes in the legal or regulatory environment in which an insurer
operates will occur and create additional losses or expenses not anticipated by the insurer in pricing its
products, That is, regulatory initiatives designed to reduce insurer profits or nesv legal theories may create
costs for the insurer beyond those currently recorded in the financial statements. The Fund is exposed to this
risk by writing all of its business in Kentucky, thus increasing its exposure to a single jurisdiction. This risk Is
reduced by underwriting and loss adjusting practices that identify and minimize the adverse impact of this

risk.

11




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUN D

Notes to the Financial Statetments, continued

1. Nature of Otganization and Operations, continued

Cradit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that issuers of securities owned by an insurer will default or that other parties, including
excess insurets that owe the insurer money will not pay, The Fund minimizes this risk by adhering to a
conservative investment strategy, by utilizing financially sound excess insurers, by maintaining credit and
collection policies, and by providing an allowance for any amounts deemed uncollectible.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that interest rates will change and cause a decrease in the value of an insurer's
investments. The Fund mitigates this tisk by attempting to match the maturity schedule of Its assets with the
expected payouts of its liabilities. To the extent that liabilities come due more quickly than assels mature, an
isster would have to sell assets prior to maturity and recognize a gain or loss. The Fund uses the segmented
time distribution method to measure interest rate risk,

2, Summary of Siguificant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Fund uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized in the accounting
period in which they are earned and expenses are recognized in the period incurred.

The Fund presents its financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally acceptedt in the
United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government units, The Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles. As a proprietary activity, the Fund has adopted GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of
Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contpined in  Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA
Pronouncerments. Therefore, the Fund follows GASB pronouncements and all Financial Accounting Standards
Board and predecessor boards' pronouncements except those that conflict with or contradict GASB

pronouncements,

For 2013, the Fund implemented GASB Statement No. 63, Finaneial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resotrces,
Deferved Inflows of Resonrees, and Net Position, ’ '

GASB Statement No, 63 identifies net position, rather than net assets, as the residual of all other elements
presented in a statement of financial position. This change was incorporated in the Fund's 2013 financial
statements; however, there was no effect on beginning net position/fund balance,

12




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

2. Bummary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Use of Estimates-

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those

estimates,

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the
determination of unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses. In connection with the determination of unpaid
losses and loss adjustment expenses, management uses the methodology described later in ﬂus note in

"Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses”.

Management believes that the liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is adequate. While
management uses available information to- estimate unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, future
changes to the Hability may be necessary based on claims experience and changing claims frequency and
severity conditions, as well -as changes in doctrine of legal liability and damage awards in Kentucky. The
future changes will be charged or credited to expenses when they ocecur,

Investment Securities

[nvestment securities consist of fixed maturity debt and equity securities that the Fund intends to nse as part
of its asset/liability management policy and secutities that may be sold in response to unexpected liquidity

needs.

Investment securities are stated at fair value based, generally, on quoted market prices. Changes in the fair
value of investment securities are reported as reventte, The specific identification method is used to determine
the cost of securities sold. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in non-operating revenue,

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist principally of money market fund investments. For purposes of the
statements of cash flows, the Fund considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity, at time of purchase,

of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable ,

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the insurance industry, the Fund records audit
premiums as of the fiscal year-end in which they wera earned. The allowance for doubtful accounts is an
amount that management believes will be adequate to absorb possible uncollectible accounts based on prior
experience, Amounts are charged against the allowance when management determines that collectability is

doubtful.

13




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of furniture and fixtures. Depreclation Is calculated on the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. For the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, depreciation

expense amounted to $2,470 and $2,469, respectively,

Premiwmm Revenue

Premiums for contracts are recognized as earned on'a pro rata basis over the contract period. Advance
premiums relate to premiums paid by members for insurance coverage for the subsequent insurance period.
Policy coverage is matched with revenue so as to result in recognition of profits over the life of the policies
through establishment of reserves for Incurred claims,

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are based on estimates of the ultimate cost of claims (including
future claims adjusiment expense) that have been reported but not settled, and of claims that have been
incurred but not yet reported. The length of time for which such costs must be estimated varies depending on
the coverage involved, Estimated amounts of subrogation and excess insurance recaverable on unpaid claims
are deducted from the liability for unpaid claims. Because actual claims cost depends on such complex factors
as inflation, changes in doctrines of legal liability, and damage awards, the process used in computing claims
liabilities does not necessarily result in an exact amount, Claims liabilities are recomputed periodically using
a variety of actuarial and statistical techniques to produce current estimates that reflect recent settlements,
claim frequency, and other economic and social factors, A provision for inflation in the calculation of
estimated future claims costs is implicit in the calculation because reliance is placed both on actual histor{cal
_ data that reflects past inflation and on other factors that are considered to be appropriate modifiers of past
experience. Adjustments to claims liabilities are charged or credited to expense in the periods in which they

are made,

Excess Insurance

Excess insurance premiums, losses, and loss adjustment expenses are accounted for on a basis consistent with
those used In accounting for the original policies issued and the terms of the excess insurance contracts,”
Premiums, losses, and loss adjustment expenses are reported net of excess insured amounts. The Fund
evaluates the financial condition of its excess insurers to minimize its exposure to slgnificant losses from
excess Insurer insolvencies. The Fund holds funds and collateral as security under excess insurance
agreements In the form of letters of credlit for any excess insurers not subject to the regulation of the Kentucky
Commissioner of Insurance. In the opinion of management, all amounts due from excess insuvers at June 30,

2013 and 2012 are recoverable.

14




KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Net Position

The Fund's Board of Trustees may, at its discretion, refund to members the savings, if any, resulting from
operations of the Fund in the form of dividends or reduced premiums. The amount of any future dividends
or reductions in premiums is dependent on.the Fund's ultimate liability for claims incurred and, accordingly,
the amount may differ from the net position. No refunds were issued during 2013 or 2012.

In the event of adverse loss experience, the Fund can assess additional amounts to the members, An
assessment would be computed and established by the Board of Trustees with each member's share being
based on a portion of premiums and losses, There have been no assessments levied since the inception of the
Fund, See Note 9 regarding a likely assessment as part of the Fund's corrective action plan.

Federal Income Taxes

The Internal Revenue Service has ruled that the income of the Fund is excludable from gross income, and
therefore, exempt from taxation pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 115, which pertains to

instrumentalities of state and local governments,

Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events for accounting and disclosure requirements through October
28, 2013, the date that the financial statements were available to be issued. See Note 9 for management’s

corrective action plan and assessment of current and past participating members.

3. Restatement -

During 2013, the Fund changed its accounting for $2,179,030 in funds it had previously received from related
parties, During 2013, management of the Fund and related entities elected to classify the transfers as a loan.
This change resulted in the net position of the Fund at July 1, 2011 being decreased by $2,179,030 via a payable
to related entities of $2,179,030 being recorded. See Note 6 for additlonal information regarding this payable.

During 2013, the Fund changed its accounﬁng.treatn*lent of the surplus note agreement. As directed by the
Department of Insurance, management had previously recorded the surplus In net position, as opposed to &

note payable, This change resulted in the net position at July 1, 2011 being reduced by $5,500,0C0 via a surplus
note payable of $5,500,000 being recorded. See Note 8 for additional information regarding this note,

Neither of these changes in accounting had any effect on 2012's change in net position or cash flows.
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KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

4, Deposits and Investments

Deposits and investments held by the Fund as of June 30 are as follows:

2013 012
Deposits and investments classified as cash and cash equivalents: g
Cash and cash_ equivalents ‘ b 624509 § 380,763
‘Money market mutual funds 1,330,099 4,137,892
1,954,608 4,518,655
Investments classified as Investment securities:
Certificate of deposit 2,257,497 2,197,167 .
Corporate bonds 1,570,894 1,566,579
Municipal bonds 3,912,559 2,703,912
U,8. government agency obligations 187,436 1,996,616
Common equity securities $22,136 290,459
Equity mutual funds 1,706,936 308,749
Investments classified as investment securities 10,457,458 - 9,063,482
Total deposits and investments 5 1254125066 $__ 13562137
As of June 30, 2013, the Fund h_éd the following investment maturities:
Lessthan1l i-5 6-10 More than 10
Certificate of deposit _ 3 2,257,497 % - % . % -
Corporate bonds o - 1,312,849 258,045 -
Municipai bonds - 1,477,951 1,198,211 1,236,397
U.5, government agency ' _—
obligations , - - - 187,436
Total maturities $ 2257497 § 2,790,800 3 1,456,256 § 1,423,833

" Interest and investment gains (losses), net are comprised of the following for the years ended June 30:

2013 012
Interest and dividend income, net 3 307,772 % 329,399
Net realized and unrealized losses T, (306.947) {486.085)
$____ 825 $____ (156686)
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KENTUCKY SCIH{OOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued’

4, Deposits and Investments, continued

Credijt Risk

State law and the Pund .inveétment guldelines assert that corporate bonds are allowable if issued, assumed, or
guaranteed by a solvent institution created and existing under the laws of the United States of America. They
also state that corporate bond investments shall not exceed 15% of the total market value of the portfolio at the
time of purchase and that the bond has a minimum rating of A.

State law and the Fund investment guidelines assert that no individual equity holding shall comprise greater
than 10% of the equity portion of the portfolio at the time of purchase. Both also state that an invesiment in an
individual holding shall not represent at the time of purchase more than 5% of the market value of the
holding. Furthermore, both state that investments in equities shall not exceed 20% of the total market value of
the portfolio of the self-insurance group at the time of purchase, In addition, mutual funds that are registered
investment advisors licensed by the Securities Exchange Commission and Commonwealth of Kentucky to
perform investment services are allowable and shall not exceed 20% of the total market value of the portfolio

at the time of purchase.

With respect to cash-and statue defined bonds, both sets of guidelines state that, of the total investments held,
no less than 75% of the total market value shall be held in cash, cash equivalents, and fixed income, Also, not
less than 15% of the total investments shall be held in cash, cash equivalents or U.S. Treasuries and federal
égency securities with a 1 year or less maturity. The Fund may also invest surplus funds or reserves not
needed for current obligations in the following: U.5, government bonds, Treasury notes and T-bills or other
direct obligations guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America, tax exempt
obligations issued by Kentucky or its agencies with a minimur Standard and Poor (S&P) rating of A. |

Furthermore, the Fund may also invest in obligations issued by a country, district, municipality or other legal
authority within Kentucky with a minimum S&P rating of AA. Investments may also be made in investment
. share accounts in a savings and loan Institution in Kentucky which is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, Finally, the Fund may also invest in certificates of deposit if issued by a duly chartered

commercial bank in Kentucky.

As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Fund's management believes the Fund is in compliance with all applicable
laws. As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Fund was invested in the following government agency bonds: Federal
National Mortgage Association and Government National Mortgage Association. None of these bonds had
S&P ratings. Additional Investments include municipal bonds and money market accounts,

5. Ixcess Instirance Coverage

The Fund’s Board of Trustées authorized the purchase of excess insurance coverage in order to reduce the
ultimate loss exposure arising (rom large losses in the workers' compensation pool. The Pund purchases
specific excess of loss insurance coverage for protection against losses in excess of specified antounts per
occurrence, Excess insurance premiums are based upon a percentage of payrolls,
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KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

5. Excess Insurance Coverage, continued

Tor 2013 and 2012, the Fund purchased excess insurance coverage for the Workers' Compensation peol from
New York Marine and General Insurance Company, an excess insurance carrer with a rating of "A” (Excellent)
by A.M, Best and Company. Tha Fund purchased a buffer layer of excess insurance, defined as $1,000,000 in
excess of $350,000, and $650,000 in excess of $350,000, in 2013 and 2012, respectively, as specific excess

insurance coverage per occulrence.

Although the purchase of excess insurance coverage does not discharge the Fund from its primary lability to
its members, the excess insurance company that assumes the coverage assumes the related liability, and it is
the practice of organizations such as the Fund for accounting purposes to treat insuved risks, to the extent of
excess insurance coverage, as though they were risks for which the Fund is not lable, However, the Fund
remains contingently liable in the event its excess insurers ave unable to meet their contractual obligations.

Excess insurance premiums ceded were $1,033,552 and $1,099,301 for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, Excess insurance recoveries on paid claims during 2013 and 2012 were $851,566 and $1,624,169,

respectively.
6. Related Party Transactions
The following entities are the Fund’s related entities:

Kentucky League of Citjes (KLC)

Kentucky League of Citics Insurance Agency (KLCIA)

Kentucky League of Cities Premium Finance Company (KLCPFC)

Kentucky League of Citles Unemployment Compensation Reimbursement Trust (KLCUCRT)
Kentucky League of Cities Insurance Services Assoctation (KLCIS)

Kentucky League of Citles Workers Compensation Trust (KLCWCT)

Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Property and Liability Fund (KSBITPLF)

Through December 31, 2009, the Fund occupled office space from and had an Administrative Agreement with
Kentucky School Board Assoclation (KSBA) to provide management and administrative services fot the Fund.
As of January 1, 2010, the KSBA agreed to endorse exclusively the Fund and to provide certain services to the
Fund at a fee equal to one and one-quarter percent (1.25%) of annual gross billed premiums of the funds, but
not to exceed $500,000 in any fiscal year, The amount paid to KSBA by the Fund was $98,214 and $78,206 for
2013 and 2012, respectivély. .

The Fund reports amounts as being due from or due to related parties. Related party receivables and payables
included within the Fund's statements of net position consist of the following as of June 30: '

201 2012

KSBIT liability fund receivable . . - § - 28314 & 110,863
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KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

6, Related Party Transactions, continuec{

The fund borrowed $2,179,030 from related parties in 2003, The amount is included in payable to related
entities and was expected to be a temporary borrowing between the funds and is payable upon demand

without interest,

7. Liability for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjusiment Expenses

Activity.in the liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses for the years ended June 30, 2013 and

2012 is surnmarized as follows:

201 2012
Net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, beginning of
year $ 37352564 § 20,929,638
Incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses: T
Provision for insured events of the current year . 8,566,364 7,260,139
Increase in provision for insured events of prior years 3,171,414 16,151.179
Total incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses ] 11,737,778 - i3,411,318
Payments:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses atfributable to insured
events of the current year : _ 1,571,103 1,829,029
" Losses and loss adjustment expenses attributable to insured
events of prior years 5,246,598 5,159.363
Total payments ' 6,817,701 6,988,392
Net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, end of year 5 42272641 §__ 37,352,564

An increase {decrease) in the provision for insured events of prior years signifies that the Fund expects higher

(lower) than anticipated ultimate losses in the final disposition of claims,

For the 2013 fiscal year, a reserve of 3,416,323 for unpaid loss adjustment expenses was recovded based on

quotes received for third party administrative claims services in a runoff phase,
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KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

8. Surplus Note Agreement

On January 6, 2010, and pursuant to direction from the Department of Insurance, KSBIT and KLCIS entered
into a Kentucky Surplus Note whereby KLCIS agreed to loan $5,500,800 to KSBIT's Workers' Compensation
Fund and $2,500,000 to KSBIT's Property and Liability Fund, which promised to repay KLCIS out of surplus
funds, Pursuant to direction by the Department of Insurance; the amount of each of the surplus. notes was
classified as net assets by the Trust under insurance lasy for purposes of calculating net worth and debt under
CAAP accounting. Interest is due quarterly until each note is paid in full, Interest is calculated at a rate per
annum which shall be equal to the sum of the year to date yield on the 5&P Index weighted at 20% plus the
year to date yield on the Bar Cap Index welghted at 80%. Provided, however, in no event shall the annual
interest rate be less than 1% or greater than 5%, These notes have no fixed maturity date. KLCIS expects to
recover the entire $8 million through the assessment process discussed in Note 9, .

9. Going Concern Considerations and Management's Plans (Unaudited)

Description of Current and Expected Conditions

The Fund’s financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the vealization of
assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Due to deficits reflected in its June 30,
9011 financials and continuing to develop during 2012, the Fund determined that Habilities could-not be
satisfied in the ordinary course of business and that an assessment of members would be necessary to satisfy

obligations and eliminate Fund deficits.

Thus, despite years of work to eliminate deficits in the KSBIT pools, the latest financial statements indicated a
significant Increase in the deflcits of both pools, which under the law requires corrective action. While KSBIT
has taken a nunber of steps fo address the pools’ deficits including management and a loan by KLCIS in
January 2010, cutting operating costs, attempting to rebuild market share, shifting to a managed care model to
veduce medical costs, and increasing premium rates sharply, the deficits have grown as claimms costs have
escalated and a substantial number of districts have continued to leave the pools due to compelilive pressures.

The Board of Trustees of KSBIT had claims and reserve reviews undertaken by independent outside firms to
further confirm the pools’ deficits as a precedent to levying an assessment, As a result of these reviews and
after consultation with the Kentucky Department of Insurance (Department), KSBIT took the following actions

as part of a corrective action plan required by law:

s The KSBIT Pools ceased to accept new or veriewal business after June 30, 2013 and entered into a runoff
and wind up of business phase.

e KSBIT filed an assessment and wind up plan, to be approved by the Kentucky Department of Insurance,
of cutrent and past participating members to fund the’ deficit and the transfer of Hability to a qualiffed
insurer/reinsurer. Factors in the assessment methodology consisted of premiums paid, the projected cost
claims in each pool by district, and the number of years of participation by each district in years generating a

defieit.
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KENTUCKY SCHO CL'BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements, continued

9. Going Concern Considerations and Management's Plans (Linandited), continued

Description of Current and Expected Conditions, continued

* In early October, 2013 the Departinent of Insurance indicated it was exploring other options for
remedying the deficit and that in light of the other options, it would not approve the novation plan submitted
by KSBIT. Accordingly, KSBIT withdrew its plan to transfer the obligations to a qualified reinsurer at the
request of the Department. KSBIT is currently working with the Department on the other options.

*  Evenunder the options being pursued by the Department of Insurance, it is KSBIT's understanding that a
financing option negotiated by KSBA will give participating districts the choice of p‘tymg their portion of the
assessment over a twenty-year period to help minimize the impact.
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.DORTON

DEAM DORTOMN ALLEN FORD, PLLC

Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

4

Board of Trustees
Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers Compensation Fund

Frankfort, Kentucky

We have audited, in accordance withi the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
" and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust
Workers' Compensation Fund (the Fund) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the
« financial statements, which collectively compurise the Fund's basic financial statements, and have issued our report

thereon dated October 28, 2013.

Internal Control Qver Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financlal statements, we considered the Fund's internal contvol over
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumnstances
for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing thelr assigned functlons, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material wenkness is a deficiency, or a'combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is 4 reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material WE'lkness, yet important enough

- to merit attention by those chatged with governance.

Our consideration of internal conlrol was for the timited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not desigried to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financtal reporting that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies, Given these limitations, during our audit we did not-identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses, Flowever, material weaknesses may

exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund's financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, régulations, contracts and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. Howaever, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
Instances of noncomphance or other matters that are requued to be reported under Governmont Auditing

Standards.

106 W. Vine Streel, Suifs 500 Lezngton. KY 40507 §5%.255-2311 phone - B59-255-0125 fax
500%W Jetlerson Straet, Sune 1400 Lowisville, KY A0202 3025596050 phone  502-581-9014 fax ’ : dorton,com




Board of Trustees
Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers' Compensation Fund

~ Page2

Purpoese of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal confrot or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Shindards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance, Accordingly, this communication is not

suitable for any other purpose.

Dean Dotlon Q00 Foecl PLLC

October 28, 2013
Lexington, Kentucky
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LOSS PORTFOLIO TRANSFER AGREEMENT,

This Loss Portfolio Transfer Agreement (this “Agreement”), is dated as of
_, 2013, and by and between SHARON P. CLARK, COMMISSIONER OF THE
KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, IN HER CAPACITY AS
REHABILITATOR OF THE KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION SELF-INSURANCE FUND (the “Rehabilitator™) and
KENTUCKY EMPLOYERS? MUTUAL INSURANCE (“KEMI”). The Rehabilitator and
KEMI ate, collectively, the “Parties” and each a “Party”.

RECITALS

A.  The Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers’ Compensation Self-
Insurance Fund (the “Fund™), is a fund pursuant to which participating members of the Kentucky
School Boards Insurance Trust (“KSBIT”) pooled their liabilities as a workers’ compensation
self-insured group under Kentucky Rev1sed Statutes (“KRS”) 304.50-005, ef. seq.

_ B. As a result of a petmon (the “Petition”) filed with the Flanklm Circuit Coutt,
Commonwealth of Kentucky (“the “Court”) on : , 2013, pursuant to KRS
304.33-140 and KRS 304.50-135, the Rehabilitator has sought, inter alia, (i) to be appointed
rehabilitator of the Fund and (ii) an order of the Court approving enteting this Agreement and
consummating the transactions contemplated hereby.

C. KEMI is a nonprofit, independent, self-supporting de jure municipal corporation
and political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky created pursuant to KRS 342.803,
et. seq., and, as such, has the authority to reinsure any risk.

D. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including approval of the
Court, the Rehabilitator and KEMI have agreed that the Rehabilitator will assess the Fund’s
members to fund the Fund’s deficit and transfer cértain liabilities of the. Fund to KEMI and pay
KEMI the premium contemplated herein,

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual representations, warranties,
covenants and agreements set forth herein, the receipt and sufficiency of wh1ch are hereby
acknowledged, the Rehabilitator and KEMI agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.1 Definitions, Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings set
forth in Addendum “A” attached hereto.

1.2  Rules of Interpretation.

(a) ‘The sinigular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular,

(b)  The word “or” is not exclusive.

L7




(c) A reference to a Person includes its permitted successors and permitted
assigns,

(d)  The words “include,” “includes” and “including” are not limiting.

A () A xeference in this Agreement to an Article, Section, Exhibit, Schedule,
Annex or Appendix is to the Article, Section, Exhibit, Schedule, Annex or Appendix of this
Agreement unless otherwise indicated, Exhibits, Schedules, Annexes or Appendices to this
Agreement shall be deemed incorporated by reference into this Agreement and made a part
hereof. :

H The words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar
import when used in any document shall refer to such document as a ‘whole and not to any
particular provision of such document. - '

. (g)  The phrase “to the knowledge of” and similar phrases relating to
knowledge of (i) the Fund or Rehabilitator as to a particular fact or othér matter shall be deemed
to exist if (A) any of those persons listed on Schedule 1.2(g) of the Fund Disclosure Schedule is
actually aware of such fact or other matter or (B) a prudent individual in such listed person’s
position with the Fund or Rehabilitator, should reasonably be expected to be aware of such fact
or other matter in the course of performing the duties of such position; and (if) KEMI as o a
particular fact or other maiter shall be desmed to exist if (A) any of those persons listed on
Schedule 1.2(g) of the KEMI Disclosure Schedule is actually aware of such fact or other maiter
or (B) a prudent individval in such listed person’s position with KEMI should reasonably be
expected to be aware of such fact or other matter in the course of performing the duties of such
position. : ‘ '

ARTICLE 2 —- TRANSFER OF PORTFOLIO; TRANSFER PAYMENT

2.1 Transfer of Portfolio; Assumption of Liabilities.

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained in this Agreement and the
Related Agreements, including the payment of the Transfer Payment and assignment of the
Subrogation Rights and Excess Policies, at the Closing, the Rehabilitator shall sell, assign,
transfer and convey to KEMI, and KEMI shall acquire, assume and accept from the Rehabilitator
the following (the “Portfolio™): :

(i) all binders, coniracts, certificates and. other obligations of the workers’
compensation and employer’s liability insurance coverage issued by the Fund to its
Members prior to June 30, 2013 and identified on Schedule 2.1(a)(i) hereto (the
“Contracts of Coverage”), together with the liability to pay all losses, including loss
adjustment expenses, covered by the Contracts of Coverage to Members, including all
existing and incurred but not repotted (“IBNR”) claims covered by the Contracts of
Coverage and Ordinary Course Claims pending upon the Effective Date (collectively, the
“Transferred Claims™);

(i)  all rights of the Fund and KSBIT against any Person legally responsible for any
loss paid by the Fund or KEMI, including, without limitation, all rights of subrogation,




contribution, payment of retention or deductibles or indemnification by a third party
(“Subrogation Rights”), including, without limitation the Subrogation Rights identified
on Schedule 2.1(a)(ii);

(iii) all right, title and interest of the Fund and KSBIT in all excess insurance policics and
policies of reinsurance related to the Fund, including those identified on Schedule
2.1(a)(iii) hereto (the “Excess Policies™);

(iv) all accounting, actuarial and financial records, contract records, litigation files, claim

~ files, other files, images, data, correspondence, books, documents and information of
KSBIT and the Fund related to the Contracts of Coverage, IBNR, Transferred Claims,
Excess Policies, Subrogation Rights and the Fund (the “Records”), whether in paper,
electronic media or other format; and

(v) all other property necessary to managing, enforcing or defending the Contracts of
Coverage, Transferred Claims, Subrogation Rights and Excess Policies.

At the Closing, the assets that constitute the Portfolio will be delivered to KEMI free and clear of
all Liens other than the obligations under the Contracts of Coverage fiom and after Closing.

(b) At the Closing KEMI will assume only the liabilities and obligation arising out of
the Contracts of Coverage, together with the IBNR and Transferred Claims (the “Assumed
Liabilities”), and no other liabilities of the Fund or KSBIT, whether known or unknown,
liquidated or unliquidated, contingent or otherwise. All liabilities and obligations of the Fund
and KSBIT other than the Assumed Liabilities (the “Retained Liabilities”) shall be retained by
and remain liabilities and obligations of the Fund and KSBIT. For avoidance of doubt, the
Retained Liabilities shall include, and the Assumed Iiabilities shall exclude, any and all
liabilities arising out of any claim for bad faith, mishandling of claims, unlawful or unfair
settlement practices, breach of any Contract of Coverage, violations of Law, any liabilities for
borrowed money or that may be owed on surplus notes, any liability not specifically related to
the workers® compensation obligations of the Fund, and any penalty, fine or assessment claimed
by or owed to the Kentucky Department of Workers® Claims, Kentucky Department of Insurance
ot other Governmental Body, due to the actions or inactions of the Fund, KSBIT, the Kentucky
League of Cities, any third party administrator or any other Person, including any fines, penaliies
or assessments under KRS 342.267, KRS 342.990 and 803 KAR 25:240. '

(¢)  There is excluded from the Porifolio being transferred and the Fund shall retain,
all rights to indemnification by the Membexs under the Self-Insurance Agreements, except to the
extent constituting obligations to pay deductibles or retention which are being transferred as part
of the Portfolio. The Fund’s rights to indemnification by the Members under the Self-Insurance
Agreements and otherwise shall remain in full force and effect. '

2.2 Transfer Payment. In consideration for KEMI’s acceptance of the Contracts of
Coverage and attendant liabilities described above, the Rehabilitator shall pay to KEMI Thirty
Five Million Dollars ($35,000,000) (the “Transfer Payment”), in accordance with the following
terms and conditions:




(@) At the Closing, the Rehabilitator shall pay to KBEMI by, wite transfer of
immediately available funds an amount equal to the Initial Transfer Payment Installment,
which in no event may be less than [ Dollars ($ 1B

(b) - Within thirty (45) days of the Closing the Rehabilitator shall pay to KEMI
by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designed by KEMI, one
hundred percent (100%) of the Assessment collected from Members since the Closing,
less the Funding Commission Portion atiributable to such collection;

(¢)  Thereafter, commencing on August 10, 2015 and on the 10" day of each
August until August 10, 2020, the Rehabilitator shall pay to KEMI, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designated by KEMI, the amount of the
Individual Assessments collected by the Rehabilitator since the last payment of the
Transfer Payment, except that the Rehabilitator shall pay over to KEMI within ten (10)
days of receipt any Individual Assessments collected by the Rehabilitator (less the
Funding Commission Portion attributable to such collection) that (i) are received more
than ten (10) days before their due date or (if) were past due when paid. If on or prior to
August 10, 2020 KEMI has not been paid the Transfer Payment in full, the entire unpaid
amount of the Transfer Payment shall be due and payable in full on such day.

2.3 . Assessments.

(@) © Levy of Assessment. Prior to the Closing, the Rehabilitator shall assess the
Members pursiant to the Self-Insurance Agreements and applicable Law, an aggregate amount
necessary to cute the asset deficiency of the Fund so that the Fund will, upon collection of all
such assessments, be able to pay the Transfer Payment, the Funding Commission Assessment
and the Retained Liabilities not being paid by other assessments and such other liabilities and
obligations of the Fund as the Rehabilitator deems appropriate, in full (the “Assessment”). The
Assessment shall be no less than Thirty-Five Million Dollars ($35,000,000). The Assessment
shall be allocated among the Members {cach Member’s share of the Assessment is an “Individual
Assessment”) in a manner that is fair and equitable, as determined by the Rehabilitator and
approved by the Court.

(b)  Individual ASsessment Payment Option. The Rehabilitator shall permit each
Member to elect to pay its Individual Assessment in one of the following methods:

) A Member may elect to pay its Individual Assessment in full on or before the -
later of (1) the date that is thirty (30) days after the Court’s entry of the Transfer
Ozxder or (2) July 31, 2014 (the “Due Date™).

(ii) A Member may elect to pay its Individual Assessment in full on or befote the Due
Date from the proceeds from the issuance of bonds, notes or other obligations as
provided in KRS 304.48-250 and 304.50-055 or as otherwise permitted by Law.

(iii) A Member may elect to pay its Individual Assessment over a period of two (2) to
six (6) years (the “Installment Payment Method”) as provided in the form of
installment payment agreement attached as Exhibit “A” (the “Installment
Payment Agreement”).. To elect the Installment Payment Method, the Member




must on or before the Due Date (1) exccute and deliver to the Rehabilitator a
propetly completed Installment Payment Agreement (including proper adoption
by the applicable Board of Education) in the form of Exhibit “A” and (2) pay to
the Rehabilitator 25% of the Individual Assessment. A Member’s unpaid balance
of its Individual Assessment under the Installment Payment Agreement may be
prepaid at any time in full, without penalty.

If a Member has not on or prior to the Due Date either (x) paid the Individual Assessment
in full by the Due Date as provided in Sections 2.3(b)(i) or 2.3(b)(ii) or (y) executed and
delivered to the Rehabilitator a properly completed Installment Payment Agreement and
paid in full the required initial installment on or before the Due Date as required by
Section 2.3(b)(iii), the Member shall be deemed to have elected to pay the Individual
Assessment in full pursuant to Section 2.3(b)(i) and if not paid by such Due Date the
Member shall be deemed to be past due in paying the Individual Assessment and the
“Rehabilitator shall pursue the collection efforts under Section 2.3(c).

(c) Collection by Rehabilitator, The Rehabilitator will diligently pursue collection of
all Individual Assessments, including payments due under the Installment Payment Agreements.
If any Member is more than three (3) days past the date due to the Rehabilifator on any
installment payment due under the Installment Payment Agreement, the Rehabilitator will
immediately commence collection of such past due installment payment pursuant to KRS
304.50-055 and KRS 160.160(5) by the intercept of any payment due to such Member from the
Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “Intercept™) and, upon receipt of funds from such Intercept,
deposit the same into the Account and thereafter remit such funds to KEMI with future payments
of the Transfer Payment or, if earlier, within ten (10) days of receipt. To secure the Transfer
Payment and ensure the Intercept, the Rehabilitator and KEMI shall enter with the Kentucky
Departiment of Education and Kentucky Finance and Administration Cabinet the Memorandum
of Understanding in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “B” (the “Memorandum of
Understanding™).  If any Member not party to an Tnstallment Payment Agreement is past due on
paying an Individual Assessment, the Rehabilitator will commence diligent collection efforts for
the entire Individual Assessment of such Member, including effectuating an Intercept and
bringing appropriate action before the Court and attaching assets, garnishing bank accounts held
by the Member and other collection efforts a reasonably prudent judgment creditor would take.

(d)  Collection by KEMI. The Rehabilitator shall on a meonthly basis provide KEMI
with an accounting of payments of the Individual Assessments made by the Members, which
shall identify any Members who are past due in any payments of their Individual Assessments,
including under any Installment Payment Agreements. During any period in which a high level
of Individual Asscssments are anticipated to be paid (for example the one-week period prior to
the Due Date and the one-week period thereafier and the one-week period prior to and the one-
week petiod after each July 31), the Rehabilitator shall keep KEMI apprised of, and provide
information as to, collections of Individual Assessments on a more frequent basis as KEMI may
request, If any Member is past due in any payment of Individual Assessments, including any
payment due under any Installment Payment Agreement, within three (3) days of KEMI's
wiitten request the Rehabilitator shall inform KEMI in writing of whether the Intercept has been -
initiated for any past due payment, the status of the Intercept and any other collection efforts. If
KEMI determines the Rehabilitator is not diligently pursuing collection of any Individual




Assessment, KEMI shall be entitled to initiate and pursue any and all collection efforts at the
Fund’s cost that the Rehabilitator may pursue, including initiating the Intercept under the
Memorandum of Understanding,

(e) Depository. The Rehabilitator shall maintain a separate depository account for
collection of the Individual Assessments (the “Account”), which shall be invested in a Treasury
obligation. money-market fund on funds in excess of the FDIC guaranteed amount. The financial
institution shall be selected by the Rehabilitator with approval from KEMI (the “Depository”).
All collections of Individual Assessments shall be deposited info the Account.

(® - Security. To secure the payment of the Transfer Payment and obligations to
KEMI under this Agreement, the Rehabilitator shall grant KEMI a first and prior security interest
and lien in the Assessment receivable and all future assessment receivables of the Fund, the
Installment Payment Agreements, the Account and all proceeds thercof, pursuant to the form of
security agreement attached hercto as Exhibit “C” (the “Secwrity Agreemient”). The
Rehabilitator and KEMI will enter a control agreement with the Depository respecting such
security interest in form mutually agreeable to the Rehabilitator, KEMI and the Deposxtmy (the
“Control Agreement™).

24  Funding Commission Assessment. The Rehabilitator shall be responsible for and
pay the special {und assessment to the Kentucky Workers’ Compensation Funding Commission
respecting the Assessment (the “Funding Commission Assessment”). The Funding Commission
Assessment will be collected and remitted by the Rehabilitator proportionately as the Assessment
is collected in installments. The Rehabilitator and KEMI agree that while the Assessment as
collected by the Fund is subject to the Funding Commission Assessment, the Transfer Payment
paid to KEMI hereunder is not subject to a special funding assessment by the Kentucky
Workers’ Compensation Funding Commission. .

ARTICLE 3 CLOSING AND DELIVERIES

3.1 : Closing. The Parties shall hold a closing (the “Closing™) on a date mutually
agreeable to the Parties after which all the conditions to Closing set forth in Article 6 have been
satisfied or waived and KEMI has the systems in place to accept transfer and management of the
Portfolio and Transferred Claims. The date on which the Closing occurs shall be the “Closing
Date”. The Parties agree to endeavor for the Closing Date to be as soon as reasonably
practicable, :

3.2  Rechabilitator’s Deliveries. The sale, transfer, assignment and delivery by the
Rehabilitator of the Porifolio, as herein provided, shall be effected at the Closing by the
Rehabilitator’s execution, acknowledgement and delivery of the following, each in form
satisfactory to the Rehabilitator and KEMI:

(a) an assignment and assumption agreement (the “Assignment”). transferring to

- KEMI, all right, title and interest of the Fund and KSBIT in the Contracts of Coverage,
including the IBNR and the Transferred Claims, the Excess Policies, the Subrogation
Rights, the Records and all other rights and obligations under the Portfolio as
contemplated by Section 2.1;




(b)  a transition services agreement (the “Iransition Services Agreement”) in form
mutually agreeable to KEMI and the Rehabilitator providing for support services: from
the Rehabilitator and any third party administrator of the Fund necessary in order to
“ smoothly transition the management of the Portfolio, including Transferred Claims, to
KEMI, including such services as are anticipated to be necessary to effectuate the
requirements of Section 7.4;

(c) the Memorandum of Understanding;
(d)  the Security Agreement and Control Agreement; and

(e) payrﬁent to KEMI of the Initial Transfer Payment Installment by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designated by KEMI in writing.

In addition, from and after the Closing the Rehabilitator will take such actions and execute and
deliver such additional agreements and instruments of transfer as KEMI may reasonably request
to deliver to and vest in KEMI the Portfolio.

33  KEMDs Deliveries. At the Closing, KEMI shall execute, acknowledge and
deliver the following, each in form satisfactory to the Rehabilitator and KEMI:

- (a) the Assignment;
(b)  the Transition Services Agreement;
(¢)  the Memorandum of Understanding; and
(d)  the Security Agreement and Control Agreement.

In addition, from and after the Closing KEMI will take such actions and execute and deliver such
additional agreements and instruments of transfer as the Rehabilitator may reasonably 1equest to
assume the Portfolio and Assumed Liabilities.

ARTICLE 4 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE REHABILITATOR

In order to induce KEMI to enter into this Agreement, on behalf of the Fund, the
Rehabilitator makes the representations and warranties set forth below which, except as set forth
in the Fund Disclosure Schedule, are true, correct and complete on the date hereof and shall be
true, correct and complete as of the Closing:

4.1 Fund. The Fund is a workers’ compensation self-insured group under KRS
304.50-005, et. seq. and holds a valid certificate from the Kentucky Office of Insurance as
required by KRS 304.50-005, ef. seq. The Fund has all requisite power and authority to own ifs
properties and assets. Pursuant to the Self-Insurance Agreements and applicable Law governing
the Fund, the Members are jointly and severally liable for the liabilities of the Fund.

42  Rehabilitator. The Rehabilitator has filed a Petition with the Court pursua;n't to
KRS 304.33-140 and KRS 304.50-135, seeking appointment as the rehabilitator of the Fund.




Upon appointment by the Court as rehabilitator of the Fund, the Rehabilitator will have all
requisite power and authority as rehabilitator of the Fund under KRS Chapter 304, Subtitle 33.

43  Authorization and Validity. Subject o eniry of the Transfer Order, Rehabilitator
has all necessary authority fo enter into and deliver this Agreement and the Related Agreements
and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Upon entry of the
Transfer Order, the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Related Agreements and
the performance of the obligations hereunder and thereunder will have been duly and validly
authorized, as applicable, by all necessary action by Rehabilitator. This Agreement and the
Related Agreements have been, or will be at Closing, duly and validly executed and delivered by
Rehabilitator and, subject to the Court’s entry of the Transfer Order, constitute, or will constitute
when executed or delivered, valid and binding obligations of the Fund and Rehabilitator,
enforceable against the Fund and Rehabilitator in accordance with their terms. This Agreement,
and once executed and delivered by the Rehabilitator, the Related Agreements, subject to the
Court’s entry of the Transfer Order, will constitute valid and binding obligations of KSBIT with
respect to the rights and assets KSBIT holds or has held that are related to the Fund.

44  No Conflict or Violation. Subject to (a) the Court’s entry of the Transfer Order,
and (b)the receipt of the consents, waivers, authorizations and approvals set forth on
Schedule 4.4 of the Fund Disclosure Schedule, the execution, delivery and performance by
Rehabilitator and Fund of this Agreement and the Related Agreements (i) do not and will not
violate or conflict with any provision of the trust agreement, bylaws and other governing
documents of KSBIT with respect to the Fund or the Fund, (ii) do not and will not violate any
provision of any Law or any Order applicable to Rehabilitator, KSBIT, the Fund ot the Portfolio,
(iii) do not and will not violate or result in a breach of or constifuie (with due notice or lapse of
time or both) a default under any Confract entered into by KSBIT related to the Fund, the Fund
or to which the Fund’s assets are subject, and (iv) will not result in the creation ot imposition of
any Lien on the Portfolio.

4.5  Consents and Approvals. Schedule 4.5 of the Fund Disclosure Schedule sets forth
a true and complete list of each material consent, waiver, authorization or approval of any
Governmental Body or of any other Person (other than the Court’s entry of the Transfer Order),
and-each material declaration to or filing or registration with any such Governmental Body (other
than pleadings in connection with seeking the Court’s entry of the Transfer Order), that is
required in connection with such Rehabilitator’s execution, delivery and performance of ﬂns
Agreement and the Related Agreements,

4.6 Compliance with Law. The Fund is not in violation, and has not violated, any
Law, nor is the Fund in material default with respect to any Order, applicable to the Portfolio,
except in either case for such violations or defaults that have been abated or which would not
reasonably be expected to result in a Fund Material Adverse Effect,

47  Litigation.

(a)  Except for the Rehabilitation Case and claims by employees and former
employees of the Members covered by the Contracts of Coverage (“Ordinary Course Claims”),
there are no Proceedings related to the Fund or Portfolio or the transactions contemplated hereby




pending or, to the Fund’s knowledge, threatened, before any federal or state court or other
Governmental Body by or against the Fund or KSBIT relating to the Fund.

(b)  There is no Proceeding against the Fund, or KSBIT relating to the Fund,
that has been brought by a Member of the Fund, nor, to the knowledge of the Fund, has any
Member threatened to bring any Proceeding against the Fund, or KSBIT relating to the Fund.

(c) Other than facts or circumstances that might result in Ordinary Course
Claims, there are no facts or circumstances known to the Fund that could reasonably be expected
to give rise to any Claim or Proceeding that would be 1equ11ed to be disclosed pursuant to
Section 4.7 (a) or (b) above. -

(d)  Except pursuant to the Rehabilifation Case and the Ordinary Course
Claims, there are no material Orders outstanding against the Fund, KSBIT (with respect to or
that affect the Fund) or the Rehabilitator.

(&)  Schedule 4.7 to the Fund Disclosure Schedule sets forth each pending
Proceedmg that is an Ordinary Course Cla:m

4.8  QOwnership. At Closing, the Fund, or KSBIT as part of the Fund, will own and
have transferable title to the assets that constitute part of the Portfolio and the Rehabilitator will
have authority to transfer the Fund’s and KSBIT’s ownership and title to such assets to KEML
Subject to ently of the Transfer Order, all of the Fund’s, KSBIT’s and Rehabilitator’s right, title
and interest in and to the Portfolio shall be transferred to KEMI at Closing, free and clear of all
Liens.

4.9  Confracts. (a) Each of the Fund and KSBIT is in complidnce with its obligations
under the Contracts of Coverage and neither the Fund nor KSBIT, nor to the Fund’s knowledge,
any other party to any Confract of Coverage, is in default or violation under any Contract of -
Coverage. :

(b)  The Fund has paid in full all premiums due under each Excess Policy and the
Fund and KSBIT are in compliance with their obligations under each Excess Policy and neithet
the Fund nor KSBIT, nor to the Fund’s knowledge, any other party to any Excess Pohcy, is in
default or violation under any Excess Policy.

(c)  Each of the Subrogation Rights is in full force and effect and the Fund and KSBIT
have not taken any action, or failed to take any action, that would waive or otherwise impair their
ability o the ability of KEMI to fully collect the Subrogation Rights.

(d)  Other than the Contracts of Coverage, the Excess Policies and the Subrogation
Rights, there are no Contracts or rights under Contracts necessary to operate and manage the
Fund.

4.10 Intellectual Property. Schedule 4.10 to the Pund Disclosure Schedule sets forth
all Inteltectual Property owned or used by the Fund (and KSBIT with respect to the Fund) to
own, operate and manage the Portfolio. Fach of KSBIT and the Fund has a right to own or use

all such Intellectual Property through ownership or license as set forth on Schedule 4.10 to the .




Fund Disclosure Schedule. No claim is pending, or to the Fund’s knowledge has been threatened
or asserted by any Person, challenging or questioning the use by KSBIT or the Fund of any such
Intellectual Property or the validity or effectiveness of any of KSBIT’s or the Fund’s Intellectual
Property used in connection with the Fund, The use of such Intellectual Property by KSBIT and
the Fund does not infringe on the rights of any Person,

4.11  Financial Statements and Other Information. (a) Attached as Schedule 4.11 to the
Fund Disclosure Schedule are true and complete copies of the Fund’s unaudited statement of net
deficiis as of September 30, 2013, and the related unaudited statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net deficits and cash flows for the quarter then ended and the Fund’s audited
statements of net deficits as of June 30, 2103, 2012 and 2011, and the related audited statements
of revenues, expenses and changes in net deficits and cash flows for the fiscal years then ended
(collectively, the “Financial Statements”). The Financial Statements, which are attached to the
Fund Disclosure Schedule at Schedule 4.11, were prepared in accordance with GAAP,
consistently applied (except that the unaudited Financial Statements as of September 30, 2013
and for the quarter then ended are subject to normal year-end adjustments and will not include
footnotes), and fairly present the financial condition and the results of operations of the Fund as
of and for the fiscal periods therein specified, and were compiled from the books and records of
the Fund regularly maintained by management and used to prepare the Financial Statements.
Financial Statements of the Fund complied after September 30, 2013 (the “Subsequent Financial
Statements”) will be prepared in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied (except that the
Subsequent Financial Statements for any interim period will be subject to normal year-end
adjustments and will not include footnotes), and will fairly present the financial condition and
the results of operations of the Fund as of and for the fiscal periods therein specified, and will be
compiled from the books and records of the Fund 1egu1a11y maintained by management and used
to prepare the Financial Statements,

(b) The following information has been provided.to KEMI and is accurate and complete and has
not been altered, modified or updated since being provided to KEMI (the “Additional
Information™);

(i) Additional Information prepared or provided by the Kentucky League of Cities on
behalf of KSBIT:

(A) Detailed Fund Claim Data by School per Claimant

1. Paid loss, allocated loss adjustment expense, and attorney (legal)’
.expense per claim,;

2. Outstanding case reserves for each item listed in “(A)1” above;

3. Recoveries per claim;

>

Deductible per claim; and

“

Status (open/closed) per claim;
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(B) Copies of certain available Excess Policies and cover notes respecting Excess
Policies that are not available;

(C) Claim System made available to sample claim reserve adequacy;

(D) Claim Case Reserve Analysis Audit, 6/30/12, prepared by Marsh &
McLennan, dated 11/26/2012;

(E) Reserve Review & Critique, 6/30/12, prepared by Millimsn, dated 11/27/12;

(F) Analysis of Loss and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves as of
. 6/30/12, prepated by Practical Actuarial Solutions, dated 9/13/12; ) '

(G) Audited Financial Statement, prepared by Dean, Dorton, & Ford, dated
1/11/13;

(H) Reinsurance Schedules Detailing Excess & Aggregate Recoveries by Trealy
as of 6/30/2012; and

(D) Statement of Actuarial Opinion as of 6/30/13, prepared by Practical Actuarial
Solutions, dated 8/1/13,

(i)  Additional Information prepared by Taylor-Walker & Associates for or on behalf
-of the Kentucky Department of Insurance:

(1) KSBIT WC Fund Actuarial Examination as of 6/30/13, dated 8/20/13; and
(2) Summary of Discounted Net Loss and Net LAE Reserves as of 6/30/13.

The Rehabilitator acknowledges that, in addition to the Financial Statements, in entering into this
Agreement and agreeing to the amount of the Transfer Payment, timing of the payment of the
Transfer Payment and other transactions contemplated hereby, KEMI has relied upon the
Additional Information and the accuracy thereof.

4,12 Financial Advisors. None of the Fund, KSBIT or Rehabilitator nor any othex
Person on the Fund’s, KSBIT’s or Rehabilitator’s behalf has agreed to pay any brokerage fee,
finder’s fee or commission which could reasonably be expected to become the obligation of
KEMI or the Fund with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,

4,13 Taxes. All-required federal, state, local and other Tax Returns relating to the
Fund, KSBIT and the Portfolio have been accurately prepared and duly and timely filed, and ali
Taxes required to be paid with respect to the periods covered by any such returns have been
timely paid. No Tax deficiency or tax lien has been proposéd or assessed against the Fund or
Portfolio or any part thereof or against KSBIT or the Fund related to the Portfolio, and KSBIT
has not executed any waiver of any statute of limitations on the assessment or collection of any
Tax relating to the Fund or the Portfolio. No Tax audit, action, suit, proceeding, investigation ox
claim is now pending or, to the knowledge of the Fund, threatened against the Fund or KSBIT
relating to the Fund or Portfolio.
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ARTICLE 5 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF KEMI

" In otdet to induce the Rehabilitator to enter into this Agreement, KEMI makes the
representations and warranties set forth below, which are true, correct and complete on the date
hereof and shall be true, correct and complete as of the Closing:

5.1  Organization. KEMI is a nonprofit, independent, self-supporting de jure
municipal corporation and political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky created
pursuant to KRS 342,803, et. seq.

52  Authorization and Validity. KEMI has all requisitc power and authority to enter
into this Agreement and the Related Agreements to which it is a party. The execution and
delivery of this Agreement and the Related Agreements to which it is a party and the
performance of the obligations hereunder and thereunder have been duly authorized by all
necessary action by KEMI, This Agreement and the Related Agreements to which KEMI is a
party have been, or will be, duly executed by KEMI and when executed and delivered constitute
KEMTI’s valid and binding obligations, enforceable against KEMI in accordance with their terms.

5.3 Consents and Approvals. Except for entry of the Transfer Order and the matters
set forth on Schedule 5.3 of the KEMI Disclosure Schedule, no consent, approval or action of,
filing with or notice to, any Governmental Body or any other Person, on the part of KEMI is
required in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or any of
the Related Agreements to which KEMI is a party or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby.

54  Pinancial Advisors. Neither KEMI nor any Person on KEMI’s behalf has agreed
to pay any biokerage fee, finder’s fee or commission which could reasonably be expected to -
become the obligation of the Rehabilitator or Fund with respect to the fransactions contemplated
by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 6 - CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO PERFORMANCE BY PARTIES

6.1  Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations. The respective obligations of each of the
Rehabilitator and KEMI to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall
be subject to the fulfillment or waiver on or before the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) Court Approval. The entry of one or more final and non-appealable Orders by the
Court, in the form acceptable to counsel to KEMI and Rehabilitator (collectively, the “Transfer
Order™), which Orders in the aggregate: (i) approve the Petition for rehabilitation and appoint the
Rehabilitator as rehabilitator of the Fund, (ii) approve and authorize the Assessment, Individual
Assessments, form of Installment Payment Agreement, Intercept and Memorandum of
Understanding and order the collection by the Rehabilitator of the Individual Assessments, (iii)
find that the Intercept is a lawful and proper mechanism to ensure payment of the Assessment to
the Rehabilitator and payment of the Transfer Payment to KEMI and order all Kentucky
Governmental Bodies involved in payments due to Members to effect the Intercept, (iv) approve
and authorize the entering of this Agreement by the Rehabilitator and performance by the
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Rehabilitator, Fund and KSBIT of the obligations hereunder, including execution and delivery of
the Memorandum of Understanding, Installment Payment Agreements and Security Agreement
and payment of the Transfer Payment as contemplated by this Agreement, (v) approve and
authorize the assignment and transfer of the Portfolio, free and clear of any Liens, as
contemplated by this Agreement, including assignment and fransfer of the Excess Policies to
KEMI as contemplated by this Agreement, irrespective of any restrictions or limitations or
requirements for endorsements contained in the Excess Policies respecting assignment or transfer
thereof, (vi) find and order that KEMI will have, upon execution and delivery of the Security
Agreement, filing of a financing statement with the Kentucky Secretaty of State and entering the
Control Agreement, a valid and enforceable first and prior security interest and Hen under
applicable Kentucky Law in the collateral identified in the Security Agreement, (vii) find and
order that the Transfer Payment paid to KEMI hereunder is not subject to a special funding
assessment by the Kentucky Workers® Compensation Funding Commission, (viii) order the
Rehabilitator to make any Necessary Future Assessments, (ix) find and order that if the Fund is
to enter a liquidation proceeding under Subtitle 33 of KRS Chapter 304, the Transfer Payment
will be deemed an administrative expense of, and secured claim against, the Fund, and (ix)
approve and authorize the consummation of all other fransactions contemplated by this
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The Rehabilitator shall
provide all Members of the Fund, creditors of the Fund, holders of Liens and Claims against the
Fund and issuers of the Excess Policies, timely notice of the proposed entry of the Transfer
Order and hearing for the same; copies and proof of service of the foregoing, together with a
certified copy of the Transfer Order, shall be delivered to KEMI on or before the Closing.

(b)  Injunctions. There shall not be outstanding any Ouder prohibiting the

consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and no Proceeding shall have

" been commenced which could reasonably be expected to prohibit the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby.

_ (¢)  No Change in Law. There shall not have been any action taken or any Law
enacted by any Governmental Body which would render the Parties unable to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby or make the transactions contemplated hereby illegal or
prohibit the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. '

(d) Initial Transfer Payment Installment, The Rehabilitator shaﬂl have on behalf of
the Fund collected sufficient funds to enable the Rehabilitator to pay the Initial Transfer Payment
Installment at Closing,

6.2  Conditions Precedent to Performance by the Rehabilitator. The obligations of the
Rehabilitator to consummate the fransactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the
fulfillment, at or before the Closing, of the following conditions, any one or more of which may
be waived by the Rehabilitator in its sole discretion:

()  Representations, Warranties and Obligations of KEML All
representations. and warranties made by KEMI in Auticle 5, shall be true and correct in all
material respects on the date of this Agreement and on and as of the Closing Date (except to the
extent that any such representation and warranty is made as of a specified date, in which case
such representation and watranty shall continue to be made as of such specified date), and the
covenants and agreements of KEMI to be performed on or before the Closing Date shall have
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been duly performed in all material respects in accordance with this Agreement, and the
Rehabilitator shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and 51gned by an officer of
KEM], to that effect.

(b)  Consents and Approvals. All consents, approvals and actions of, filings
with and notices to any Governmental Body or other Person necessary to permit the Rehabilitator
to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Related Agreements and to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (mcludmg transfer of the Portfolio) (i) shall
have been duly obtained, made or given, (ii) shall be in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Rehabilitator, (iii) shall not be subject to the satisfaction of any condition that
has not been satisfied or waived, and (iv) shall be in full force and effect, and all terminations or
expirations of waiting periods imposed by any Governmental Body necessary for the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements
shall have occurred.

6.3  Conditions Precedent to Performance by KEMI, The obligations of KEMI to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment, at or
before the Closing, of the following conditions, any one or mote of which may be waived by
KEMI in its sole discretion:

(a)  Representations, Warranties and' Obligations of the Rehabilitator. The
representations and warranties made by the Rehabilitator in Article 4, individually and in the
aggregate, shall be true and correct in all material tespects on the date of this Agreement and on
and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent that any such representation and warranty is
made as of a specified date, in which case such representation and warranty shall continue to be
made as of such specified date), and the covenants and agreements of the Rehabilitator to.be
performed on or before the Closing Date shall have been duly performed in all material respects
in accordance with this Agreement, and KEMI shall have received a certificate, dated the
Closing Date and signed by the Rehabilitator to that effect.

(b)  Transfer Free of Liens. The Portfolio shall be transferred to KEMI free
and clear of all Liens.

(¢)  No Fund Material Adverse Effect. Between the date of this Agreement
and the Closing Date, there shall not have occurred any Fund Material Adverse Effect, or any
event or development which, individually or together with such other events, could reasonably
be expected to result in a Fund Material Adverse Effect.

(d)  Consents and Approvals. All consents, approvals and actions of, filings
with and notices to any Governmental Body or other Person necessary to permit KEMI and the
Rehabilitator to perform their obligations under this Agreement and the Related Agreements and
to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (including transfer of the
Portfolio), (i) shall have been duly obtained, made or given, (ii) be in form and substance
satisfactory to KEMI, (iii) shall not be subject to the satisfaction of any condition that has not
been satisfied or waived, and (iv) shall be in full force and effect, and all terminations or
expitations of waiting periods imposed by any Governmental Body necessary for the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements
shall have occurred.
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(e).  Order from Commissioner. KEMI shall have received a final and non-
appealable Order from the Commissioner of the Department of Insurance that the receivable
KEMI will book as a result of the Transfer Payment shall be a State Prescribed Difference from
NAIC Statutory Accounting Principles and shall be reported as an admitted asset for purposes of
statutory accounting and determination of solvency.

® Payment of Individual Assessments. - Individual Assessments shall have
been paid in full, or a properly completed Installment Payment Agreement (as contemplated by
Section 2.3(b)(iii)) shall have been executed and delivered and the first installment payment
required. by Section 2.3(b)(iii) shall have been paid, by Members that in the aggregate (i)
constitute 90% or more of the Members by number liable for the Assessment and (ii) owe at least
90% of the total Assessment by dollar amount.

ARTICLE 7 - COVENANTS

7.1 Covenants of the Rehabilitator. The Rehabilitator covenants as follows:

(a) Access to Properties and Records; Confidentiality. The Rehabilitator shall
afford to KEMI, and to the accountants, counsel and representatives of KEMI, reasonable access .
during norrnal business hours throughout the period before the Closing (or the eatlier termination
of this Agreement pursuant to Article 8) to all books and records of the Fund and Rehabilitator
relating to the Fund and the Portfollo :

(b)  Further Assurances. At the request and the sole expense of KEMI, at any
time after the Closing Date, the Rehabilitator shall execute and deliver such documents as KEMI
or its counsel may reasonably request to effectuate the purposes of this Agreement or further vest
owneiship and title in the Portfolio in KEMI,

(c) Conduct of Operations. From the date hereof until the Closing, the
Rehabilitator shall, except as otherwise permitted, required or contemplated by this Agreement
or applicable Law, (i)(A) maintain and manage the Portfolio using prudent indusiry practices,
~and (B) comply, in all material respects, with all Contracts, Laws and Orders and promptly
following receipt thereof, give KEMI copies of any notice received from any Governmental
Body or other Person alleging any material violation of any such Contract, Law or Order; and
(ii) the Rehabilitator shall not (A) permit the Fund to enter any new contracts of coverage or
extend any new policies, (B) sell, transfer or lease any material properties or assets to any Person
other than use of the assets in connection with management and payment of Ordinary Course
Claims, or (C) engage in any {ransaction with any officer, director or Affiliate of the Fund.

(d)  Rechabilitation Case. The Rehabilitator covenants and agrees to use
commercially reasonable efforts in the Rehabilitation Case to prevail therein and in obtaining a
Transfer Order in form and substance acceptable to the Rehabilitator and KEMI.

(e) No Release. The Rehabilitator and Fund will not release any Member
from its liabilities and obligations to the Fund, including its joint and several liabilities and
obligations with all Members.
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H Subsequent Financial Statements, Commencing with the quarter ended
December 31, 2013, the Rehabilitator shall cause to be prepared and delivered to KEMI within
45 days after the end of each quarter the unaudited statement of deficit and the related statements
of revenues, expenses and changes in net deficit and cash flow for the quarter. In addition, the
Rehabilitator shall provide KEMI with such other interim reports as KEMI may reasonably
request that are prepared by the Rehabilitator in administering the Fund.

(g)  Future Assessments. If the amount of the Assessment actually collected,
or anticipated to be collected in a reasonable time, is insufficient to satisfy in full payment of the
Transfer Payment, other obligations under this Agreement and other Retained Liabilities,
including expenses to administer the rehabilitation of the Fund and any other existing Retained
Liabilities or Retained Liabilities that arise in the future, then the Rehabilitator on behalf of the
Fund shall levy additional assessments on the Members necessary to fully satisfy all such
Retained Liabilities, including payment of the Transfer Payment and other obligations under this
Agreement (“Necessary Future Assessments™),

7.2 Covenants of KEMI. KEMI covenants as follows:

()  Access to Books and Records. Following the Closing Date, KEMI agrees
to give access to the Rehabilitator or its designees, as promptly as practicable, to such
accounting, business, financial and Tax records and information (A) relating to the Portfolio that
-are in existence on the Closing Date and transferred to KEMI hereunder, or (B) coming info
existence after the Closing Date that relate to the Portfolio before the Closing, as the
Rehabilitator determines is reasonably necessary for any Tax, regulatory or business purpose of
the Fund. Such access shall include, without limitation, access to any computerized information -
tetrieval systems relating to the Portfolio. KEMI agrees that it will in accordance with its own
record retention and destruction policies refain possession of and destroy accounting, business,
financial and Tax-records and information (A) relating to the Portfolio that are in existence on
the Closing Date and transferred to KEMI hereunder, or (B) coming into existence after the
Closing Date that relate to the Portfolio before the Closing.

(b) KEMI’s Cooperation with the Rehabilitation Case. KEMI covenants and
agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Rehabilitator in the

Rehabilitation Case and in obtaining a Transfer Order in form and substance acceptable to the
Rehabilitator and KEMI,

(¢)  Return of Excess Transfer Payment, KEMI agrees that after it has
satisfied all the Assumed Liabilifies, including Transferred Claims and other claims that may be
brought in connection with the Assumed Liabilities, and determined in its discretion that there is
no further potential liability arising from the Assumed Liabilities, including any potential future
claims, that it will return- to the Rehabilitator (for the use and benefit of the Members), the
amount by which the Transfer Payment received by KEMI under this Agreement exceeds the
Portfolio Costs and Expenses. The “Portfolio Costs and Expenses” means all amounts paid or
expended in satisfying the Assumed Liabilities, including amounts paid on judgments, in
settlement, and in administration of the Transferred Claims and other claims, and all other out-
of-pocket expenses and costs incurred in connection with transfer and management of the
Portfolio, all as determined by KEMI in its discretion.
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73 Covenants of the Parties.

(a)  Consents. The Parties shall promptly apply for and diligently prosecute all
applications for, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts prompily to obtain, such
consents, authorizations and approvals fiom such Governmental Bodies and third parties as shall
be necessary or appropriate to permit the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to bring about the satisfaction as soon
as practicable of all the conditions necessary to effect the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. Each Party will also use all reasonable efforts o take or cause
to be taken all actions necessary, proper or advisable to comply with all legal requirements that
may be imposed on it with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby
and, subject to the provisions hereof, to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement as promptly as practicable.

(b)  Publicity. KEMI and the Rehabilitator will consult with each other as to
the timing, form and substance of any press release or other public disclosure materially related
to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. :

7.4 Covenants Related to Transition of Portfolio,

(a) Promptly following the Closing Date, the Rehabilitator shall deliver or
cause the Fund to deliver to the named insureds under the Contracts of Coverage and the issuers
of the Excess Policies a notice of transfer in form mutually agreeable to KEMI and the
Rehabilitator,

(b) . The Rehabilitator shall cooperate with and assist KEMI in KEMI
becoming the suceessor party to the Réhabilitator respecting any Transferred Claims.

‘(c)  The Rehabilitator and KEMI recognize that transfer of the management of
the Portfolio, including the Transferred Claims, will require significant cooperation over an
extended period of time. 'The Rehabilitator and KEMI agree to transition possession of the
Records to KEMI sufficiently in advance of Closing so that as of Closing KEMI will be able to
manage the Portfolio, including the Transferred Claims, in a reasonable manner and -in

-compliance with Law. If the Records are transferred to KEMI and the Closing does not oceur,
KEMI shall immediately return all such Records to the Rehabilitator upon the Rehabilitator’s
demand and shall have no rights therein. The Rehabilitator shall cooperate with KEMI, and shall
cause any third party administrator of the Fund to cooperate with KEMI at the Fund’s expense,
in transferring all Records from the Fund and its third party administrators to KEMI in a manner
and format usable by KEMI for conversion to KEMI’s software and management systems.

(d)  Any payments received by or due to the Fund or KSBIT from any issuer
of Excess Policies from and after the Closing shall be paid to KEMI upon receipt.

(e) Any payments received from any Person on account of Subrogation Rights
from and after Closing transferred hereunder shall become the property of and be paid to KEML
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(O If any payment is received by the Fund or KSBIT which is to be credited
to KEMI under or with respect to any of the Transferred Claims, the Rehabilitator will cause the
Fund or KSBIT to immediately endorse and deliver to KEMI such checks, drafts, or money
intended as such payment, and until delivery of such items to KEMI, the Fund and KSBIT will

treat any such checks, drafis, or money as the property of KEMI held for the account of and in
trust for KEMI,

(g) (i) From and after the Closing Date, KEMI will be solely liable for the
payment of Transferred Claims, including, without limitation, the defense, adjustment,
settlement, and payment of all losses and expenses arising under or relating to the Transferred
Claims. THowever, until the Closing Date, the Rehabilitator shall continue to administer and be
liable for the defense, adjustment, settlement, and payment of all losses and expenses arising
under or relating to the Transferred Claims. :

(i)  The Rehabilitator will cause all information and notices regarding
the Transferred Claims actually received by the Fund after the Closing Date to be
promptly reported to XEMI. The Rehabilitator also will undertake any reasonable
arrangements deemed necessary by KEMI to ensure that all notices received by the Fund
after the Closing Date in connection with the Transferred Claims are promptly delivered
to KEMI. The Rehabilitator shall be responsible for, and shall indemnify KEMI against,
any fines, penalties, assessments, damages and other losses, including reasonable
expenses and costs of defense (including attorneys’ fees), claimed by or owed to any
Person resulting from delay in or the failure of Rehabilitator to forward information and
notices to KEMI as required above.

ARTICLE § - TERMNATION

8.1  Termination. This Agreement may be-terminated prior to the Closing (but not
after Closing):

(8) By mutual consent of KEMI and the Rehabilitator;

(b) By either the Rehabilitator or KEMI after September 30, 2014 (as such
date may be extended by the Parties by mutual written agreement), if the Closing has not
occurred by such date; provided, however, that as of such date the Party terminating this
Agreement is not in default under this Agreement;

{c) Provided the terminating Party is not otherwise in default or breach of this
Agreement, and has not failed or refused to close without justification hereunder, by either
KEMI or the Rehabilitator, without prejudice to other rights and remedies which the terminating
Party may have, if the other Party shall (i) have materially failed to perform its covenants or
agreements contdined herein required to be performed on or prior to the Closing Date, or
(i} have materially breached any of its representations or warranties contained herein; provided,
however, that in the case of clause (i) or (ii), the defaulting Party shall have a period of thirty
(30) days following wiiiten notice from the non-defaulting Party to cure any breach of this
Agreement, if such breach is curable;
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(d) By KEMI, upon the Rehabilitator or Fund entering info a definitive
agreement for any transaction (or series of transactions) involving a material portion of the
- Portfolio to a Person other than KEMI or effecting any other transaction the consummation of
which would be substantially inconsistent with the transactions herein contemplated, including
without limitation proposing a plan of reorganization that would be so inconsistent;

(e) By either the Rehabilitator or KEMI if (A) any court of competent
jurisdiction (other than the Court) or other competent Governmental Body (other than the Court)
has issued an order which has become final and non-appealable or (B) any Law is in effect, in
either case, restricting, restraining or altering in a material manner or enjoining or otherwise
prohibiting or making illegal the effectuation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
or the effect hereof;

(f) By either the Rehabilitator or KEMI if the Court has issued an order which
has become final and non-appealable restricting or restraining in a material manner or denying or
enjoining or otherwise prohibiting or making illegal the effectuation of any of the {ransactions
contemplated by this Agreement; or :

() By cither the Rehabilitator or KEMI if the Court confirms a plan of
rehabilitation for the Fund in the Rehabilitation Case that does not contemplate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or the Fund enters liquidation proceedings.

8.2  Effect of Termination; Remedies. In the event of termination of this Agreement
pursuant to this Article 8, (i) all rights and obligations of the Patties shall terminate, except the
obligations of the Parties pursuant to Article 8 and Article 10, and (ii) no Party shall be entitled
to any damages from the other Party, except (A) if this Agreement is terminated by a Party due
to the willful breach by the other Party, the non-breaching Party shall be entitled fo all damages
at law or in equity and (B) if this Agreement is terminated by KEMI under Section 8.2(d) or by
KEMI or Rehabilitator under Section 8.2 (), (f) or (g) and the Rehabilitator supported or did not
object to the Order or confirmation on which the termination is based, then Rehabilitator shall
reimburse KEMI from the Fund for all actual costs and expenses of KEM], including attorneys’
and other professional fees incurred by KEMI in preparing and entering this Agreement and
patticipating and assisting in the Rehabilitation Case.

ARTICLE 9 INDEMNIFICATION

9.1  Survival. The representations and warranties of the Parties under this Agreement
shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Closing of the transactions
contemplated hereby for a period of six years. The covenants and agreement of the Parties under
this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Closing of the
transactions contemplated hereby indefinitely.

9.2  Indemmification of KEMI by the Rehabilitator. The Rehabilitator, on behalf of the
Fand, agrees the Fund shall indemnify and hold KEMI, its directors, managers, officers employees
and agents (collectively, the “KEMI Indemnitees™) harmless from any and ajl liabilities, obligations,
claims, contingencies, damages, costs and expenses, including all court costs and reasonable
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attorneys’ fees (collectively, “Losses™), that KEMI may suffer or incur as a result of or relating to:

(@ . the breach of any representation or warranty made by the Rehabilitator in
this Agreement or the Related Agreements;

(b) ~ the breach of any covenant or agreement of the Rehabilitator under this
Agreement; and :

(c)  the Retained Liabilities.

93  Indemnification of the Rehabilitator. KEMI shall indemnify and hold the
Rehabilitator and Fund, and each of the Rehabilitator’s and Fund’s officers, directors, employees,
and agents (collectively, the “Fund Indemnitees”) harmless from any and all Losses that any Fund

. Indemnitee may suffer or incur as a result of or relating to:

(a)  the breach of any representation or warranty made by KEMI in this
Agreement or the Related Agreements;

(b)  the breach of any covenant or agreement of KEMI under this Agreement;
and

()  the Assumed Liabilities.
9.4 Procedures.

(a) Any KEMI Indemnitee  or Fund Indemnitee desiring indemnification under this
Atticle 9 and entitled thereto (an “Indemnified Party”) shall, within the relevant limitation period
provided for in Section 9.1, promptly upon becoming awate theteof, give written notice thereof
to the Party obligated to indemnify such Indemnified Party (such notified Party, the “Responsible °
Party”); provided that the failure to so notify shall not relieve the Responsible Party of its
obligations hereunder, except to the exient that the Responsible Party is actually prejudiced
thereby. Such notice by such Indemnified Pacty shall state the amount of the claim, if known,
and the method of computation thereof, the nature of such claim and a reference to the provision
of this Agreement upon which such claim is based, all with reasonable. particularity.

(b)  If a claim, action, suit or proceeding by a Person other than a Party hereto or its
respective Affiliates (a “Third Party Claim™) is made against any Indemnified Party, and if such
Indemnified Party intends to seek indemnification with respect thereto under this Article 9, such
Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Responsible Party of such claims; provided that the
failure {o so notify shall not relieve the Responsible Party of its obligations hereunder, except to
the extent that the Responsible Party is actually prejudiced thereby.

(c) With respect to any Third Party Claim, the Responsible Party shall have thirty
(30) days after receipt of such notice fo assume the conduct and control, at the expense of the
Responsible Party, of the settlement or defense thereof, and the Indemnified Party shall
cooperate with it in connection therewith; provided that the Responsible Party shall permit the
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Indemnified Party to participate in such settlement or defense through counsel chosen by such
Indemnified Party and the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be borne by the Indemnified
Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Responsible Party shall not be entitled to assume
confrol of the defense as to any matter, and if subject to indemnification under this Article 9,
shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel selected and retained by the Indemnified
Party, if: (i) the Responsible Party does not undertake the defense of such Third Party Claim
within thirty (30) days after the receipt of the Indemnified Party’s notice of a claim for
indemnification hereunder; (ii) the claim for indemnification relates to or arises in connection
with any criminal proceeding, action, indictment, allegations or investigation against the
Indemnified Party; or (iii) the Indemnified Party reasonably shall have concluded (upon written
advice of its counsel) that, with respect to such claims, the Indemnified Party and the
Responsible Party may have conflicting interests (collectively, the “Litigation . Control
Conditions™). If the Indemnified Party assumes the conirol of the defense of such claim because
the claim meets one or more of the Litigation Control Conditions, the Indemnified Party shall
have the right to asswme control of the defense of the claim but shall not thereby waive any right
to indemnification therefor pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that the Indemnified
Party shall not consent to an eniry of judgment or settle such claim without the prior written
consent of the Responsible Party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Responsible
Party shall, if it agrees to pay the full amount thereof, be permitted independently to consent fo
an entry of judgment or settle any Third Party Claim, provided that in the event such judgment or
settlement includes any obligation being imposed on the Indemnified Party other than the
payment of cash, then such judgment or settlement shall not be entered into without the prior
written consent of the Indemnified Party.

(d Any Indemnified Party shall cooperate in all reasonable respects with the
Responsible Party and its attorneys in the investigation, trial and defense of any Third Party
Claim and any appeal arising therefrom.,

10 MISCELLANEOUS

10.1 Expenses. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.2(ii)(B), whether or not the
transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Rehabilitator and Fund, on the one hand,
and KEMI, on the other hand, shall bear their own respective costs and expenses, including,
without limitation, fees, disbursements and other costs of any brokers, finders, investment
bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors, in connection with this Agreement and the-
transactions contemplated hereby.

10.2 Notices. All notices under this Agreement shall be given to the Parties at the

following addresses (1) by personal delivery; (ii) by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt
requested; and (iii) by nationally recognized overnight or other express courier services:
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If to KEMI:

Kentucky Employers’ Mutual Insurance
250 West Main Street, Suite 900
Lexington, Kentucky 40507

Attn: Michelle Landers, General Counsel
Facsimile: '

With a copy to:

Stoll Keenon Ogden PLLC

300 West Vine Street, Suite 2100
Lexington, Kentucky 40507
Attn: J. David Smith, Jr.
Facsimile: (859) 246-3662

If to the Rehabilita?or:

With a copy to:

All notices shall be effective and shall be deemed delivered (i) if by personal delivery, on
the date of delivery if delivered during normal business hours of the recipient, and if not
delivered during such normal business hours, on the next Business Day following delivery; (ii) if
by courier service, on the next Business Day after dispaich thereof: and (iii) if by mail, on the
third (3rd) Business Day after dispatch thereof. Any Party hereto may change its address by
notice to all Parties hereto delivered in accordance with this Section 10.2. '

103 . Amendments. No supplement, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be
binding unless in writing and executed by each Party hereto.

, 104 Waiver. At any time prior to the Closing, KEMI or the Rehabilitator may

(a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other Party
hereto, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other Party
contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto, and (c) waive compliance with
any of the obligations of the other Party or any of the conditions to its own obligations contained
herein to the extent permitted by law. Any agreement on the patt of KEMI, on the one hand, and
the Rehabilitator, on the other hand, to any such exiension or waiver shall be valid only if set
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forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of KEMI and the Rehabilitator. The failure of
a Party to exercise any right or remedy shall not be deemed or constitute a waiver of such right
or remedy in the future. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed
ot shall constitute a waiver of any other similar or dissimilar provision hereof, nor shall any such
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.

10.5 Headings. The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes
only and shall not affect il any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

10.6  Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations -
hereunder shall be assigned by any of the Parties hercto (whether by operation of law or
otherwise) to any Person without the prior written consent of the other Parties. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the rights, interests and obligations of the Rehabilitator shall automatlcally be
assigned to any successor rehabilitator of the Fund.

10.7  Parties in Tnferest. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the
benefit of the Parties hereto and their successors (by way of successors in office, successors as
rehabilitator of the Fund, merger, conversion or otherwise) and permitted assigns, and nothing in
this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to confer upon any other Person any rights or
remedies of any nature under or by reason of this Agreement,

10.8  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed to constitute an original, but ali of which shall constitute one and
the same instriment, and shall becoine effective when one or more counterparts have been
signed by each of the Pa1t1§:s hereto.

10.9  Severability, If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is
held by a court of competent jurisdiction fo be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of
the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and
cffect and shall in no way be-affected, impaired or invalidated. It is heteby stipulated and
declared to be the intention of the Parties that they would have executed the remaining terms,
provisions, covenants and restrictions without including any of such which may be hereafter
declared invalid, void or unenforceable. In such case, the Parties hereto shall promptly meet and
negotiate substitute provisions for those rendered or declared illegal or unenforceable so as to
preserve as nearly as possible the contemplated economic effects of the t1ansact10ns
contemplated hereby.

10.10 Entire Agreement, This Agreement and the exhibits, schedules and addenda
hereto and the Related Agreements constifute the entire agreement among the Parties hereto and
supetsede all prior agreements and understandings oral or written, among the Parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. There are no warranties, representations or other
agreements between the Parties in connection with the subject matter hereof except as set forth
specifically herein or in the Related Agreements or contemplated hereby or thereby.

10.11 "~ Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed according

to the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, without regard to or application of its conflict of
~ laws principles. The Parties to this Agreement agree that the Court shall have exclusive
jurisdiction, and the Parties hereby submit to such jurisdiction, of any dispute arising under or
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1'eléted to this Agreement. THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL
BY JURY RESPECTING ANY CLAIM BROUGHT AGAINST THE OTHER PARTY
ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.

10.12 Not Construed Against Any One Party. This Agreement is the result of
negotiations among, and has been reviewed by, the Parties hereto. Accordingly, this Agreement
shall be deemed to be the product of all Parties, and no ambiguity shall be construed in favor of
or against any Party.

10.13 Enforcement. KBEMI may either at law ot in equity, by suit, action, mandamus or
other Proceedings, enforce and compel performance by the Rehabilitator, the Fund and KSBIT
(with respect to the Fund and rights and assets KSBIT holds or has held for the Fund), and their
officers and agents of all duties imposed or required by Law or by this Agreement.

10.14 Rehabilitator’s Liability Limited to the Fund. The obligations of Rehabilitator
hereunder are as Rehabilitator of the Fund and the obligations of Rehabilitator hereunder shall be
limited to the assets of the Fund, provided Rehabilitator shall be required to levy appropriate
assessments against the Members of the fund to fund the Rehabilitator’s and Fund’s liabilities
and obligations hereunder. Rehabilitator agrees not to withdraw as rehabilitator of the Fund, or
seek or support any motion to withdraw as rehabilitator of the Fund, until such time as the
Transfer Payment is paid in full. At any time after the Rehabilitator ceases to be Rehabilitator of
the Fund, this Agreement shall be binding on the Fund.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the
duly authorized representatives of KEMI and the Rehabilitator on the date first above written.

115637.147051/4161923.1

REHABILITATOR:

SHARON P. CLARK, COMMISSIONER OF
THE KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF
INSURANCE, IN HER CAPACITY AS
REHABILITATOR OF THE KENTUCKY
SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION SELF-
INSURANCE FUND

KEMI:

KENTUCKY EMPLOYERS' MUTUAL
INSURANCE :

By:

Jon E. Stewart, President and Chief
Executive Officer
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ADDENDUM “A”
TO LOSS PORTFOLIO TRANSFER AGREEMENT

‘When used in the Loss Portfolio Transfer Ag1eement of which this Addendum “A” is a
part, the following terms shall have the following meaning.

“Account” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3.
““Additional Information” has the meaning aséigned to it in Section 4.11.

“Affiliate” means, as applied to a specific Person, any Person that directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is under commeon control with
the Person specified. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including the terms
“controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”) shall mean the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and
policies of a Person, whether through 'the ownership of voting securities or by Contract or
otherwise.

“Assessment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3.

“Agreement” means that certain Loss Portfolio Transfer Agreement of which this
Addendum “A” forms a part.

“Assignment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 3.2.
“Assumed Liabilities” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Safurday, Sunday or other day on which
national or state banking associations are required or permitted by law to be closed in Kentucky.

“Claim” means any written action, suit, Proceeding, hearing, investigation, litigation,
charge, complain, claim or demand.

“Closing™ has the meaning assigned to it in Section 3.1.
“Closing Date” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 3.1.

. “Contracts” means shall mean with respect to a Person any legally binding written or
oral agreement, arrangement, authorization, commitment, contract, indenture, instrument, lease
{except for the Leases), obligation, plan, practice, restriction, order, permit, understanding or
undertaking of any kind or character, or other document to which that Person is a party or that is
binding on that Person or its equity capital, assets or business.

“Contracts of Coverage” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1.

“Control Agrecment” has the meaning assigned {o it in Section 2.3.




“Court” has the meaning assigned to if in the Recitals to the Agreement.
“Deposttory” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3.
“Duc Date” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3,
“Excess Policies” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1.
“Fund” has the meaning assigned to it in the Recitals to the Agreement,

“Fund Disclosure Schedule” means that certain disclosure schedule delivered to KEMI
by the Rehabilitator simultancously with entering this Agreement.

“Fund Indemnitees” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.3.

“Fund Material Adverse Effect” means (a) an adverse ‘effect on the validity or
enforceability of this Agreement or any of the Related Agreements in any material respect, (b) an
adverse effect on the condition (financial or other) of the Fund or assets or liabilities of the
Portfolio, taken as a whole, in any material respect, or (¢) an impairment of the ability of the
Rehablhtatm or Fund to fulfill its respective obligations under this AgLeement or any of the
Related Agreements in any material respect.

“Funding Commission Assessment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.4.

“Funding Commission Portion” means each Member’s share of the Funding Commission
Assessment as provided in the assessment plan approved by the Rehabilitator and the Court,

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States,
consistently applied.

“Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, state, county, city, town, village, district or
other jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government;
(c) governmental or quasi-Governmental Body of any nature (including any self-regulatory
organization, governmental agency, branch, department, official or entity and any court or other
tribunal); (d) multi-national organization or body; or (¢) body exercising, or entitled to exercise,
any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing authority or power
of any nature.

“IBNR” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1.

“Indebtedness” of any Person means any obligations of such Person, whether or not
contingent, (a) for borrowed money, (b) evidenced by notes, bonds, indentures or simildr
instruments, (c) for the deferred purchase price of goods and services, other than trade payables
incutred in the ordinary course of business, (d) under capital leases, (e) that would be shown as
debt on a balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordance with GAAP, and (f) in the nature
of direct or indirect guarantees of the abligations described in clauses (a) through (¢) above of
any other Person.




“Indemnified Party” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.4.
“Individual Assessment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3,

“Initial Transfer Payment Installment” means the sum of (i) all of the cash, cash
equivalents and securities held by the Fund as of Closing, less a reasonable reserve determined
by the Rehabilitator for the cash needs of the Fund to pay obligations (other than the Transfer
Payment) as they come due, including costs of administration of the rehabilitation, and after
taking into account anticipated timing of receipt of the Assessment from the Members, and (if) -
an amount equal to the entire Assessment collected as of Closing (less the Funding Comimission
Portion), but in no event shall the Initial Transfer Payment Installment be less than

[$ 1.

“Intellectual Property” means domestic patents and patent rights, trademarks and
trademark rights, trade names and trade name rights, service marks and service mark rights,
service name and service name rights, brand names, inventions, processes, formulae, copyrights,
business and product names, logos, slogans, trade secrets, industrial models, designs, computer
programs, business telephones, facsimile and e-mail addresses, websites and technology, and
software (including all source codes) and related documentation, drawings, know-how, methods,
processes, technology, engineering specifications, procedures, bills of material, trade sccrets, all -
pending applications for and registrations of patents, trademarks, service marks and copyrights
and any other intangible propetty, including all rights to any such property which is owned by
and licensed from others and any goodwill associated with any of the above.

“Intercept” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3.

“Installment Payment Agreement” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3,
“Installment Payment Method” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3.

“KEMI” has the meaning assigned to it in the first literary paragraph of the Agreement.

“KEMI Disclosure Schedule” means that éertain disclosure schedule delivered to the
Rehabilitator by KEMI simultancously with entering this Agreement,

“KEMI Indemnitees” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.2

“KEMI Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on the ability of the
Buyer to fulfill its obligations under this Agréement or any of the Related Agreements,

KRS” has the meaning assigned to it in the Recitals to this Agreement.
“KSBIT” has the meaning assigned to it in the recitals to the Agreement.

“Laws” means all laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, judicial decisions, and
other pronouncements having the effect of law of the United States, any foreign country or any
domestic or foreign state, county, city or other political subdivision or of any Governmental
Body.




“Liens” means any mortgage, pledge, assessment, security interest, lease, judgment lien,
tax lien, mechanic’s lien, materialman’s lien, other lien, adverse claim, levy, option, right of first
refusal, charge, debenture, indenture, deed of trust, right-of-way, restriction, encroachment,
license, lease, security agreement, or other encumbrance of any kind, and other restrictions or
limitations on the use or ownership of real or personal property or irregularities in title thereto or
any conditional sale contract, title retention contract or other Contract to glve any of the
foregoing.

“Losses” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.2.

“Members” means all Persons who are or were members of the Fund (including any and
all successors of Persons who were members of the Fund) at any time,

“Memeorandum of Understanding” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3.
“Necessary Future Assessments™ has the meaning assigned to it in Section 7.1.

“Order” means any writ, judgment, decree, injunction, or similar order of any
Governmental Body, in each such case whether preliminary or final.

“Ordinary Course Claim” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 4.7.

“Parties” and “Party” has the meaning assigned to it in the first literary paragraph of this
Agreement. '

“Petition” has the meaning assigned to it in the Recitals to the Agreement.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, genelal
partnership, limited partnership, proprietorship, other business organization, entity, trust, union,
association or Governmental Body.

“Portfolio” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1.
“Portfolio Costs and Expenses” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 7.2.
“Transfer Payment” has the meaning assigned fo it in Section 2.2.

“Proceeding” means any action; suit, proceeding, arbitration, investigation or audit,
whether or not by any Governmental Body.

“Records” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1.

“Rehabilitation Case” means the Proceeding brought by the Rehabilitator before the
Court pursuant to the Petition to tehabilitate the Fund pursuant to KRS Chapter 344, Subtitle 33.

“Rehabilitator” has the meaning assigned to it in the first literary paragraph of the
Agreement, and includes the successors in office of the Commissioner of the Office of Insurance
of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and any other successor rehabilitator of the Fund.




“Related Agreements” means (a) the Assignment, (b) the Transition Services Agreement,
(c) the Security Agreement, (d) the Confrol Agreement, (e) the Memorandum of Understanding,
() the Tnstallment Payment Agreements, and (g) any other agreement, certificate or similar
document to be executed by any Parly hereto in connection with this Agreement.

“Responsible Party™ has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.4.
“Retained Liabilities” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1,
“Security Agreement” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.3.

“Self-Insurance Agreements” means the agreements entered into by the Members with
the Fund or KSBIT providing for indemnity of the Fund and/or agreeing to be liable for
liabilities of the Fund.

“Subrogation Rights” has the meaning assigned to it in Seciion 2.1.

“Subsequent Financial Statements™ has the meaning assigned to it in Section 7.1.
“Third Party Claim” has the meéning assigned to it in Section 9.4.

“Transfer Payment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.2.

“Transfer Order” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 6.1.

“Transition Services Agreement” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 3.2.

“T'axes” means any and all taxes, fees, levies, duties, tariffs, import, assessments and
other charges, imposed by any taxing authority, together with any related interest, penalties or
other additions to tax, or additional amounts imposed by any taxing authority, and without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall include net income alternative or add-on minimum
tax, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, franchise, profits, license,
transfer, the Funding Commission Assessment, recording, escheat, withholding, payroll,
employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, property, windfall profit,
environmental, custom duty, or other tax, governmental fee or other like assessment or charge of
any kind whatsoever.

“Tax Returns” means all federal, state, local, provincial and foreign returns, declarations,
claims for refunds, forms, statements, reports, schedules, and information retuns or statements,
and any amendments thereof (including, without limitation, any related or supporting
information or Schedule attached thercto) required to be filed with any Taxing authority m
connection with any Tax or Taxes.

“I'ransition Services Agreement” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 3.2,
“Transfer Order” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 6.1,

“Transferred Claims” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.1,




EXHIBIT “A”

Form of Installment Payment Agreement

INSTALLMENT PAYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS INSTALLMENT PAYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), is by and between the
board of education for the Kentucky school district identified below (the “Boatd of Bducation™) and
Sharon P. Clark, Commissioner of the Kenfucky Department of Insurance (the “Rehabilitator™), in her
capacity as Rehabilitator of the Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers Compensation Self-
Insurance Fund (the “Fund™).

RECITALS:

L The Fund is a fund pursuant to which participating members, including the Board of Education,
pooled their liabilities as a workers’ compensation self-insured group under KRS 304.50-005, et. seq.

2. Due fo a substantial deficit, the Fund was placed into rehabilitation (the “Rehabilitation”) before
the Franklin Circuit Court (the “Court”), pursuant to KRS Chapter 304, Subtitle 33, wherein the
Rehabilitator was appointed rehabilitator of the Fund.

3. In connection with the Rehabilitation and pursuant to a Loss Portfolio Transfer Agreement (“LP'T
Agreement”), between the Rehabilitator and Kentucky Employers’ Mutual Insurance (“KEMI”) , which
LPT Agreement has been approved by the Court, KEMI agreed to accept transfer of certain workers’
compensation insurance obligations of the Fund in exchange for a transfer payment of Thirty-Five Miltion
Dollars ($35,000,000) (the “Transfer Payment™).

4, The membess of the Fund, including the Board of Education, are jointly and severally liable for
the Fund’s liabilities and the Fund has insufficient assets to pay the Transfer Payment. The Rehabilitator
on behalf of the Fund has assessed the members of the Fund an aggregate assessment of $

(the “Aggregate Assessment”) to fund, inter alia, the payment of the Transfer Payment to KEMI and the
payment of the special fund assessment to the Kentucky Workers’ Compensation Funding Commission.
The Aggregate Assessment was approved by the Court. :

5. The Aggregate Asscssment was allocated among the members liable therefor in a manner
determined by the Rehabilitator to be fair and equitable, which allocation has been approved by the Court,
and the allocation of the Aggregate Assessment to the Board of Education is as set forth below (the
“Assessment™).

6. As permitted by KRS 304.50-055(9) and approved by the Court, the Rehabilitator and KEMI
have agreed that conditioned upon entering this Agreement, the Board of Education may pay its
Assessment over a period of years, not to exceed six (6) years, and the Board of Educa’uon has elected to
pay the Assessment as set forth below.,

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises herein contained,
- the Board of Education and the Rehabilitator, in its capacity as Rehabilitator of the Fund and for and on
behalf of the Fund, agree as follows:




1. Basic Terms.[to be completed by Board of Education]:

(a) Name of Board of Education. The Board of Education is the board of education for:
finsert name of school district].

(b) Approval. The Board of Education approved this Agreement and the installment payments set
forth herein at [complete and select one]:

at a regular meeting held on . [insert date] , pursuant to the duly
adopted regular meeting schedule of the Board of Education that has been made available to the
public; or

at a special meeting of the Board of Education held on insert date
[date], pursuant to written notice duly given at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting to all
Board of Education members and to local news media that have requested to be so notified, and
posted at a conspicuous place at the offices of the Board of Education;

all in compliance with the applicable provisions of KRS 61.820 through 61.850.

(c) Assessment Amount. The Assessment upon the Board of Education is §
[insert amount]. :

(d) Financing. Unless indicated to the contrary below, the Board of Education will pay the
Assessment in multiple installments, the first installment in an amount equal to 25% of the
Assessment due and payable on or prior to [July 31, 2014] (“Initial Instaliment Date™) and the
balance paid as follows [select one]:

in two additional annual installment payments each equal to 37.5% of the Assessment,
the first of such additional installment- payments due on July 31, 2015 and the remaining
installment payments due on each July 31, 2016. On July 31, 2016, the entire unpaid balance of
the Assessment is due and payable in full,

in three additional annual installment payments each equal.to 25% of the Assessment,
the first of such additional installment payments due on July 31, 2015, and the remaining
installment payments due on each July 31 thereafter until the Assessment is paid in full. On July
31,2017, the entire unpaid balance of the Assessment is due and payable in full,

in four additional annual installment payments each equal to 18.75% of the Assessment,

the first of such additional installment payments due on July 31, 2015, and the remaining

installment payments due on each July 31 thereafter until the Assessment is paid in full. On July
31, 2018, the entire unpaid balance of the Assessment is due and payable in full.

in five additional annual installment payments each equal to 15% of the Assessment, the
first of such additional installment payments due on July 31, 2015, and the remaining installment
payments due on each July 31 thereafter until the Assessment is paid in full. On July 31, 2019,
the entire-unpaid balance of the Assessment is due and payable in full.

in six additional annual installment payments each equal to 12.5% of the Assessment, the
first of such additional installment payments due on July 31, 2015, and the remaining installment
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payments due on each July 31 thereafter until the Assessment is paid in full. On-July 31, 2020,
the entire unpaid balance of the Assessment is due and payable in full.

the Board of Education elects to pay the entire Assessment in full on or before the Initial
Installment Date.

If any payment is due on a day other than a business day, the payment shall be due the last business day
preceding such due date. If the Board of Education does not elect an installment payment option set forth
above and approve this Agreement and cause its execution and delivery to the Rehabilifator at

, on or before the Initial Installment Date, the Board of Education shall
be requued to pay the entire Assessment in full on the Inifial Installment Date, unless the Rehabilitator
and KEMI agree in writing to the contrary upon request by the Board of Education.

2. Payment. The Board of Education agrees to pay the Assessment in accordance with
Section 1 of this Agreement. Such payments shall be due and payable without any right of set-off or
deduction. The Assessment may be prepaid in whole or part at any time without penalty or premium. If
at any time any payment is not paid when due, the past due payment shall accrue interest at a rate of
twelve percent (12%) per annum until paid (or the highest rate permitted by law, if less).

3, Intercept. The Board of Education acknowledges and agrees that if it does not timely pay
the Rehabilitator any payment when due hereunder, the Rehabilitator or KEMI may notify the Kentucky
Department of BEducation (“DOE?), as assisted as necessary by the Kentucky Finance and Administration
Cabinet (“FAC”), to withhold or intercept appropriations from the Commonwealth of Kentucky otherwise
due to the Board of Education (the “Appropriations™) to the extent of the payment then due, If at any
time the Memotandum of Understanding by and among the DOE, FAC, the Rehabilitator and KEMI is
canceled or terminated by any of the DOE, FAC or Rehabilitator, the entire Assessment, including all
installment payments not yet paid, shall become immediately due and payable without any further action
and, if such Assessment is not then paid in full immediately, the Rehabilitator and KEMI shall each have
the right to cause the DOE to withhold or intercept the Appropriations to the extent of the Assessment
then due. The Board of Education hereby releases and indemnifies the DOE, FAC, Rehabilitator and
KEMI for effectuating any withholding or intercept of Appropriations.

4, Events of Default. The occurrence of any of the following events shall be deemed an
“Bvent of Default”; (i) the Board of Education fails to make any payment when due under this
Agreement; (ii) the Board of Education breaches any other obligation under this Agreement; (iii) the
Board of Education shall commence any case, proceeding or other action under any law relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking fo have an order for relief entered or
seeking to adjudicate it as a bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment,
winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with 1'espe'ct to if or its debts, or seeking
appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part
its assets or it shall make a general assignment for the benefit of their creditors; (iv) there shall be
commenced against the Board of Education any case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a
warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or any substantial part of its
assets which continues undismissed and unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days or which results in the
enfry of an order for any such relief; (v) the Board of Education shall breach or default, beyond any
period of grace with respect thereto, in any of the terms or conditions of any agreement covering any debt
owing to any person or entity in excess of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00); or (vi) entry of a
judgment in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) or greater against the Board of
Education, which remains unsatisfied or undischarged and in effect for thirty (30) days after such entry
without a stay of enforcement or execution. '
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5. Remedies. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Defauli described in the foregoing Section 4,
upon the election of Rehabilitator, the entire Assessment, including all installment payments not yet paid,
shall be immediately due and payable (except where such Event of Default is under clause (iii) or (iv) of
Section 4, in which event the entire Assessment, including all installment payments not yet paid, shall
automatically become immediately due and payable without any election by or action of the
Rehabilitator), and the Rehabilitator may exercise all rights and remedies under this Agreement and
applicable law. The rights provided for in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any other
rights, powers, privileges or remedies provided by law or in equity. Upon the occurrencé of any Event of
Default, the Rehabilitator may either at faw or in equity, by suit, action, mandamus or other proceedings,
enforce and compel performance by the Board of Education and its officers and agents of all duties
imposed or required by law or by this Agreement.

6. General.

(a) KEMI. KEMLI is relying on this Agreement and the obligations of the Board of Education
in permitting the Board of Education to pay the Assessment in installments rather than as a lump-sum
payment, As a result thereof, the Rehabilitator and Board of Education agree that KEMI is and shall be a
third-party beneficiary of this Agreement and. the Board of Education and Rehabilitator agree not to
modify or terminate this Agreement without the prior written consent of KEMI.

(b) No Waiver. Any waiver, forbearance, failure or delay by the Rehabilitator in exercising
any right, power or remedy under this Agreement will not be deemed to be a waiver of such right, power
or remedy, and any single or partial exercise of any right, power or remedy under this Agreement will not
preclude the further exercise thereof; and every right, power and remedy of the Rehabilitator will continue
in full force and effect until such right, power or remedy is specifically waived by an instr ument in
writing executed by the waiving party.

(c) Submission to Venue dand Jurisdiction and Waiver of Jury Trial. The undersigned agree
that any action or proceeding arising, directly, indirectly, or otherwise, in connection with, out of, or from
this Agreement, any breach hereof, or any transaction covered hereby shall be resolved in, and the parties
consent and submit to the sole and exclusive jurisdiction and venue of, the Franklin Circuit Court,
Commonwealth of Kentucky. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the enforcement of the Rehabilitator’s or
KEMI’s rights or remedies herein requires pursuing an action or proceeding in an alternative or other
cowrt, such action or proceeding shall not be subject to the foregoing jurisdictional and venue exclusivity
provision, and the Rehabilitator or KEMI may so pursue any such action or proceeding against the Board

“of Education in any court of competent jurisdiction. THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT
TO A TRIAL BY JURY RESPECTING ANY CLAIM BROUGHT AGAINST THE OTHER
PARTY ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.

(d) Governing Law. The laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky will govern the
construction of this Agreement and the rights, remedies and duties of the parties hereto, without regard to

principles of conflicts of laws.

(e) -Time of Essence. Time will be of the essence in the performance of the Board of
Education’s obligations under this Agreement, :

® Heirs, Successors and Assigns Bound. This Agreement will bind and inure to the benefit
of the successors and assigns of the Board of Education, Rehabilitator and the Fund, and will bind the
Board of Education, Rehabilitator and the Fund, and all successors and permitted assigns of any of them.

(2) Assignment. The Board of Education may not assign this Agreement without the prior
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written consent of the Rehabilitator, The Rehabilitator may assign its rights and interests herein to any
person; including KEMI.

(h) Severability of Provisions. A judicial decree, order or judgment holding any provision
herein. invalid or unenforceable will not in any way impair or preclude enforcement of the remaining
provisions herein, and will not in any way impair or preclude enforcement of rights or remedies of the
Rehabilitator under applicable law or their right to collect the Assessment.

(i) Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, any of
which will be treated for all purposes as an original, and all of which will be treated as one and the same
Agreement.

) Notices. All notices under this Agreement shall be given to the parties at the following
addresses (i) by personal delivery; (ii) by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested; and (iii}
by nationally recognized overnight or other express courier services:

If to the Rehabilitator:

[insert]

If to the Board of Education, to the attention of the Supetintendent at the Board of Education’s
principal office address.

All notices shall be effective and shall be deemed delivered (i) if by personal delivery, on the date
of delivery if delivered during normal business hours of the recipient, and if not delivered during such
normal business hours, on the next business day following delivery; (if) if by courier service, on the next
business day after dispatch thereof; and (iii) if by .mail, on the third (3rd) business day after dispatch
thereof. Any party hereto may change its address by notice to all parties hereto delivered in accordance
with this Section 6(j).

(k) Headings. Section headings used in this Agreement are for convenience only and are not
part of this Agreement.

()] Joint and Several Liability. The Board of Education acknowledges that this Agreement
and its performance hereunder in no way limits or reduces its joint and several liability with the other
members of the Fund for the liabilities and obligations of the Fund,

(m)  Integration and Modification. This Agreement comprises the entire agreement between
the Board of Education and Rehabilitator concerning its subject matter. Any modification to this
Agreement must be made in writing and signed by the party against whom the modification is sought fo
be enforced.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOT, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date first
above written.

Board of Education for the School District of

(print school district name)

By:

Name:

- Title:

Sharon P. Clark, Commissioner of the Kentucky
Department of Insurance, in her capacity as
Rehabilitator of the Kentucky School Boards
Insurance Trust Workers Compensation Self-
Insurance Fund




EXHIBIT “B”
Memoranduni of Understanding

Memorandum of Understanding
Commonwealth of Kentucky
Between -

Kentucky Department of Education
Kenfucky Department of Insurance
The Finance and Administration Cabinet
And
Kentucky Employers’ Mutual [nsurance

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) is. made and entered into
the day of , 20 by and between the Commonwealith of Kentucky,

Kentucky Department of Education, hereinafter known as “KDOE,” the Kentucky
Department of Insurance, hereinafter known as “KDOI" or “Rehabilitater,” the Finance
and Administration Cabinet, hereinafter known as “FAC," and Kentucky Employers’
Mutual Insurance, hereinafter known as "KEMI.”

WITNESSETH:

~

WHEREAS, the Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust (KSBIT) self-insured
workers’ compensation fund has become insolvent and subject to the rehabilitation
authority of the Kentucky Commissioner of Insurance; and

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the Kentucky ‘Commissioner of [nsurance to
exercise her authority under KRS 304.33-010 et seq. and file a petition for the
rehabilitation of the KSBIT workers compensation fund and implement a plan of
assessment for the recoupment of the accrued deficit of said fund; and

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the Kentucky Commissioner of Insurance to
cause a guarantee of payment of the assessment for the benefit of KEMI, as loss
portfolio transferee of the KSBIT workers’ compensation fund and liabilities pursuant to
that certain Loss Portfolio Transfer Agreement filed with the Franklin Circuit Court as it
may be amended (“LPT Agreement”) and

WHEREAS, KDOE has the statutory authority and duty under KRS 160.160 and
KRS 304.50-055 to intercept and pay funds otherwise due to an individual school district
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in satisfaction of any defauit by that school district in the payment of financirig for its

liability under the assessment;

‘NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: _
In order to ensure payment of the assessment by individual school districts, the
Support Education Excellence in Kentucky funds and other appropriations to a local
- school district will be intercepted by KDOE, with any necessary assistance from the
state FAC, when a local school district does not make a timely payment of funds in
accordance with its installment payment agreement, all as provided in KRS 160.160,~
KRS 304.48-250 and KRS 304.50-055. KDOE will initiate such intercept upon written
certification by KDOI or KEMI that any school district has not made _ﬁmely payment of
funds in accordance with its instaliment payment agresment. Upon receipt of such
written certification, KDOE shall fmmediate(y withhold or intercept any payment due to
such local school district from the Commonwealth of Kentucky (to the extent of the
amount of the required payment) and remit such payment to the Rehabilitator for
deposit into the Account (as defined in the LPT Agreement) and the Rehabilitator will
remit such funds to KEMI when due under the LPT Agreement. Withholding or
interception shall occur from any General Fund amounts which are allotments to the
local school district in the current budget biennium.
This MOU will apply to allotments to the local school district in future budget bills.
The KDOE and the state FAC also agree that, they shall take all reasonable
steps necessary and within their resjoective statutory authority, in order to address a

default by a school district in ﬁaying its assessment when due.
Access to Records:

. KEMI agrees that the Financé and Administration Cabinet, the Auditor of Public
Accounts, and the Legislative Research Commission, or their duly authorized
representatives, shall have access to any books, documents, papers, records, or other
evidence, which are directly pertinent to this contract for the purpose of financial audit or
program review. KEMI recognizes that any books, documents, papers, records, or




other evidence, received during a financial audit or program review shall be subject to
the Kentucky Open Records Act, KRS 61.870 to 61.884.

Choice of Law and Forum:

The laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky shall govern all questions as to the
execution, validity, interpretation, construction, and performance of this agreement or
any 6f its terms. Any sulit, action or other proceeding regarding the execution, validity,
interpretation, construction, of performance of this MOU shall he filed in the Franklin
Circuit Court of the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

General:

‘This MOU shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties.
hereto and their successors and assigns. This MOU, togethér with the LPT Agreement
once fully executed, constitutes the-entire agreement among the parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. ,

No supplement, modification or waiver of this MOU shall be binding unless in
writing and executed by each party hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this
MOU shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other similar or dissimilar
provision hereof, nor shall any such waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless
otherwise expressly provided. '

If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this MOU is held by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the tefms, '
provisions, covenants and restrictions of this MOU shall remain in full force and effect
and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated. It is hereby stipulated and
declared to be the intention of the parties that they would have executed the remaining
terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions without including any of such which may
be hereafter declared invalid, void or unenforceable. In such case, the parties hereto
shall promptly meet and negotiate substitute provisions for those rendered or declared
Hlegal or unenforceable so as to preserve as nearly as possible the contemplated
economic effects of the transactions contemplated hereby.
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- The execufion and delivéry of this MOU by the parties hereto is a condition
precedent to KEMI's obligations under the LPT Agreement. Consequently, the parties
recognize KEMI is relying on this MOU and the terms herecf and would not
cohsummate the transactions contemplated by the LPT Agreement without this MOU.

. The Rehabilitator, KEMI or both of them may either at law or in equity, by suit,
.action, mandamus or- other proceedings, enforce and compel performance by the
KDOE, FAC, KDOI and their officers and agents of all duties imposed or required by Iaw
or by this MOU. | -

Approvals: .

This Memorandum of Understanding is subject to the terms and conditions as
stated.” By affixing signatures below, the parties agree that electronic approvals may
serve as electronic signatures. This MOU may be executed in two or more counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed to constitute an original, but alf of which shall constitute
one and the same instrument, and shall become effective when one or more
counterbarté have been signed by each of the parties hereto. "In addition, the parties
verify that they are authorized to bind this agreement between parties and that they

accept the terms of the agreement.

Terry Holliday, Commissioner Date
Kentucky Department of Education :

Lori Hudson Flanery, Seéretary ' Date
Kentucky Finance & Administration Cabinet

Sharon Clark, Commissioner Date
Kentucky Department of Insurance, '
in her capacity as Commissioner and Rehabilitator




KEMI:
KENTUCKY EMPLOYERS’ MUTUAL INSURANCE

By:

Jon E. Stewart, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Approved as to form and legality:

Attorney
Kentucky Department of Education

Attorney
Kentucky Finance & Administration Cabinet

Aitorney
Kentucky Department of Insurance |
Public Protection Cabinet

Attorney
Kentucky Employers’ Mutual Insurance
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EXHIBIT “C”
Security Agreement

SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered info as of .

,20 , by and between SHARON P. CLARK, COMMISSIONER OF
THE KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, IN HER CAPACITY AS

"REHABILITATOR OF THE KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION SELF-INSURANCE FUND (“Debtor”) and KENTUCKY
EMPLOYERS’ MUTUAL INSURANCE (“Secured Party”). Reference is made to that
certain Loss Portfolio Transfer Agreement, dated , 2013 (the “LPT
Agreement”), by and between Debtor and Sccured Party. Capitalized terms used in this
Agreement and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to them in the LPT
Agreement.

WITNESSETI:

Secured Party and Debtor, in her capacity as Rehabilitator of the Fﬁnd and for and on
behalf of the Fund, agree as follows:

1. Grant of Security Interest by Debtor to Secured Party. For good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by Debtor, Debtor does
_ hereby grant unto Secured Party a first and prior security intetest and lien in and to, and pledges,
all the “Collateral” as defined and described in numerical paragraph two (2) hereof to secure all
of the “Indebtedness” as defined and described in numerical paragraph three (3) hereof.

2. - Collateral. The Collateral covered by this Agreement is all property described in
Schedule “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, and any supplemental
exhibits or schedules thereto, and all proceeds and products thereof (all of which collateral is
herein collectlvely referred to as the “Collateral™),

3, Indebtedness Secured. This Agreement is made as collateral security for the
payment and performance of all of the following obligations (the “Indebtedness™):

(x)  Transfer Payment and LPT Agreement. Debtor’s obligation to pay
Secured Party the $35,000,000 Transfer Payment due under the LPT Agreement and all other
obligations of the Rehabilitator or Fund to KEMI under the LPT Agreement, whether now
existing or hereafter arising; and




(b)  Expenditures for Collateral. The repayment of any amounts that
Secured Party may advance or spend for the care, maintenance or preservation of the Collateral,
and any other expenditures that Secured Party may make under the provisions of this Agreement
or for the benefit of the Debtor.

4, Perfection of Security Interest.

(a)  Filing of Financing Statements.

(D Debtor hereby authorizes Secured Party to file financing statements (the
“Financing Statemenis”), in such places as Secured Party deems appropriate,
describing the Collateral (including a description as all assets of Debtor). Debtor,
at the request of Secured Party, will execute such Financing Statements.

(i)  Debtor authorizes Secured Party to file such Financing Statements
describing any agricultural liens or other liens held by Secured Party.

(b)  Possession.

) Debtor will have possession of the Collateral, except where
expressly otherwise provided in this Agreement, or where following an “Event of
Default” (as defined below) and during any continuance thereof Secured Party elects to
take possession of the Collateral.

(ii)  Where Collateral is in the possession of a third party, Debtor will join with
Secured Party in notifying the third party of Secured Party’s security interest and
obtaining an acknowledgment from the third party that it is holding the Collateral
for the benefit of Secured Party.

(¢)  Control. Debior will cooperate with Secured Party in obtaining control
with respect to any Collateral consisting of deposit accounts, investment property, letters of
credit rights and electronic chattel paper.

(d)  Marking of Chattel Paper. Debtor will not create any chattel paper
without placing a legend on the chattel paper acceptable to Secured Parly indicating that Secured
Party has a security interest in the chattel paper.

5. Representations and Warranties of Debtors.

(a) Organization and Existence, The Fund is a workers’ compensation self-
insured group under KRS 304.50-005, ef. seq. and holds a valid certificate from the Kentucky
Office of Insurance as required by KRS 304.50-005, ef. seq. The Rehabilitator has been
appointed rehabilitator of the Fund pursuant to KRS Chapter 304, Subtitle 33 and has all
requisite power and authority as rehabilitator of the Fund under KRS Chapter 304, Subtitle 33.
Debtor has all necessary authority, powers and qualifications to catry on the business now
conducted by it and to be conducted by it and to enter into the transactions described herein.
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(b)  Authorization and Enforceability. The execution, delivery and
" performance of this Agreement by Debtor has been duly authorized by all necessary action by
Debtor, and this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Debtor and constitutes the
legal, valid and binding obligations of Debtor and is enforceable in accordance with its terms.

(¢)  Ownership of Collateral.

(i)  Debtor is the absolute owner of the legal and beneficial title to all of the
Collateral, (exclusive of hereafter acquired, replaced or created items), and is in
full possession thereof.

(ii)  The Collateral is free and clear of all liens, encumbrances and adverse claims
whatsoever, except for the security interest created in favor of Secured Party by
this Agreement.

6. Covenants of Debtoxs. -

. (a) Payment and Performance of Indebtedness. The Indebtedness will be
paid and performed by Debtor to Secured Party in accordance with the terms of the LPT
Agreement.

(b)  Payment and Performance of Other Obligations. Debtor will comply in
all respects with any and all agreements between Debtor and Secured Party.

_ () . Useof Collateral. All the Collateral is used or will be used for business
purposes only. '

(d)  Defense of Claims Against Collateral. Debtor will defend the Collateml
against the claims and demands of all persons.

(e) Cooperation of Debtor in Perfection of Security Interest.

(1) Debtor will execute and deliver to Sccured Party upon request new UCC-1
Financing Statements describing the Collateral specified herein for recordation
where necessary in Secured Party’s sole discretion to perfect Secured Party's
security interest in the Collateral, and Debtor will pay all filing and recording fees
and filing and recording taxes in connection with the filing and/or recordation of
such Financing Statements, and, if paid by the Secured Party, Debtor will
reimburse Secured Party therefor upon demand of Secured Party.

(ii)  This Agreement may, in the sole discretion of Secured Party, be filed as a
financing statement and Debtor agrees to also execute any additional financing
statements with respect hereto which may be requested by Secured Party.

(iii)  Secured Party may, in its sole discretion, deliver this Agreement or




any other document executed pursuant hereto or in connection herewith with any person
or otganization which registers, sells or is in any manner involved with any or all of the
Collateral. Secured Party will be entitled to notify the person in possession of the
Collateral, or any other person Secured Party deems appropriate of the security interest
herein granted and to notify such person or entity to forwatd all documents with respect
to the Collateral to Secured Party and otherwise as Secured Party deems appropriate.
Secured Party may post, in a conspicuous place at any and all locations where the
Collateral may be located, a notice stating Secured Party’s interest in the Collateral.

D Prohibition of Additional Security Interests or Liens. Debtor will not:

(i) permit any loan or security interest (other than Secured Party’s security interest
granted herein) to attach to any of the Collateral;

(ii)  permit any of the Collateral to be levied upon under any legal
process; or :

(iif)  dispose of or enter or agree to enter into any sale of any of the
Collateral, without prior written consent of Secured Party.

(g)  Inspection of Collateral and Debtox’s Records. Debtor will permit
Secured Party and/or its agents to inspect and appraise the Collateral and inspect ﬂ1e books and
records of Debtor at all reasonable times and from time to time.

(h)  Change in State of Organization, Name or Reorganization. Debtor will
not change the type of entity the Fund now is, nor incorporate nor organize the Fund in another
state or foreign jurisdiction nor permit the Fund to conduct business under any other name than
“The Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers’ Compensation Self-Insurance Fund”
nor change or reorganize the type of business entity under which it does business except upon
prior written approval of Secured Party. If such approval is given, Debtor agrees that all
documents, instruments and agreements demanded by Secured Party will be prepared and filed at
Debtor’s expense before such change of name or business entity occurs.

) Notification Requirements of Debtox. Debtor will notify Secured Party
in writing of any proposed change in any of Debtor’s state of organization, principal office or
place of business, or mailing address, at least thirty (30) days prior theteto,

7. Limited Power of Attorney to Secured Party.

(a)  Debtor hereby itrevocably appoints Secured Party as Debtor’s attorney-in-
fact to do all acts and things which Secured Party may deem necessary or appropriate to perfect
and continue perfected the security interest created by this Agreement and to protect and, in case
of an Event of Default hereunder, sell the Collateral, including, but not limited to, the execution
in Debtor’s name as Debtor’s 111ev0cable attorney-in-fact:
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() notifications and agreements to sell where sale is permitted;

(i)  any documents or papers necessary ot helpful to comply with the
terms of any agreements relative to any of the Collateral; and

(i) UCC-1 (and other) Financing Statements covering the Collateral and filing and
recordation of same wherever Secured Party deems appropriate, with Debtor to
reimburse Secured Patty for all filing and recording fees, taxes and other expenses
in connection therewith upon demand of Secured Party. ‘

(b)  Provided, however, the power of attorney granted hereby will survive the
disability of the principal, but when all the Indebtedness is fully paid and performed, this power
of attorney will become null and void upon Secured Party’s receipt of written not1ﬁcat10n from
Debtor to such effect.

8. Events of Default. An “Event of Default” under this Agreement will occur upon
any default in, ot breach of, any covenant (including without limitation any promise to pay
money) agreement, representation or warranty by Debtor under the provisions of: (i) the LPT
Agreement (subject to any applicable grace or cure periods), (ii) any other agreement regarding
any of the Indebtedness (subject to applicable grace and cure periods), and (iii) this Agreement
(provided Debtor shall have fifteen (15) days after written notice of any non-monetary default or
breach hereunder to cure the same).

9. Remedies Up01_1 Event of Default.

(a) Upon the occurrence of any “Event of Default,” Secured Party will have
all rights and remedies in and against the Collateral and otherwise of a secured party under
Chapter 355 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes (the “UCC”) and the other applicable law of
Kentucky (and all such other states where any part of the Collateral may be located, if
applicable) and all other applicable laws and all rights provided herein, in all other documents
evidencing, secunng or related to any of the Indebtedness (including without limifation the LPT
Agreement), or in any other applicable agreement, all of which rights and remedies will, to the
full extent permitted by law, be cumulative.

(b)  In addition, upon the occurrence and duung the continuance of any “Event
of Default” Secured Party will have the right, to collect and receive directly from third parties
payments due with respect to the Collateral and the right to sell the Collateral at public or
private sale. If Secured Party realizes upon Collateral by receiving payments due with réspect to
Collateral from a Person other than Debtor (including Members of the Fund or the Depository),
Secured Party will notify Debtor of such receipt of payment from such third party. The
requirement of reasonable notice of the time and place of disposition of Collateral by Secured
Party will be conclusively deemed to have been met if such notice is mailed, postage prepaid, to
Debtor’s address specified above at least ten (10) days before the time of the sale or disposition.
Secured Party may bid upon and purchase any or all of the Collateral at any public sale thereof.
Secured Party may dispose of all or any part of the Collateral at one or more times and from fime
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to time and in one or more lots or parcels, and upon such terms and conditions, including a credit
sale, as Secured Party determines in its sole discretion,

(¢)  Secured Party will apply the nef proceeds of any such disposition of the
Collateral (after deducting therefrom all costs incwred in connection therewith, or incidental to
the holding, preparing for sale, in whole or in part, of the Collateral, including Secured Party’s
attorneys’ fees and court costs) to the Indebtedness and any other obligations of Debtor to
Secured Party in the order elected by Secured Party in its sole discretion, and any remaining
proceeds will be paid to the Debtor or such other party as is entitled thereto.

(d) Secured Party may exercise its right of set off with respect to the
Indebtedness in the same manner as if the Indebtedness were unsecured.

()  Debtor agrees to pay to Secured Party, as part of the Indebtedness, all
amounts paid by Secured Party, including, but not limited to:

(i) Secured Party’s attorheys’ fees, to the extent not prohibited by applicable law, in
connection with the enforcement of any of Debtor’s obligations hereunder or

contained in the documents evidencing the Indebtedness, with interest thereon at
the highest rate provided for in any of the Indebtedness,

(i)  for taxes, levies and prior liens and insurance on, repaiis to,
maintenance of, or transporting or otherwise caring for, the Collateral, and

(iii)  in collecting, taking possession of or preserving the Collateral.

106. Supplemental and Miscellaneous Provisions,

(2) Continuing Agreement with Respect to Credit Agreement. Thisisa
continuing security agreement with respect to the LPT Agreement and Transfer Payment due
thereunder and all the rights, powers and remedies hereunder will apply to any and all
extensions, renewals, amendments or modifications of the LPT Agreement and Transfer
Payment due thereunder,

(b)  Rights and Remedies of Secured Party are Cumulative. The rights,
powers and remedies given to Secured Party by this Agreement will be in addition to all rights,
powers and remedies given to the Secured Party by virtue of any other agreement now existing
or subsequently enfered into by and between the parties hereto and any stafute or rule of law.

(¢) = No Waiver by Secured Party. Any waiver, forbearance, failure or delay
by Secured Party in exercising any right, power or remedy hereunder will not be deemed to be a
waiver of such right, power or remedy, and any single or partial exercise of any right, power or
remedy hereunder will not preclude the further exercise thereof; and every right, power and
remedy of Secured Party will continue in full force and effect until such right, power or remedy
is specifically waived by an instrument in writing executed by Secured Party.
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(d)  Submission to Venue, Jurisdiction and Service of Process; Waiver of Jury
Trial. The undersigned agree that any action or proceeding arising, directly, indirectly, or otherwise, in
connection with, out of, or from this Agreement, any breach hereof, or any transaction covered hereby
shall be resolved in, and the parties consent and submit fo the sole and exclusive jurisdiction and venue
of, the Franklin Circuit Court, Commonwealth of Kentucky.. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the
enforcement of the Secured Party’s rights or remedies herein requires pursuing an action or proceeding in
an alternative or other court, such action or proceeding shall not be subject to the foregoing jurisdictional
and venue exclusivity provision, and Secured Party may so pursue any such action or proceeding against
Debtor in any court of competent jurisdiction. THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A
TRIAL BY JURY RESPECTING ANY CLAIM BROUGHT AGAINST THE OTHER PARTY
ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.

{e) Governing Law. The laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky will
govern the construction of this Agreement and the rights, remedies and duties of the parties
hereto, unless the laws of the state where the Collateral or part thereof is situated dictate that the
laws of such other state will govern with respect thereto.

()  Time of Essence. Time will be of the essence in the performance of
Debtor’s obligations under this Agreement.

(g)  Heirs, Successors and Assigns Bound. This Agreement will bind and
inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of Secured Party and will bind the Fund and
Rehabilitator, and all successors and assigns of either, and all persons who become bound as a
debtor under this Agreement. Secured Party does not consent to any assignment by Debtor
except as expressly provided in this Agreement.

(h)  Assignment. Secured Party may assign itsrights and interests under this
Agreement to any permitted assignee of the LPT Agreement in connection with assignment of-
the LPT Agreement. Debtor may not assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of
Secured Party. If an assignment is made, Debtor will render performance under this Agreement
to the assignee. Debtor waives and will not assert against any assignee any claims, defenses, or
setoffs which Debtor could assert against Secured Party except defenses which cannot be
waived. :

(D Severability of Provisions. A judicial decree, order or judgment holding
any provision herein invalid or unenforceable will not in any way impair or preclude
enforcement of the remaining provisions herein, and will not in any way impair or preclude
enforcement of rights or remedies of Secured Party under the UCC, or other applicable law.

@ Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be exccuted in several
counterparts, any of which will be treated for all purposes as an original, and all of which will be
treated as one and the same Agreement.

(k)  Notices. Any notices required by this Agreement or under the UCC must
be sent and will be deemed delivered by and to Secured Party and Debtor in accordance with the
terms of the LPT Agreement.
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: O Headings. Section headings used in this Agreement are for convenience
only and are not part of this agreement.

(m) Integration and Modification. This Agreement, the LPT Agreement and
any other agreements executed in connection herewith and therewith comprise the entire
agreement between the Debtor and Secured Party concerning the subject matter hereof. Any
modification to this Agreement must be made in writing an signed by the party against whom the
modification is sought to be enforced.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, witness the signature of the parties hereto.

SHARON P. CLARK, COMMISSIONER OF THE
KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, IN
HER CAPACITY AS REHABILITATOR OF THE
KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE
TRUST WORKERS’ COMPENSATION SELF-
INSURANCE FUND

“DEBTOR”

KENTUCKY EMPLOYERS’ MUTUAL INSURANCE

By:

Jon E. Stewart,
President and Chief Executive Officer

“SECURED PARTY”
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SCHEDULLE “A”»

_ The property covered by this Agreement includes all of Debtor’s right, title and interest
in, to and under the following described property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired by
Debtor, and whether now existing or hereafter created, arising, accruing, incurred or entered into
(all of which is hereinafter collectively called the “Collateral”):

1. All of Debtor’s rights to- payment of assessments against the members (the
“Members”) of The Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers® Compensation Self-
Insurance Fund (the “Fund”), whether now in existence or arising from time to time hereafter,
including, without limitation, rights under those certain Installment Payment Agrecments
between Debtor and each Member that joins in such an Installment Payment Agreement
(collectively, the “Assessment Receivable™).

2. Each and every Installment Payment Agreement between Debtor and any Member
and all sums of money due and fo become due thereunder, as the same may be modified,
supplemented or amended from time to fime in accordance with its terms.

3. That certain [describe Account(s)] held by [Depository] and all other deposit
and other accounts into which any payments of the Assessment Receivable is deposited.

4, All “Proceeds”, as such term is defined in the Uniform Commercial Code of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky, as in effect from time to time, of the foregoing.




PLAN OF INITIAL ASSESSMENT
| FOR THE
KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARD
- INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS’
COMPENSATION SELF-INSURANCE
- FUND

Submitted by Sharon P, Clark, Rehabilitator
&
Joseph N. Pope, Special Deputy Rehabilitator

November 7, 2013




I. . BACKGROUND

Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust (“KSBIT”) was created in 1978 to provide
coverage through nonprofit self-insurance funds authorized under Kentucky law. These self-
insurance funds allowed school districts to combine their resources while sharing the risk. There
are two separate self-insurance funds within KSBIT, both of which are in a deficit position. The
two self-insurance funds are the Workers” Compensation Self-Insurance Fund and the Property
and Liability Pool. This Plan relates to the Workers® Compensation Self-Insurance Fund, which
is a workers’ compensation self-insured group authorized by KRS 342.350 and KRS 304.50-010
and defined in KRS 304.50-015.

Kentucky School Board Association (“KSBA”) is. the sponsoring organization of the WC
Fund. KSBA is composed of school districts and school boards located throughout the
Commonwealth of Kentucky. All school districts, non-profit institutions of higher education,
and other tax supported agencies of Kentucky who are members of KSBA are eligible fo
participate in the WC Fund. The WC Fund members pool their workers’ compensation _
insurance risks on a group self-insured basis under the provisions of KRS 304.50. To participate
in the WC Fund, the member must be a 1ﬁembe1‘ o't; KSBA_ and must agree to bind themselves,
jointly and severally, to pay the pooled iiabilities of the WC Fund. °

The Board of Trustees for the WC Fund canceled all insurance policies effective June 30,
2013, placing the WC Fund in “runoff,” meaning no new policies are being issued and the sole
operating purpose of the WC Fund is to process and pay all insurance claims and legal liabilities
and obligations arising from operations and policies issued by the WC Fund before June 30,
2013,
| The financial condition of the WC Fund is such that it does not have adequate assets to

discharge its legal liabilities. The WC Fund has been placed into Rehabilitation pursuant to KRS




304.33. Under the provisions of KRS 304.50-055 and KRS 304.33-160, this plan of assessment
has been prepared to obtain assets sufficient for the WC Fund to meet all of its legal liabilities
and obligations.

IL BASIS FOR ASSESSMENT

1. The audited financial statements as of June 30, 2013 reflect a deficit (assets less

than liabilities) in the amount of $37,089.129, see Exhibit A.
2. The above deficit has been adjusted as follows (see Exhibit B adjustments):

a, The WC Fund financial statement reflects as a liability a refund or repayment .
arising from a transaction with an affiliate in 2003-04 in .the amount of
© $607,681.
1. The .WC Fund has provided no adequate documentation for the basis
of this liability. .
ii. There are third party reports that indicate that this amount had been
repaid to this affiliate.
iii. There appears to be a receipt reported by that affiliate in 2009 of a
similar amount ($600,000).
iv. Therefore, this liability should not be considered a legal liability of the
wC Fu_nd. This decreaseé the deficit to $36,481,448.
b. The Rehabilitator, in her capacity as the Kentucky Commissioner of
Insurance, has engaged and obtained an actuarial study to determine the
unpaid claim liabilities of the WC Fund as of June 30, 2013, This .actuariai

report indicates that the undiscounted unpaid claims labilities are




$43,647,821. This amount is $1,375,179 more than the liability reflected in
the financial statements, increasing the deficit by that amou.nt.
¢. Accounting principles require the discounting of claim liabilities.
The actuarial study also indicated that the discounted claim liability using 3%
discount rate would reduce the lial_)ility by $8,544,262. This would decrease
the deficit by that amount. In total the adjustment for the unpaid claim
liability reduces the unpaid claim liability by $7,169,083. This decrcases the
deficit to $28,312,365. |
d. The WC Fund issued a “Surplus Note” in 2010 with an outstanding
balance of $5,500,000 as of June 30, 2013, The terms of the note indicate that
this is not to be considered a legal liability of the WC Fund. As a I'GS;.IH this
note has been eliminated as a liability and the deficit has been reduced by that
amount to $23,‘812,365. This is the adjusted Financial Statement Deficit
before any other items to determine the Assessment Amount.
¢. The Deputy Rehabilitator has estimated that the WC Fund will
require administrative blosure costs in the amount of $3,548,344. These costs
are to include the continuatioﬁ of claims administration, professional, and
qther costs required to process and pay all claims arising from the policies of
insurance issued by the WC Fund until such time as the claim liabilities can be
transferred to an insurer.
f. The Rehabilitator has received a proposal from KEMI (see related
filing in this matter) to assume all claim liabilities of the KSBIT WC Fund.

Under the terms, KEMI will receive a fixed amount, $35,000,000 at the




closing date. In order to assure adequate funds are available or due under this
;fissessment plan an adjustment of $6,018,412 is needed. This amount is the
estimate of claims transactions (reserve adjustment by KEMI’s actuaries and
claim payments) between 7/1/13 and the closing date. |

g The assessment is subject to the KY Special Fund Assessineht
(KYSFA). This assessment has. been calculated using the KYSFA rate
appiicabie to each year being assessed. The amount of the KYSFA is
$2,620,544.

h. The total amount of the assessment necessary is $35,999,666.

" Exhibit B reflects the detail of this calculation.

1. AFT.OCATION TO YEARS

1. Any assessment of a group self-insurance fund should only be applicable to those
members during the period of time in which the deficit requiring the assessment began and from
which the fund never emerged. Furthermore, members should .only be assessed for periods of
time whilé théy were members receiving coverage from the fund.

2. The Deputy Rehabilitator has determined that the WC Fund’s current deficit
began during the year of July 1, 1997 through June 30, 1998. Exhibit C reflects the estimate of
the WC Fund’s surblus or deficit using the current actuarial study’s. estimate for unpaid claim
liabilities as of the end of previous periods. Based on this analysis, using 2013 hindsight, the
WC Fund had a surplus as of Jﬂly I, 1997; however, the results of operations in that next year
(period ending June 30, 1998) resulted in a deficit. The WC Fund never emerged from this

deficit position in any subsequent year.




3. Pursuant to KRS 304.50-090(8), a member that is terminated from a self-
insurance fund remains financially obligated to the fund for periods during which it was a
merﬁber. This plan of assessment follows this provision by evaluating each year to determine
how much of any such deficit (and assessment) should be allocated to each year and ultimately to
each member within each year. Exhibit D reflects the comparison of each year’s income or loss
and estimates the percentage of any assessment that should be allocated to each year,

4. . Exhibit D uses the current actuarial study to I'écreate comparative income
statements for each year ending June 30, 1998 through June 30, 2013. As reflected, each year’s
loss (if there was a loss) is pro-rated with the total loss for all years. This calculation results in
the pro-rata share of any assessment applicable to each year. The percentages for each year
being assessed are reflected in Exhibit D,

5. This method of allocation prevents members that participated iﬁ only one or two
of the years from being assesseéi for periods after they may hf;we left the WC Fund. It also
excludes members from being assessed for two years, since on a comparative basis those years

did not havé losses.

IV.  ALLOCATION TO EACH MEMBER
1. Bach member that obtained insurance coverage in e.:ach year is allocated a share of
that year’s assessment,
2. This plan utilizes a 60% - 40% allocation to each member based on earned
premiums (60%) and Excess Losses.
3. The 60% carned premium ailocation is simply 60% of the assessment for each

year is allocated to each member in a pro-rated basis or share of each member earned premium to

the total earned premium for each year.




4. The 40% Excess Loss is also a pro-rated basis using each members excess losses
to the total excess losses for each year. |

5. The Excess Loss amount was determined by calculating a loss ratio for each
member in each year. This loss ratio is the total incurred losses divided by each members earned
premium. For any member with a loss ratio greater than 100%, the portion greater than 100% is
the excess amount. Each member’s excess loss amount is thén pro-rated by all members’ excess
losses for each year. That percentage is then applied against 40%' of the assessment for each
year.

0. The purpose of this loss allocation is to identify those members with more losses
and havé those members pay a greater share of the assessment. |

7. To have all members’ loss ratios be on a comparable basis, each open claim case
reserve is adjlhlsted by the same relationship (ratio) between the actuarial study reserve for each
year and the total case reserves created by the claim administrator. These adjusted incurred
amounts for each claim are also limited to $100,000 before any loss ratio is calculated. This
limitation is to prevent any single large claim overly affecting a member loss ratio. Exhibit E is
an example of the Excess Loss calculation.

8. EXHIBIT F reflects each members total assessment, the portion from prelﬁiums

and losses, as well as a percentage of the total assessment. The amounts include the KYSFA.

y. PAYMENT OPTIONS

The WC Fund expects substantial recoveries under excess policies. Under the terms of
those policies, the WC Fund niust first pay the claims, and then recover a portion of the claims

paid. Because of the funds available to pay claims, a substantial portion of the total assessment




must be received as soon as possible. . The following payment options are necessary for the WC
Fund to meet its needs: |

1. A member may elect to pay its individual assessment in full on the date that is the
later of (i) thirty (30) days after entry of ‘the Franklin Circuit Court’s Order approving the
assessments and (ii) July 31, 2014 (the “Due Date”). Pursuant to KRS 304.50-055(9), a member
may finance the payment of the assessment by issuing bonds, notes, or other obligations. Or,

2. A member may elect to pay its individual assessment by payment of (i) twenty-
five (25%) of the amount of the member’s individual assessment by the Due Date and (i1) the
balance in equal annual installments due on July 31 of each yeat over a period of two to six

. years, as the member may elect, and a member’s unpaid balance of its individual assessment may
be prepaid at any time in full, without penalty.

If any assessed member is more than three (3) days past due on any installment payment,
the Rehabilitator will commence collection of such past due installment payment pursuant to
KRS 304.50-055 and KRS 160.160(5) by the intercept of any payment due to such member from
-the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

VI. SUMMARY

‘The Deputy Rehabilitator has prepared this assessment plan to comply with the statutes.
and regulations regarding the assessment of group self-insurance funds in Kentucky. The
Rehabilitator and the Deputy Rehabilitator believe that this Plan of Assessment is a fair and non-
disctiminatory allocation of the amount needed to ensure the WC Fund’s abi]ity-to meet its legal
iiabilities as they become due and payable.

It is important to note that the success of this initial assessment plan depends upon each

participating member’s payment of the assessed amount,




Respectfully Submitted, /)

Signature on file with original document
sharon P, Clark, Commissioner
Kentucky Department of Insurance

as Rehabilitator of the WC Fund




FOR EXHIBIT A PLEASE REFER TO EXHIBIT A OF THE VERIFIED PETITION
FOR REHABILITATION
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11/6/2013

Investments
Cash

Premium A/R
Aliowance

Net Premium A/R
Excess Receivable
Related Party
Accrued investment
Property

Deprec

Net Property
Prepaid Expenses
Total Assets

Unpaid Loss & ALAE
Reported

IBNR

ULAE

increase for Discount

Decrease For Discount *

Total Loss & ALAE
Prem Tax

AP

A/P AUDIt Actuarles
Excess Premiums Due
Advance Premium
Total Liabilities
Payable to Affiliate
Surplus Notes

Total liabilities Surplus Note
Equity W/O Suplus Notes
Total Liabilities & Equity

KSBIT WC
Restatement of Audited Financial Balance Sheet
as of 12/31/96 and 12/31/97

22,106,890 - 22,106,890 23,616,696 23,616,696
1,747,588 - 1,747,588 . 1,237,106 . 1,237,106
885,488 - 885,488 - - -
885,488 ; 885,488 1,042,797 ; )
2,717,567 ; 2,717,567 1,606,935 ; 1,606,935
433,070 . 433,070 179,040 ; 179,040
278,523 ) 278,523 B - -
28,169,126 - 28,169,126 27,682,574 - 26,639,777
6,897,344 6,397,344 - 7,676,825 7,676,825 -
13,607,193 13,607,193 - 12,070,704 12,070,704 -
(26,588,000) 26,588,090 (29,187,126) 29,187,126
20,504,537 (6,083,553) 26,588,090 19,747,529 {9,439,597) 29,187,126
81,351 81,351 229,850 229,850
106,511 106,511 132,407 132,407
371,156 371,156 1,522,758 1,522,758
21,063,555 (5,083,553) 27,147,108 21,632,544 (9,439,597) 31,072,141
21,063,555 (6,083,553) 27,147,108 - 21,632,544 (9,439,597) 31,072,141
7,105,571 6,083,553 1,022,018 6,050,030 9,439,507  {4,432,364)
28,169,126 - 28,169,126 27,682,574 . 26,639,777

* This Is the Discounted Net loss Reserves as of the balance sheet date. Using the current TW Actuarial Study.

EXHIBITC
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11/6/2013 KSBIT WC FUND
ASSESSMENT DETAIL LISTING
(See Assessment Control For Options Used)
Amounts Reflected Include SFA
Assessment Includes SFA as selected>> 35,999,666 21,599,798 14,399,866
MemiNo District Total Assessment |Premium Portion]  Loss Portfon
1000 ADAIR COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 92,392 72,220 20,172
1001 ALLEN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 102,680 85,466 17,214
1002 ANCHORAGE IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 46,233 38,320 7,913
1003 ANDERSON COUNTY BOARD QF EDUCATION 73,487 68,437 5,050
1004 ASHLAND [ND, 8OARD GF EDUCATION 120,575 58,749 61,826
1005 AUGUSTAIND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 8,523 8,523 -
1007 BALLARD COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 212,288 143,173 69,114
1008 BARBOURVILLE IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 51,052 38,043 13,009
1009 BARDSTOWN IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 88,643 31,029 57,614
1010 BARREN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 72,762 71,134 1,629
1011 BATH COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 156,462 74,463 81,999
1012 BEECHWOQOD IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 34,668 18,045 16,623
1013 BELE. COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 339,335 176,653 162,683
1014 .BELLEVUE IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION | 37,594 10,810 - 26,784
1015 BEREA IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 51,759 12,851 38,508
1017 BOONE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 1,579,896 1,442,065 137,831
1018 BOURBON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 297,769 160,982 136,787
1019 BOWLING GREEN IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 47,056 46,975 . B0
1820 BOYD COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 116,884 97,364 19,520
1021 BOYLE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 229,591 162,562 67,029
1022 BRACKEN COUNTY 8CARD OF EDUCATION 58,873 50,537 8,337
1023 BREATHITT COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 473,195 300,315 172,880
1024 BRECKINRIDGE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 56,192 20,362 35,830
1025 BULLITT COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 812,342 542,314 270,028
126 BURGIN IND., BOARD OF EDUCATION 6,373 6,373 -
1027 BUTLER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 58,245 58,245 -
1028 CALDWELL COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 35,900 2é,934 6,966
1029 CALLOWAY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 346,974 . 257,792 89,182
1030 CAMPBELL COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 28,041 27,798 243
1031 CAMPBELLSVILLE IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 122,331 64,226 58,104
1032 CARLISLE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 317,758 64,053 253,705
1033 CARROLL COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 137,754 115,091 22,663
1035 CASEY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATICN 108,745 68,704 40,041
1037 CAVERNA IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 65,180 46,031 19,149
1038 CENTRAL KENTUCKY EDUCATION COOPERATIVE 1,083 1,028 55.
1040 - CHRISTIAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 202,250 137,704 64,545
1041 CLARK COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION - 26,898 26,898 -
1042 CLAY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 357,715 291,155 66,561
1043 CLINTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 17,205 17,905 -
1044 CLOVERPORT IND. BOARD OF ED_UCATION 24,637 24,637 -
1045 CORBIN IND., BOARD OF EDUCATION 226,957 143,605 83,352
1046 COVINGTON IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 61,274 61,274 -
1047 CRITTENDEN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 76,049 7,031 69,018
1048 CUMBERLAND COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 79,052 46,828 32,225
1049 DANVILLE IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION - 47,346 46,030 1,315
1050 DAVIESS COUNTY 80ARD OF EDUCATION 88,231 72,194 16,038
1051 DAWSON SPRINGS IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 52,272 11,212 41,060
1052 . DAYTON IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 33,333 29,278 4,054
1053 EAST BERNSTADT IND. BQARD OF EDUCATION 290,294 41,930 248,364
1054 EDMONSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 61,308 11,114 - 50,194
1055 ELIZABETHTOWN IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 107,875 . 81,648 26,227
1056 ELLIOTT COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 187,753 93,953 93,800
1057 EMINENCE IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 43,311 34,975 8,336
1058 FRLANGER-ELSMERE IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 33,643 22,766 10,878
1059 ESTHL COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 362,857 206,214 156,643

Page T of 4

100.000%
% of Total
Assessment

(0.257%
0.285%
0.128%
0.204%
0.335%
0.024%
(.590%
0.142%
0.246%
0.202%
0.435%
0.096%
0.943%
0.104%
0.144%
4.389%
0.827%
0,131%
0.325%
0.638%
0.164%
1.314%
0.156%
2.257%
0.018%
0.162%
0.160%
0.964%
0.078%
0.340%
0.883%
0.383%
0.302%
0.181%
0.003%
0.562%
0.075%
0.994%
0.050%
0.068%
0.630%
0.170%
0.211%
0.220%
0.132%
0.245%
0.145"0
0.093%
0.806%
0.170%
0.300%
0.522%
0.120%
0.093%
1.008%
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11/6/2013 KSBIT WC FUND ' Page 2 of 4
ASSESSMENT DETAIL LISTING '

{See Assessment Control For Options Used)
Amounts Reflected Include SFA

Assessment Includes SFA as selected>> 35,999,666 21,599,799 14,399,86é ) 100.000%
% of Total
MemMo District Total Assessment [Premium Portion} Loss Portion Assessment
1060 FAIRVIEW IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 71,918 - 41,478 30,440 0.200%
1061 FAYETTE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 2,958,366 2,008,536 949,830 8.218%
1062 FLEMING COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION . 222,805 157,127 65,680 0.619%
1064 . FT. THOMAS IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 86,122 77,472 8,650 0.239%
1065 FRANKFORT IND. BOARD OF EDUCAT[ON 192,684 87,681 105,003 0.535%
1066 FRANKLIN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 304,265 194,225 110,040 0.845%
1067 FULTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 98,032 64,743 33,289 0.272%
1068 FULTON IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 52,050 42,043 10,007 0.145%
1069 GALLATIN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 182,048 111,330 70,219 0.506%
1070 GARRARD COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 186,117 135,730 . 50,387 0.517%
1071 GLASGOW IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 70,866 28,820 42,046 0.197%
1072 GRANT COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 7,859 7,859 - 0.022%
- 1073 GRAVES COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 443,262 243,500 199,762 1.231%
1674 GRAYSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATICN 106,218 63,079 43,140 0.295%
1075 GREEN COUNTY BOARD OF EDU'_CATION 140,858 118,122 24,736 0.391%
1076 GREEN RIVER REGIONAL EDUCATION CQOP, 6,158 3,743 2,414 0.017%
1077 GREENUP COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 397,109 158,655 238,454 1.103%
1079 HANCOCK COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 278,185 119,637 158,548 0.773%
1080 HARDIN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 466,214 373,160 93,054 1.295%
1081 HARLAN IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 240,066 53,226 186,840 0.667%
(1082 HARLAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 78,450 16,185 62,265 0.218%
1083 HARRISON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 94,307 50,745 43,562 0.262%
1084 HARRODSBURG IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 64,253 15,456 48,797 0.178%
1085 HART COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 202,092 139,670 62,422 0.561%
1086 HAZARD IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION 54,585 25,936 28,649 0.152%
1087 HENDERSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION . 143,566 109,012 34,554 0.399%
1088 HENRY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 183,581 78,616 104,965 0.510%
1089 HICKMAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 57,305 57,305 - 0.159%
1090 HOPKINS COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 169,083 92,747 76,336 0.470%
1091 JACKSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 180,411 105,652 74,758 0.501%
1092 JACKSON IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 34,210 27,304 6,905 0.095%
1095 JENKINS IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION 119,735 63,536 56,199 - 0.333%
1096 JESSAMINE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 23,246 10,559 12,687 0.065%
1097 JOHNSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 61,037 41,181 _ 19,856 0.170%
1098 KENTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 637,755 419,917 217,838 1,772%
1099 KENTUCKY EDUCATIONAL DEV, CORP 101,326 18,116 83,211 0.281%
1100 KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION 35,317 35,317 - (.098%
1105 KENTUCKY VALLEY EDUCATIONAL COOPERATIVE 13,698 13,698 - 0.038%
1106 KNOTT COUNTY BOARD OF £EDUCATION 445,678 301,074 144,604 1.238%
1107 KNOX COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 259,205 179,352 79,852 .720%
1108 LARUE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION . 26,854 22,822 4,032 0.075%
1108 {AUREL COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 755,314 508,589 246,724 2.098%
1110 LAWRENCE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 303,850 141,350 162,460 0.844%
1111 LEE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 283,022 121,572 161,450 0.786%
1112 LESLIE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 321,111 133,845 187,267 .892%
1i13 LETCHER COUNTY BOARD QF EDUCATION 517,647 387,726 129,921 1.438%
1114 LEWIS COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION '454,0'818 136,314 317,774 1.261%
1115 LINCOLN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 411,130 188,778 222,352 1.142%
1116 LIVINGSTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 135,945 67,796 68,149 0.378%
1117 LOGAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 20,530 20,530 - 0.057%
1118 LUBLOW IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION ’ 27,858 14,847 13,011 0.077%
1120 LYON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 50,506 11,892 39,014 0.141%
1121 MADISON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 968,300 670,906 297,395 2.690%
1122 MAGOFFIN COUNTY BOARD OF EBUCATION 363,271 201,944 161,327 1.009%
1123 MARION COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION - 364,113 304,955 59,158 1.011%

EXHIBITF




11/6/2013

KSBIT WC FUND

ASSESSMENT DETAIL LISTING
(See Assessment Control For Options Used)

Amounts Reflected Include SFA

Assessment Includes SFA as selected>>

35,999,666

21,599,799

Page 3of4

Membio
1124
1125
1126
1127
1129
1130
1131
1132
1133
1134
1135
1136
1137
1138
1139
1140
1141
1142
1143
1144
1145
1146
1147
1148
1149
1151
1152
1153.
1154
1155
1156
1157
1158
1160
1161
1162
1163
1164
1165
1168
1169
1170
1172
1173
1174
1175
1176
11y7
1178
1179
1181
1182
1133
1184
1185

Distiict
MARSHALL COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MARTIN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MASON COUNTY BOARD OF EBUCATION
MAYFIELD IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
MCCRACKEN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MCCREARY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MCLEAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MEADE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MENIFEE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MERCER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
METCALFE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MIDDLESBORO IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MONTGONERY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MONTICELLD IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
MORGAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
MUHLENBERG COUNTY
MURRAY IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
NELSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
NEWPORT IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
NICHOLAS COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
NORTHERN KY COOP. EDUCATIONAL SERVICES
OHIO COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
OHIO VALLEY EDUCATIONAL COOP,
OLDHAM COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
OWEN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
OWENSBORD IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
OWSLEY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
PADUCAH IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
PAINTSVILLE IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
PARIS IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
PENDLETON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
PERRY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
PIKEVILLE INDEPENDENT BOARD OF ERUCATION
PINEVILLE IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
POWELL COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
PROVIDENCE IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
PULASKI COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
RACELAND IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
ROBERTSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
ROCKCASTLE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
ROWAN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
RUSSELL INDEPENDENT BOARD QF EDUCATION
RUSSELLVILLE IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION
SCIENCE HILL IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
SCOTY COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
SHELBY COUNTY BOARD OF EBUCATION
SILVER GROVE IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
SIMPSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
SOMERSET IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
SOUTHGATE IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
SPENCER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
TAYLOR COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
TODD COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
TRIGG COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION

Total Assessment
192,158
386,493

96,386
305,843
52,118
543,405
211,541
602,574
12,841
353,529
47,064
220,373
138,232
806,641
155,612
400,214
19,913
45,511
158,758

121,765

130,908
19,357
468,653
51,720
827
165,104
200,002
104,246
107,533
125,474
202,353
51,545
1,369
150,081
104,309
178,957
36,160
267,010
273,984
29,905
107,063
507,356
201,845
26,958
35,722
385,642
211,402
29,552
105,534
5,611
3,070
420,445
183,450
237,889
189,753

Premium Portion
106,895
304,525

50,617
101,346
52,118
287,919
109,880
234,273
12,841
216,907
24,302
89,375
63,240
251,387
57,333
144,650
19,913
20,375
82,285
42,415
103,407
12,413
281,577
33,302
827
62,480
95,276
66,637
84,645
64,603
64,506
21,374
22,327
63,338
22,182
58,201
11,120
120,966
73,636
28,029
51,832
366,800
149,936
25,895
32,564
349,089
173,335
16,556
78,353
3,722
3,070
189,313
91,032
151,884
138,899

14,399,866 100.000%
% of Total
Loss Partion Assessment
85,264 0,534%
81,568 1.074%
45,769 0.268%
204,498 0.850%
- 0.145%
255,485 1.508%
101,661 0.588%
368,300 1.674%
R 0.036%
136,622 0.982%
22,762 0.131%
130,998 0.612%
74,993 0.384%
555,254 2.241%
. 98,279 0.432%
255,564 1.112%
- 0.055%
25,136 0.126%
76,473 0.441%
79,348 0.338%
27,501 0.364%
6,944 0.054%
187,077 1.302%
18,418 0.144%
- 0.002%
102,624 - 0.459%
104,776 0.556%
37,609 0.290%
22,883 o 0.299%
60,871 0.349%
137,847 0.562%
30,i71 - (.143%
69,043 0.254%
86,744 0.417%
82,127 0.290%
120,756 0.497%
25,040 0.100%
146,044 0.742%
200,347 0.761%
1,876 0.083%
55,231 0.297%
140,557 1.409%
51,909 0.561%
1,064 0.075%
3,158 0.099%
36,554 1.071%
38,067 0.587%
12,996 0.082%
27,181 0.293%
1,888 0.016%
- 0.005%
231,133 1.168%
92,418 0.516%
86,005 0.661%
50,854 0.527%
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11/6/2013

KSBIT WC FUND

ASSESSMENT DETAIL LISTING
(See Assessment Control For Options Used)

Amounts Reflected Include SFA

35,959,666

21,589,799

14,399,866

‘ MemiNo
1186
1187
1189
1190
1191
1192
1193
1194
1196
1197
1199
1200
1201
1202
1203
4007

Assessment Includes SFA as selected>>

Dlstrict
TRIMBLE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
UNION COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
WALTON-VERONA IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
WARREN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
WASHINGTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
WAYNE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
WEBSTER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
WEST KENTUCKY EDUCATIONAL COQP.
WEST POINT IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
WHITLEY COUNTY BOARD OF £EDUCATION
WILLIAMSBURG IND. BOARD OF EDUCATION
WILLIAMSTOWN IND, BOARD OF EDUCATION
WOLFE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
WOODFORD COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION
Thorn Hill Center Foundatian, Inc.
Campbellsville University

Total Assessment

74,716
313,102
34,802
366,340
206,544
440,708
37,004
25,924
33,927
540,305
71,080
63,997
23,822
237,429
2,216
2,412

Premium Portion
21,857
49,359
17,103

331,643
78,304
263,322
36,367
25,227
13,457
361,432
71,080
53,624
15,814
168,943
2,216
2,412

Loss Portion
52,859
263,744
17,699
34,698
128,239

177,386

637
697
20,470
178,872
10,373
8,008
68,486

% of Total
Assessiment

Page 4 of 4

100.000%

0.208%
0.870%
0.097%
1.018%
0.574%
1.224%
0,103%
0.072%
0.094%
1.501%
0.197%
0.178%
0.066%
0.660%
0.006%
0.007%
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KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST

- KENTUCKY SURPLUS NOTE
WORKERS COMPENSATION FUND

$5,500,000.00
: Dated%_b_, 2010
‘ _ Frankfort, Kentucky

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE
TRUST, a trust created under an Agreement and Declaration of Trust dated July 7, 1978 among
Kentucky School Boards Association, the Trust and the trustees named therein, as amended (the
“Trust”) promises to pay to the order of KENTUCKY LEAGUE OF CITIES INSURANCE
SERVICES ASSOCIATION, an unincorporated association created by Interlocal Agreement
dated 1987, or its registered assigns (the “Holder”), the sum of Five Million Five Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($5,500,000.00), plus interest as set forth below, and subject to the restrictions
set forth below, Payment of the principal of and interest on this Note will be made in such
currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for
payment of public and private debis.

The unpaid principal balance of this Note, as it shall exist from time to time, shall bear
interest at a rate per annum which shall be equal to the sum of the year to date yield on the S&P
Index weighted at twenty percent (20%) plus the year to date yield on the Bar Cap Index
weighted at eighty percent (80%). Provided, however, in no event shall the annual interest rate
be less than one percent (1%) or greater than five percent (5%).

The interest rate applicable to this Note shall be adjusted annually, within 90 days of the
end of the fiscal year, while this Note is outstanding and based on any change in the S&P Index
and the Bar Cap U.S. Aggregate Bond Index between the immediately preceding interest
adjustment date to the then current interest adjustment date. '

On the date of this Note, the year to date yield on the S&P Index (calculated from
January 1, 2009, to December 31, 2009) is 26.45 percent and the year to date yield on the Bar
Cap U.S. Aggregate Bond Index (calculated from January 1, 2009, to December 31, 2009) is
5.93 percent, making the current interest rate S percent until adjusted as set forth herein,

Subject to the restrictions set forth below, interest on this Note shall be due and payable
quarterly, with the first such interest payment being due and payable on the 15% day of February
2010 and the subsequent interest payments being due and payabie on the 15th day of each April,
July, October and January thereafter until this Note is paid in full. Interest on this Note shall be
calculated on the basis of actual days clapsed over a 365 or 366 day year, as applicable.

This Note is payable solely out of the surplus of the Trust in excess of $2,000,000 (the
amount of which is referred to as the “Minimum Surplus™). For purposes of this Note, the term
“surplus” shall be that amount determined for statutory reporting purposes at the end of each
fiscal year in accordance with accounting practices required by the Department of Insurance of
the Commonwealth of Kentucky, as reported under the classification “Total Net Worth” for the
Workers Compensation Fund in the annual statement of the Trust that is required to be filed with
PE84:41325:335268:3: LEXINGTON |
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the Kentucky Commissioner of Insurance on or before one hundred twenty (120) aays from the
end of the self insured group's fiscal year.

This Note has no fixed maturity date. This Note may be paid by the Trust at such time or
times as the Trustees of the Trust, with the prior approval of the Kentucky Commissioner of
Insurance in accordance with Section 304.24-300 of the Kentucky Insurance Code, or any
subsequently enacted statute of similar import, shall, in good faith, determine that principal of or
interest on this Note can be paid to the Holder out of the Minimum Surplus of the Trust, Subject
to such approvals, this Note is subject to redemption in whole or in multiples of principal of
$1,000 at any time by the Trust. In making any call of less than all outstanding surplus notes of
the Trust of equal rank with this Note, the Trust shall have absolute discretion in selecting the
notes called for redemption or in determining the method of prorating the call. Interest shall not
accrue on any principal after the redemption date set forth in the notice of redemption as set forth
by the Trust, '

If any principal of and interest accrued on this Note is not paid because the then

. Minimum Surplus of the Trust is insufficient to do 80, the failure to pay the principal of and
interest accrued on this Note shall not constitute a default, but interest on the principal amount
shall continue to accrue and to be paid to the Holder of this Note and the principal amount shall
be paid by the Trust when, in the determination of the Kentucky Commissioner of Insurance,
payment may be made from Minimum Surplus of the Trust available for that purpose pursvant to
Section 304.24-300 of the Kentucky Insurance Code or any subsequently enacted statute of
similar import,

The principal amount of this Note shall not form a part of the Trust’s statutory legal
liabilities, except to the extent of its surplus in excess of the Minimum Surplus, or be the basis of
any set-off,

This Note is issued pursuant to a resolution of the Trustees of the Trust adopted on
November 24, 2009 and which authorizes the issuance of this Note.

This Note may be transferred by the Holder without obtaining any approval of its transfer
upon surrender of this Note for transfer to the Trust at jts principal place of business, duly
endorsed by the Holder, or accompanied by a written instroment of transfer duly executed by the
Holder, No transfer of this Note shall be valid or recognized by the Trust until such transfer is
recorded on the books of the Trust and this Note is surrendered for transfer.

The Note is exchangeable for like aggregate amount of Notes of a different denomination
as requested by the Holder surrendering the same upon payment of taxes and other governmental
charges, provided that the Holder may not require issuance in denominations of less than $1,000
and multiples thereof. : ~

No personal liability attaches by virtue of this Note and 1o recourse shall be had, either
directly or indirectly, through the Trust or any liquidator, receiver, assignee, or any other person,
for payment of the principal of or interest on this Note against any member, trustee, officer,
director or agent of the Trust under any rule of law, statute, constitution or otherwise and any
lability of members, trustees, officers, directors and agents of the Trust is expressly released by
each successive Holder by acceptance of this Note.
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Upon liguidation or dissclution of the Trust, Senior Obligations shall be paid before any
principal of or interest on this Note may be paid. Any payments or distributions to members or
beneficiaries of the Trust or successor entities shall be subordinate to the payment of any amount
under this Note. The Holder of this Note shall have no rights of any kind against the Trust under
this Note, except the right to receive payment of principal of and interest on this Note as herein
provided and to enforce the same. '

For purposes of this Note:

“S&P Index” means the Standard & Poor's 500 Index (stock-market index) as published
in the “Money & Investing” section of the Midwestern edition of the Wall Street Journal (or, if
the Wall Street Journal ceases publication of the S&P Index, then as published by another
reputable financial news source reasonably selected hy the Trust) on the date hereof and on each
interest adjustment date or, if not published on such date, on the last preceding date of

publication,.

“Bar Cap U.S. Aggregate Bond Index" means the Barclays Capital United States
Aggregate Bond Index or Barclay’s Capital bond benchmark as published in the “Money &
Investing” section of the Midwestern edition of the Wall Street Journal (or, if the Wall Street
Journal ceases publication of the Bar Cap Index rate, then as published by another reputable
financial news source reasonably selected by the Trust) on the date hereof and on each interest
adjustment date or, if not published on such date, on the last preceding date of publication,

“Senior Obligations” means, at any time, any and all Senior Debt and Policy Claims then
outstanding,

: “Senior Debt” means (i) all existing or future Debt of the Trust, (ii) all existing or future
Debt of other Persons, the payment of which is guaranteed by the Trust, (iii) all existing or future
obligations of the Trust under any agreement obligating the Trust to cause another Person to
maintain certain financial ratios, a minimum leve! of net worth or otherwise to ensure the
solvency of such person, and (iv) any expense or any claim or amount, to the extent that
repayment of principal of and payment of the interest on the Notes is required by applicable
insurance law to be subordinated to the prior payment thereof; provided, that any debt '
subordinate to, or that ranks equally with, the Notes shall not constitute Senior Debt. “Senior
Debt” does not include (x) any future surplus notes or similar obligations of the Trust, which
would rank subordinate to or of equal rank with the Notes, or (y) premium refunds, if any, which
are not in the ordinary course of business. .

“Policy Claims” means all existing or future claims of policyholders, claimants or
beneficiaries, as the case may be, under any and all existing or future policies, endorsements,
tiders and other contracts of insutance, annuity contracts (including guaranteed investment
contracts), participation agrcements, self-insurance agreements and funding agreements issued,
assumed or renewed by the Trust on or prior to the date hereof or hereafter created and all other
claims which, pursuant to Statutory accounting principles permitted or prescribed by the
Department of Insurance of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, including Section 304.24-300 of
the Kentucky Insurance Code, as amended, have priority over claims with respect to the Notes.
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“Debt” means, with respect to any Person, whether recourse is to all or a portion of the
assets of such Person, whether currently existing or hereafter incurred and whether or not
contingent and without duplication, (i) every obligation of such Person for money borrowed; (if)
every obligation of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar
instruments, including obligations incurred in connection with the acquisition of property, assets
or businesses; (iii) every reimbursement obligation of such Person with respect o letters of credit,
bankers’ acceptances or similar facilities issued for the account of such Person; (iv) every
obligation of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property or
services (but excluding trade accounts payable or other accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary
course of business); (v) every capital lease obligation of such Person; (vi) all indebtedness of
such Person, whether incurred on or prior to the date of this Note or thereafter incurred, for
claims in respect of derivative products, including interest rate, foreign exchange rate and
commodity forward contracts, options and swaps and similar arrangements; (vii) every
obligation of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) or another Person and all dividends of
another Person the payment of which, in either case, such Person has guaranteed or is
responsible or liable for, directly or indirectly, as obligor or otherwise; and (viii) any renewals,
extensions, refundings, amendments or modifications of any obligation of the type referred to in
clauses (i) through (vii), '

“Person” means legal person, including individual, corporation, estate, partnership, joint
venture, association, joint stock company, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated
association, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, or any other entity of

whatever nature,

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Trust has duly executed this Note on; sﬁ,ﬂ . LQ .
2010.

KENTUCKY SCHOOI. ROAR N TNRTTR ANrE TOTTG
Signature on file with original document

By:

——

Name: ﬂdrm" )] /”alm.

Title: _ Cheingan

Signature on file with original document

Name:_Kth_&m"_Ug{
TEEIe:__Q.Q[QMBﬂOIR&J'
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MASTER AGREEMENT

THIS MASTER AGREEMENT is made and entered into effective as of December X4,
2009 by and between (i) the KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE TRUST
(“KSBIT™), a trust created under an Agreement and Declaration of Trust dated July 7, 1978
between the Kentucky School Boards Association (“KSBA”) and certain trustees named therein,
as amended (the Agreement and Declaration of Trust, as amended, is referred to as the
“Declaration of Trust™), and (ii) the KENTUCKY LEAGUE OF CITIES INSURANCE
SERVICES ASSOCIATION, (“KLCIS”), an unincorporated association created by Interlocal
Agreement dated 1987, and KENTUCKY LEAGUE OF CITIES, INC.,, a Kentucky non-sto ck,
non-profit corporation, acting as Administrator for KLCIS in its corporate capacity, both entities
collectively referred to as (“KLC™). : -

[P R 4

A. - KSBIT’s purposes are to provide patticipating members of KSBA with (i) risk
management services, and (if) group self-insurance through various funds, consisting at present
of a property and liability fund (the “P/L Fund”), a workers compensation fund (the “Workers
Comp Fund”) and an unemployment insurance find (the “UI Fund”) (the P/L Fund and Workers
Comp Fund [but not the UI Fund] are sometimes together referred to as the “Funds®).

B. KSBIT and KLC have agreed on a plan under which KLC will help KSBIT meet
statutory surplus requirements for the P/L Fund and Workers Comp Fund and KLC wil]
administer the Funds, The terms and conditions of the Plan are set forth in this Agreement.

In consideration of the recitals, the agreements contained in this Agreement and other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, KSBIT
and KLC, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
SURPLUS NOTES

Section 1.1 Surplus Notes. At the Closing (as defined in Article 6), KLC will
purchase front KSBIT two Surplus Notes (the “Surplus Notes”) substantially in the form of
Exhibit A & B attached hereto, with all blanks properly completed and duly executed by KSBIT.
The Surplus Notes will be in the amount of $2,500,000 for the P/L Fund and $5,500,000 for the
Workers Comp Fund. : .

Section 1.2 Use of Proceeds. The proceeds from the sale of the Surplus Notes shall
only be used and applied by KSBIT for the purpose of funding the existing deficit in the Funds.

EXHIBIT
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ARTICLE 2
ADMINISTRATION

Section 2.1 Administration Agreement. At the Closing, KSBIT and KLC will
execute and deliver an Adminisiration Agreement (the “Administration Agreement”)
substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached hereto,

Section 2.2 Endorsement Agreement. At the Closing, KSBIT will deliver to KLC an
Exclusive Endorsement and Services Agreement (the “Endorsement Agreement”) substantially
in the form of Exhibit C attached hereto and duly executed by KSBA and KSBIT. Under the
Endorsement Agreement, KSBA will agree to endorse exclusively the P&I, Fund and Workers
Comp Fund for KSBA members’ property and liability and workets comp insurance and to
provide certain services to the Funds, The Endorsement Agreement will provide for an annual
endorsement and services fee payable to KSBA, The fee will equal one and one-quarter percent
(1.25%) of annual gross billed premiums of the Funds, but not to exceed $500,000 i any fiscal
year. The term of the Endorsement Agreement will equal the term of the Administration
Agreement. .

Section 2.3 Amendments to Declaration of Trust. At the Closing, KSBIT will
deliver to KLC certified copies of an Amendment to the Declaration of Trust (the “Trust
Amendment”) substantially in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto and duly executed by KSBA

. and KSBIT. Among other things, the Trust Amendment will:

(&)  increase the number of KSBITs Trustees to nineteen (19);

(b)  provide that during the term of the Administration Agreement, KLC shall
be entitled to appoint nine (9) of KSBIT’s Trustees (the “KL.C Trustees™);

() allow citf officials to serve as KL.C Trustees; and

(@  provide that during the term of the Administration Agreement, all formal

2.
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written recommendations submitted to the Trustees at a “Qualified Meeting” (as defined
below) by KLC, acting in its capacity as Administrator for KSBIT, will be deemed
accepted by the KSBIT Trustees unless at least ten (10) Trustees, at least five (5) of
whom must be KLC Trustees, vote against a recommendation (any vote requiring at least
ten (10) Trustees, at least five (5) of whom must be KL.C Trustees, is referred to as a
“Special Majority Vote”), and the following actions will require a Special Majority Vote
(except as provided otherwise below):

(D Anyamendment, modification, waiver or termination of this
Agreement, Administration Agreement, Surplus Notes, Subseription Agreement
or Endorsement Agreement. i

, (i)  Any amendment, modification, repeal or replacement of any
provision of the Declaration of Trust or KSBIT’s Bylaws that directly affects this
Agreement or the agreements or transactions described therein.

(iif)  Any dissolution, liquidation, termination, receivership,
reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all assets of KSBIT or any of the Funds, unless required by the
Kentucky Department of Insurance (“KDI”) or a court or other regulatory agency
having competent jurisdiction and authority.

(iv)  Any changes, modifications, amendments or revisions in the
insurance coverages available from the Funds or the Funds® Participation
Agreements or Self-Insurance Agreements,

(v}  Any decisions relating to the Funds’ rates, charges, reserves or
actuarial procedures or assumptions not recommended or approved by KLC.

Provided, however, that a Special Majority Vote shall not be required for:
(A) nonrenewal of the term of the Administration Agreement or Endorsement
Agreement at any regularly scheduled expiration date (provided that proper notice
of nonrenewal is given); (B) any legally permitted prepayment, in whole or in
patt, of the Sutplus Notes, (C) termination of the Master Agreement,
Administration Agreement or Endorsement Agreement by KSBIT for any reason
for which KSBIT is allowed to terminate those Agresments under their terms, (D)
any assessment, (E) election of officers, (F) each party’s appointment or removal
of its Trustees pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (G) any action that, based

-3
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on the opinion of outside legal counsel, is required to be faken by the Trustees to
meet legal or fiduciary duties, (H) any action not related to the Funds, or (1)
retention of auditors or separate, non-claims counsel for KSBIT or the Trustees

appointed by KSBA.,

(¢)  Forpurposes of this Agreement, a “Qualified Meeting” means a meeting
of the Trustees, duly held pursuant o proper call and notice, at which a quorum is present and at
least five (5) KLCIS Trustegs are present,

Section 2.4 Amendments io Bylaws. At the Closing, KSBIT shall deliver to XLC
certified copies of an Amendment to KSBIT’s Bylaws (the “Bylaws Amendment”) substantially
in the form of Exhibit F, attached hereto. The Bylaws Amendment shall conform to the Trust

Amendment,

Section 2.5 UL Fund. The UI Fund is not included in the transactions describ edin
this Agreement, and KSBIT will continue to operate, manage and administer the UT Fund
sepaately, either on its own or through contractors, -

ARTICLE 3
CERTAIN OTHER AGREEMENTS
Section 3,1 Cooperation. Each of KSBIT and KLC shall use reasonable efforts in

good faith to perform and fulfill all conditions and obligations to be fulfilled or performed by it
under this Agreement and to procure upon reasonable terms and conditions afl approvals,

. consents.and registrations necessary for the transactions described in this Agreement,

- Section 3.2 Access to Information, KSBIT will give KLC and its employees,
accountants, attorneys and other authorized representatives reasonable access during normal
business hours to the Funds’ books and records, and furnish KLC with such financial, operating,
claims, reserves and other information of the Funds as KL.C shall from time to time reasonably
request, Any information reviews or site visits by KLC shall be conducted in a manner which
does not unreasonably interfere with KSBIT's operations,
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ARTICLE 4
CONDITIONS TO XL.C'S OBLIGATIONS

KLC’s obligations to consummate the transactions described in this Agreement are
subject to the satisfaction, on or before the Closing Date, of the following conditions, each of
which may be waived by KI.C in its sole discretion:

Section 4,1 Consents. All KDI and other requisite governmental, regulatory and
third party licenses, permits, consents and approvals required to be recefved in connection with
the iransactions described in this Agreement, or as necessary or appropriate forKLCto
administer the Funds after the Closing, shall have been obtained, except as otherwise agreed by
KLC,

Section 4.2 Closing Documents. KSBIT shall have delivered to KLC all of the
agreoments and other documents required by this Agreement to be delivered by KSBIT.

Section 4.3 No Actions, Suits or Proceedings. As of the Closing Date, no action,
suit, investigation or proceeding brought by any person, corporation, governmental agency or
other entity shall be pending or threatened before any court or govemmental body (i) to restrain,
prohibit, restrict or delay, or to obtain damages or a discovery order in respect of, this Agreement
or the consummation of the fransactions deseribed herein, ot (ii) which has or may have a
materially adverse effect on the condition, financial or otherwise, businesses or prospects of
KSBIT. No order, decree or judgment of any court or governmental body shall have been issued
testraining, prohibiting, restricting or delaying the consummation of the fransactions described in
this Agreement, No insolvency proceeding of any character, including without limitation KDI
receivership, rehabilitation or liquidation, or other bankruptey, receivership, reorganization,
dissolution, liquidation or termination, voluntary or involuntary, affecting KL.C, KSBIT or the
Funds shall be pending or threatened.

Section 4.4 Review Satisfactory. KLC shall be satisfied in all respects with the
results of its review of the Funds,

Section 4.5 No Adverse Changes., There shall not have occurred any material
adverse change (or fact, circumstance or condition that could result in a material adverse change)
in KSBIT, the Funds or their financial conditions, businesses, assets, prospeots or operations.
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Section 4.6 Board Approval. This Agreement, the Surplus Notes, Administration
Agreement and Endorsement Agreement, and the transactions described herein and therein, shall
have been duly authorized and approved by the Kentucky League of Cities’ Executive Board or
KLCIS’ Board of Trustees, as applicable.

Section 4.7 Required Surplus. The total amount of surplus required by the Funds to
meet statutory or KDI standards shall not exceed $8,000,000.

ARTICLE 5
CONDITIONS TO KSBIT’S OBLIGATIONS

KSBITs obligations to consummate the transactions described in this Agreement are
subject to the satisfaction, on or before the Closing Date, of the following conditions, each of

a

which may be waived by KSBIT in its sole discretion:

Section 5.1 Consents. All KDI and other requisite governmental, regulatory and
third party licenses, permits, consents and approvals requited to be received in connection with
the transactions described in this Agreement, or as necessary or appropriate for KLC to
administer the Funds after the Closing, shall have been obtained, except as otherwise agreed by
KSBIT.

Section52  Closing Documents. KLC shall have delivered to KSBIT all of the
agreements and other documents required by this Agreement to be delivered by KL.C,

Section 5.3 No Actions, Suits or Proceedings. As of the Closing Date, no action,
suit, investigation or proceeding brought by any person, corporation, governmental agency or
other entity shall be pending or threatened before any court or governmental body (i) to restrain,
prohibit, restrict or delay, or to obtain damages or a discovery order in respect of this Agreement
or the consummation of the transactions described herein, or (i) which hag or may have a
materially adverse effect on the condition, financial or otherwise, businesses or prospects of
KSBIT or KL.C. No order, decree or Judgment of any court or governmental body shall have
been issued restraining, prohibiting, restricting or delaying the consummation of the transactions
described in this Agreement. No insolvency proceeding of any character, including without
limitation KDI receivership, rehabilitation or liquidation, or other bankruptey, receivership,
reorganization, dissolution, liquidation or termination, voluntary or involuntary, affecting KL.C,
KSBIT or the Funds shall be pending or threatened.

. .-
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Section 5.4 No Adverse Changes. There shall not have oceurred any material
adverse change (or fact, circumstance or condition that could result in a material adverse change)
in KLC, KSBIT, the Funds or their respective financial conditions, businesses, assets, prospects
or operations,

Section 5.5 Board Approvals, This Agreement, the Surplus Notes, Administration

* Agreement, Endorsement Agreement, Trust Amendment and Bylaws Amendment, and the

transactions described herein and therein, shall have been duly authorized and approved by
KSBA’s Board of Directors or KSBIT’s Trustees, as applicable,

Section 5.6 Required Surplus. The total amount of surplus required by the Funds to
meet statutory or KDI standards shall not exceed $8,000,000. .

ARTICLE 6
CLOSING

Subject to satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in this Agreement
or termination of this Agreement under Article 7, the closing of the transactions described in this
Agreement (the "Closing") shall be held as soon as practicable and in any case on or before
December 31, 2009 (the "Closing Date"), and shall be effective as of 11:59 p.m. eastera time on
the Closing Date. KLC and KSBIT currently expect the Closing to take place on December 8,
2009.. The Closing shall be held at the offices of Stites & Harbison, PLLC, 250 West Main
Street, Suite 2300, Lexington, Kentucky 40507, at 1:30 p.m, on the Closing Date, or at such
other time and place as the parties may mutually agree, Time is of the essence for the Closing,

ARTICLE 7
TERM AND TERMINATION

The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date hereof and continue until the
occurrence of any of the following events:

Section 7.1 Termination Prior to Closing. This Agreement may be terminated prior
to Closing as follows: : : '
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(@ Dafe Certain, By KSBIT or KLC, if for any reason the Closing has not
been consummated by the close of business on December 31, 2009,

(b)  Mutual Consent. By the mutual written consent of KSBIT and KLC.

(¢}  Breaches or Failures of Conditions Precedent,

@ By KLC, in addition to any other remedies it may have, upon prior
written notice, if KSBIT materially breaches this Agreement or upon the failure
and nonwaiver of any condition precedent set out in Article 4, unless within ten
(10) business days after written notice from KLC (but in no event after December
31, 2009), KSBIT shall have cured such breach or failure to the reasonable
satisfaction of KLC.

(i) By KSBIT, in addition to any other remedies it may have, upon
prior written notice, if KLC materially breaches this Agreement or upon the
failure and nonwaiver of any condition precedent set out in Article S, unless

- within ten (10) days after the written notice from KSBIT (but in no event after
December 31, 2009), KL.C shall haye cured such breach or failure to the
reasonable satisfaction of KSBIT.

_ Section 7.2 Termination After Closing. This Agreement may be terminated after
Closing as follows:

(@)  The term of this Agreement shall automatically terminate upon expiration
ot termination of the term of the Administration Agreement for any reason, without any
further or separate notice or action,

(b)  The termination, liquidation or dissolution of either of the Funds, KSBA,
KSBIT or KI.C.

(¢)  Upon any final, non-appealable order of the Kentucky Depariment of |

Insurance or court, if so ordered. :
' ARTICLE 8

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 8.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other agreements and
documents described herein contain the entire agreement and understanding between KSBIT and
KL.C with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersede all prior oral or written
agreements, understandings or negotiations relating to the subject matter of this Agreéement,

-8- .
DES84:41325:333914:6:LEXINGTON




SO

Section 8.2 Modifications and Amendments. The terms and provisions of this
Agreement may be modified or amended only by written agreement executed by the party or
parties to be charged.

Section 8.3 Assignment; Binding Bffect. Neither this Agreement, nor any right
hereunder, may be assigned by KLC or KSBIT without the prior written consent of the other.
This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, KSBIT, KL.C and their
respective successors and permitted assigns,

Section 8.4 Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the
parties hereunder shall be governed by the internal laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky,
regardiess of the principles of conflicts of laws applied by Kentucky or any other jurisdiction.

Section 8.5 Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each party
shall pay its own fecs and expenses (including the fees of any attorneys, accountants, actuaries or
others engaged by such party) incurred in connection with this Agteement and the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, whether or not the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement are consummated,

Section 8.6 . Counterparts, This Agreement may be executed in one or more
counterparts, cach of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of
which, when taken together, shall be deemed to constitute one and the same Agreement,

Section 8.7 Notices. Any notices or other communications required or permitted
under this Agreement shall be sufficiently given if delivered in person or sent by e-mail,

facsimile or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed to the recipient at

the address set forth beneath its signature to this Agreement, or to such other address as a party
may designate in writing in accordance herewith. If sent by e-mail, the notice must state in the
caption that it is a notice under this Agreement.

Section 8.8 Construction. As used herein, unless the context otherwise requires: ()
references to "Articles” and "Sections" are to articles and sections of this Agreement; (b) all
references to "Exhibits" herein are to the Exhibits attached heteto, all of which are an integral
part hereof, are incorporated herein by reference and are made a part hereof; (¢) "include,"

_ 9.
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"includes" and "including" are deemed to be followed by "without limitation" whether or not
they are in fact followed by such words or words of like import; (d) "herein,” "hereof," "hereto,"
and the like refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or

- provision of this Agreement; and () the headings of the various sections and other subdivisions

hereof are for convenience of reference only and shall not modify, define or limit any of the
ferms or provisions hereof.

Section 8.9 Interpretations, Neither this Agreement nor any uncertainty or ambiguity
herein shall be construed or resolved against any party, whether under any rule of construction or

* otherwise, No party to this Agreement shall be considered the draftsman. The parties

acknowledge and agree that this Agreement has been reviewed, negotiated, and accepted by both
prtics and their attorneys and shall be construed and interpreted according to the ordinary
meaning of the words used so as fairly to accomplish the purposes and intentions of all parties
hereto. )

‘Section 8.1¢  Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid
or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to that jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of
such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining
terms and provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the
terms or provisions of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction, If any provision of this
Agreement is so broad as to be unenforceable, the provision shalf be interpreted to be only so
broad as is enforceable.

Section 8.11  Jurisdiction; Service of Process. Any suit, action or other proceeding
seeking to enforce any provision of, or based wpon any right arising out of, in connection with, or
in any way relating to, this Agreement shall be brought in the Cireuit Court sitting in Franklin
County, Kentucky, or the United States District Coust for the Eastern District of Kentucky. Each
party hereby imevocably consents and submits to the jurisdiction and venue of these courts and
irrevocably waives any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue
of any suit, action or proceeding brought in these courts and any claim that the suit, action or
proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum. f

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Signatures appear on the following page.]
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KSBIT, KLCIS and KLC have executed and delivered this Agreement effective as of the

date set forth in the caption.
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KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS INSURANCE
TRUSnéignature on file with original document

By: . 7
Titte:__{testdeat~K'si Al
Address: Atin: %i\\ S c,g%T‘

260 Democrat Drive
Frankfort, KY 40601-8212

Fax: 502-695-5451

EMail_ RN . Seels XM GT\(

KENTUCKY LEAGUE OF CITIES INSURANCE
SERVICES ASSOCIATION __-
Signature on file with original document

Byz
Tile £5_fPr L fl e tve 7t B

/;4, A Tot? S e Z"/’ e
Address: Attn: General Counsel

100 East Vine Street

Suite 800
Lexington, Kentucky 40507

Fax: 859-977-3703

E-Mail: tjuett@kle.org
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KENTUCKY LEAGUE OB CITIES, INC.

By Signature on file with original document

Title: % Exeovdtyve. Mirechoe

"Address: Attn: General Counsel

100 East Vine Street
Suite 800
Lexington, Kentucky 40507

Fax: 859-977-3703
E-Mail: tjuett@klc.org
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY
FRANKLIN CIRCUIT COURT
DIVISION
CIVIL, ACTION NO.

SHARON P. CLARK, IN HER
CAPACITY AS COMMISSIONER OF

KENTUCKY OFFICE OF PETITIONER
INSURANCE

V. ORDER OF REHABILITATION

KENTUCKY SCHOOIL BOARDS

INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS’

COMPENSATION SELF INSURANCE

FUND, 1T AL. . RESPONDENTS

|||||||||

Petitioner Sharon P. Clark, Commissioner of Insurance for the Commonwealth of
Kentucky (the “Commissioner”) filed a Verified Petition for Rehabilitation (the “Petition”) as
against Kentucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers’ Compensation Fund (the “Fund”).
The Court has considered the Petition, is duly advised, and finds that the relief sought in "[he-
Petition should be immediately granted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED that:

L. The Commissioner, including her successots in office, is hereby appointed as the
Rehabilitator of the Fund and is bestowed with all authority and powers of a Rehabilitator as
provided by KRS 304.33, including, but not limited to:

(a) all the powers of the directors, officers, and managers of the Fund, whose
authority shall be suspended, except as they are re-delegated by the Rehabilitator;

(b)  the power and authority to direct, manage, hire and discharge employees
subject to any contract rights they may have;

(¢}  the power and authority to deal with the property and business of the
insurer; .




(dy  the exclusive authority to prosecute any action that exists on behalf of
members or policyholders of the Fund against any director or officers of the Fund or any other
person or entity.

(e) the power and authority to employ and fix the compensation, with court
approval, of any special deputy rehabilitators, counsel, clerks, and assistants, all of whom shall
serve at the pleasure of the Rehabilitator; to pay all expenses of taking possession of the Fund
and other costs and expenses of the administration of this proceeding; and, to pay such

compensation and other costs and expenses of administration out of the funds or assets of the
Fund. '

2. The Rehabilitator is directed to take possession of all assets of KSBIT Workers’
Compensation Fund as soon as possible and to administer them under the general supervision of
this Court.

3. The Rehabilitator is directed to take such action respecting ﬁending Iitigaﬁén
~ against the Fund as she considers necessary in the interests of justice and for the protection of
policyholders and the public, and to consider all litigation pending outside Kentucky and to
petition the courts having jurisdiction over that litigation for stays whenever necessary to protect
the Fund.

4, Any court or tribunal in Kentucky before which any action or proceeding in
which the Fund is a party or is obligated to defend a party is pending shall stay that action or
proceeding for such time as is necessary for the Rehabilitator to obtain‘proper representation and
prepare for further proceedings.

5. KSBIT Workers’ Compensation Fund’s fiscal administration and day-to-day
operation shall continued to be maintained and administered by Kentucky League of Cities and

third-party administrator Collins & Co. accoi‘ding to the terms of the agreements between them,




until such time as the Rehabilitator or this Court directs otherwise, and any action by the parties
to the contrary is stayed by entry of this order.
| 6; The Rehabilitator is directed to provide accountings to this Court at intervals of
every 3 months,
7. The Rehabilitator is authorized to employ Joseph N. Pope as a Special Deputy
Rehabilitator and to compensate Mr. Pope at a rate of $175.
8. The Court retains jurisdiction to issue such further orders as it may deem

appropriate.

Dated:

Judge, Franklin Circuit Court




COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY
FRANKLIN CIRCUIT COURT
DIVISION
CIVIL ACTION NO.

SHARON P. CLARK, IN HER
CAPACITY AS COMMISSIONER OF
KENTUCKY OFFICE OF
INSURANCE,

PETITIONER

ORDER APPROVING LOSS PORTFOLIO
TRANSFER AND ASSESSMENT PLAN

V.

KENTUCKY SCHOOL BOARDS

INSURANCE TRUST WORKERS’ -

COMPENSATION SELF-INSURANCE

FUND, ET ALL RESPONDENTS

Petitioner Sharon P. Clark, Commissioner of Insurance for the Commonwealth of
Kentucky (the “Commissioner™), filed a Vetified Petftion for Rehabilitation (the “Petition”) as
against K_entucky School Boards Insurance Trust Workers’ Compensation Self-Insurance Fund
(the “Fund”). The Court considered the Petition and entered an order appointing the
Commissioner and her succes..sm's in office as the Rehabilitator of the Fund.

KRS 304.33-160(5) authotizes the Rehabilitator to ente£ into plans for the reorganization,
conversion, consoiidation,.reinsurance, merger, or other transformation of the Fund. Pursuant
thereto, the Rehabilitator in the Petition moved this Court to approve a Loss Portfolio Transfer
Agreement (the “LPT Agreement”) with Kentucky Employers Mutual Insurance t“KEMI”). The
Court has considered the Petition, has considered the proposed LPT Agreement, and has
considered any and all opposition thereto.

IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that:




1. The Rehabilitator’s plan to enter into a LPT Agreement with KEMI is in the best
interests of the Fund’s policyholders, injured worker claimants, and the public,

2. The LPT Agreement, as described in the Petition and as attached to the Petition as
Exhibit B, was properly prepared in accordance with KRS 304.33-160(5), which authorizes plans
for reorganization, conversion, consolidation, reinsurance, merger, or other transformation of an
insurer.

3. The.Court approves the LPT Agreement and has determined and order§ that all
terms and conditions set forth therein are fair, reasonable, and in the best interest of the Fund’s
policyholders, injured worker claimants, and the public.

4, The Court approves the LPT Agreement and the terms and conditions thereof,
including, inter alia:

' (@)  the transfer to KEMI of the workers’ compensation Portfolio (as defined
in the LPT Agreement) free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances of any kind,
including all binders, contracts, certificates, and other obligations of the workers’ compensation
coverage issued by the Fund to its members prior to June 30, 2013 and identified in the LPT
Agreement, together with the Hability to pay all losses covered by the contracts of coverage to all
Fund members as it may be limited by the LPT Agreement;

(b)  the transfer and assignment to KEMI of all rights and interests of KSBIT
and the Fund in all excess insurance policies and policies of reinsurance, irrespective of any
restrictions or limitations contained in the excess insurance policies and policies of reinsurance
respecting assignment or transfer thereof:

(c) the transfer of all accounting, actuarial and financial records, contract
records, litigation files, claim files, other files, images, data, correspondence, books, documents
and information of KSBIT and the Fund related to contracts of coverage, transferred claims, and
excess insurance policies and policies of reinsurance;

(d)  the payment to KEMI of $35,000,000 (the “Transfer Payment”) as
contemplated by the LPT Agreement; and,

(e)  the execution and delivery by the Rehabilitator and, as applicable,
members of the Fund, of the Security Agreement, Memorandum of Understanding, and
2




Installment Payment Agreements as contemplated by the LPT Agreement, including the granting
of the security interests and liens by the Rehabilitator and Fund securing the payment of the
Transfer Payment and other obligations under the LPT Agreement to KEMI ‘and the other terms
and conditions of thereof,

5. ' The Court authorizes the Rehabilitator to execute and deliver the I.PT Agreement,
consummate the transactioﬁs contemplated by the LPT Agreement, and perform its obligations
under the LPT Agreement, including execution and delivery of the additional agreements_ and
documents contemplated thereby or that the Rehabilitator deems appropriate in connection
therewith, the Rehabilitator being authorize& to waive any conditions of the Rehabilitator’s
obligations and to take for itself and on behalf of the Fund such further actions as the
Rehabilitator deems appropriate.

6. Following execution and delivery of the LPT Agreement by the Rehabilitator and
KEMI, the Rehabilitator, the Fund, and KSBIT shall be bound to the terms and conditions of the
LPT Agreement and the Rehabilitator shall perform its obligations thereunder, and KEMI shall
not assume any' liabilities or obligations of the Fund or KSBIT other than the “Assumed
Liabilities” identified in the LPT Agreement and the Fund, and KSBIT shall retain all their other
liabilities as contemplated by the LPT Agreement, |

7. Pursuant to the Fund’s Self-Insurance Agreements with its members, and pursuant
to KRS 304.50-055, the Rehabilitator is to assess the Fund’s members an aggregate amount
necessary fo pay the Transfer Payment to KEMI and to satisfy other liabilities and obligations of’
the Fund as the Rehabilitator deems apptopriate,

ITIS THUS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that:




8. The Rehabilitator’s Assessment Plan, as described in the Petition and as atiached
to the Petition as Exhibit C, is fair and equitable and does not discriminate between the Fund’s
members. Accordingly, the Court approves the Assessment Plaﬁ.

9. The Rehabilitator is to levy the assessmént against the members of the Fund as
contemplated by the Assessment Plan; to permit the financing of the assessment payable by
individual school districts as contemplated by the IPT Agreement, the form of Installment
Payment Agreement attached to the LPT Agreement being hereby authorized and épproved; and,
to pursue diligently the collection of all assessment payments hereby authorized and directed by
the Assessment Plan. If the actual collections of the assessment contemplated by the Assessment
Plan are insufficient to satisfy in full the Transfer Payment and all liabilities of the Fund,
including 'administrative expenses to administer the Fund, the Rehabilitator shall, subject to the
oveysigllt of this Court, levy additional assessments on the members of the Fund in order to
satisfy the Transfer Payment and other liabilitics of the Fund.

10.  If any assessed member of the Fund is more than three (3) days past due on any
payment of the assessment, the Rehabilitator is to commence collection of such past due
installment payment pursuant to KRS 304.50-055 and KRS 160.160(5) by the intercept of any
payment due to such member from the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “Intercept”).

11, The Intercept is a lawful and proper mechanism to ensure payment of the Fund’s
members’ assessiment liabilities and to ensure payment of the assessment to the Rehabilitator and
payment of the Transfer Payment to KEML. In furtherance thereof, all instrumentalities of the

Commonwealth involved in the allocation or delivery of payments due to a member of the Fund,
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including the Kentucky Department of Education allld the Kentucky Finance and Administration
Cabinet, are directed to effectuate the Intercept and remit the same to the Rehabilitator.

12. Upon receipt of funds from such Intercept, the Rehabilitator is to deposit the
funds into a deposit account(s) (the “Account(s)”) established pursuant to the LPT Agreement,
and thereafter remit such funds to KEMI as contemplated by the LPT Agreement and its related
_agreements,

13. The Rehabilitator is authorized to execute and deliver the Security Agreement
(the “Security Agreement”) as contemplated by the LPT Agreement.- Upon execution and
delivery of the Security Agreement, the filing of a financing statement with the Kentucky
* Secretary of State, and entering into a control agreement (the “Control Agreement”), as
contemplated by the LPT Agreement with the deﬁo‘sitory and KEMI, KEMI shall have a valid
and enforceable first and prior security interest and lien under applicable Kentucky law in the
collatgral described in the Security Agreement, including the assessment receivable and all future
assessment receivables of the Fund, the Installment Payment Agreements, the Account(s) and all
proceeds thereof, to secure payment of the Transfer Payment and the Rehabilitator’s and the
Fund’s other obligations under the LPT Agreement. -

14, If the Fund becomes subject to any liquidation proceeding under Subtitle 33 of
KRS Chapter 304, the Transfer Payﬁlent will be deemed an édministrative cost and expense of,
_amd secured claim against, the Fund. |

15. The Workers” Compensation Funding Commission’s special funding assessment
pursuant to KRS 342,122 shail apply to the assessment and be paid.by the Rehabilitator to the

Workers’ Compensation Funding Commission as required by law, but the Transfer Payment paid
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to KEMI under the LPT Agreement, shall not be subject to such special funding assessment and
neither KEMI nor the Fund shall owe any special funding assessment on the Transfer Payment.
16.  The Court retains jurisdiction to issue such further orders as it may deem

appropriate,

Dated:

Judge, Franklin Circuit Court






